
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Durham on Wednesday 7 December 2022 at 10.00 am to transact the 
following business:- 
 
 

1. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 
2022  (Pages 3 - 16) 

 

2. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

3. Chair's Announcements   
 

4. Leader's Report   
 

5. Questions from the Public   
 

6. Petitions   
 

7. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 17 - 24) 
 

8. 2022/23 Treasury Management Half Year Update - Report 
of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 25 - 36) 

 

9. Director of Public Health Annual Report - Report of Director 
of Public Health  (Pages 37 - 74) 

 

10. Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Licensing Policy - 
Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 75 - 188) 

 

11. Creation of the Head of Corporate Affairs - Report of 
Corporate Direcor of Resources  (Pages 189 - 198) 

 



 

 

12. Request to Change Name of Parish Council Hutton Henry - 
Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 
199 - 208) 

 

13. Motions on Notice   
 

 Councillor R Adcock-Forster to Move 
Council acknowledges the vital role played by kinship 
carers in offering care to children when they most need it. 
In recognition of the immense value of care they provide 
and the enormous personal sacrifices they make, Council 
will write to Government in support of the recommendations 
of the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care and its 
focus on restoring early help to families, supporting kinship 
carers and ensuring children can build lifelong links with 
extended family members. 
 
Councillor A Surtees to Move 
This council agrees that all our primary school children in 
County Durham should have access to nutritious and 
balanced free school meals and will write to the 
Government to urge them to extend free school meal 
provision to every primary school child in England. 
 

14. Questions from Members   
 

 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 29th day of November 2022 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 19 October 2022 at 10.00 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor B Bainbridge in the Chair 
 

Councillors M Abley, E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, 
P Atkinson, A Batey, K Batey, C Bell, R Bell, C Bihari, G Binney, J Blakey, 
D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Charlton, I Cochrane, J Cosslett, B Coult, R Crute, 
M Currah, T Duffy, K Earley, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, 
J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, P Heaviside, 
T Henderson, S Henig, J Higgins, L A Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, 
D Howarth, J Howey, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, M Johnson, N Jones, 
P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, L Kennedy, C Lines, L Maddison, R Manchester, 
C Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, B McAloon, S McDonnell, M McGaun, 
D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, P Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, 
J Nicholson (Vice-Chair), R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, 
J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, S Robinson, K Robson, K Rooney, 
J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, 
M Simmons, A Simpson, G Smith, T Smith, M Stead, W Stelling, A Surtees, 
D Sutton-Lloyd, P Taylor, F Tinsley, S Townsend, C Varty, E Waldock, M Walton, 
A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Bell, J Cairns, J Chaplow, 
S Deinali, K Fantarrow, D Oliver, T Stubbs, S Wilson and S Zair 
 

 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chair reported with regret the 
death of the former Councillor John Wilkinson.  John represented the 
Deerness Ward on Durham City Council between 2007 and 2009 and the 
Deerness Valley Electoral Division on Durham County Council between 2008 
and 2013.  John was also Mayor of Durham in 2012/13.  Members stood to 
stand for a moments silence out of respect to John. 
 

1 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2022 were confirmed by 
the Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



2 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

3 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair informed Council that since the last Council meeting she had 
attended several events, including the following: 
 

 an Honorary Freedom Ceremony on 27 September 2022 which 
admitted Miss Meghan Borthwick as an Honorary Freewoman of the 
City of Durham in recognition of her services to Women’s Football in 
the City of Durham; 

 on 13 October she hosted a lunch for retiring co-optees from Scrutiny 
Committees who, between the three of them, had contributed 24 years’ 
service in their co-optee role. 

 
Colourful artworks created by young adults who need additional support 
had gone on show as part of a free exhibition.  The ‘We Can We Will’, by 
The Wider World Project, would be displayed at Gala Gallery in Durham 
City until Friday 30 December.  The exhibition followed months of art 
workshops led by North East artist Dawn Felicia Knox, which had been 
held at Gala Durham, Wharton Park and Belmont Community Centre 
since May. The project had been funded by Durham County Council. 
 
Locations throughout County Durham had been celebrating after winning 
honours in the Royal Horticultural Society Northumbria in Bloom 
competition. 

 Durham City won gold in the Small City category 

 Sedgefield won gold in the Small Towns category 

 Stanley claimed the silver gilt to win the Large Towns section with 
Chester le Street taking silver in the same category 

 Seaham took gold in the Coastal Resort group 

 Belmont was awarded silver for Urban Community 

 Gilesgate Primary School took home the Best School honour 

 Stanley Park Care Home scooped Best Care Home. 

 Durham BID won Best Town Centre Retail Area. 

 Seaham Town Park and Wharton Park were both awarded gold in 
the Best Park section. 

 Grade II-listed Ceddesfeld Hall, in Sedgefield, took gold in the Best 
Grounds of a Hospital, University or Public Building category, while 
Belmont Allotments won Best Allotment.  

 The Just for Women Centre in Stanley meanwhile won Best 
Commercial Premises (Small). 

Page 4



 
Finally, the Chair was pleased to report that Durham County Council had 
won the Best Innovation or Demand Management Initiative Award at the 
Association for Public Service Excellence Awards for its mobile repairs 
system app, which had been developed in-house initially for the Council’s 
building repairs and maintenance teams. The Council was also a finalist 
in the categories of Best Climate Action or Decarbonisation Initiative; 
Best Commercialisation and Entrepreneurship Initiative; Best Efficiency 
and Transformation Initiative; Best Service Team: Facilities Management 
and Building Cleaning Service; Best Service Team: Housing, 
Construction and Building Service and Overall Council of the Year in 
Service Delivery. 
 
The Chair and Council congratulated all staff involved in the achievement of 
these awards. 
 

4 Leader's Report  
 
Councillor A Hopgood, Leader of the Council reported that after the summer 
recess and the pause in some work following the death of Her Majesty The 
Queen last month, the Council was now facing a particularly busy time. 
 
Discussions were taking place with the LA6 authorities and the government 
regarding a potential devolution deal.  The Secretary of State had asked the 
Council to advise him by Friday 14 October of whether it wished to join the 
LA6 devolution arrangements.  The Leader confirmed that the Council had 
agreed ‘in principle’ that it would like to work with the LA6 authorities to 
create a regional deal. 
 
This was an ‘in-principle’ decision and subject to further ongoing discussion 
with regional colleagues and the government.  Any deal would also be 
subject to consideration by Cabinet prior to consultation. The primary aim 
was to ensure the best possible deal for the people of County Durham and 
that is what the Council would be working to achieve during these 
conversations. 
 
The Council had submitted a bid to the government to create two Investment 
Zones within the County.  
 
The bid put forward Aykley Heads and NETPark as potential sites.  Both had 
a clear focus on innovation and the creation of high values jobs.  Becoming 
an Investment Zone would help secure additional private sector investment 
and create supply chain opportunities for other businesses in the county. 
 
Finally, many residents across the county were feeling the impact of rising 
fuel prices and the cost-of-living crisis.  This month, the Council launched its 

Page 5



Warm Spaces scheme, which would provide a network of safe and trusted 
places where people could go to keep warm during the colder weather.  As 
well as providing Warm Spaces within some of the Council’s own buildings, 
work was also taking place with County Durham Community Foundation to 
provide financial and practical support to voluntary and community groups to 
provide venues.  
 
This was just one example of a wide range of support the Council provided, 
including help to pay heating and energy bills, the Welfare Assistance 
Scheme and debt advice. 
 
The Council was also proposing to extend the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for a further year.  The scheme provided a 100 per cent discount on 
council tax payments to all financially vulnerable households. 
Details of all these initiatives were available on the County Council’s website 
and the Leader asked Members to share the link with anyone who may need 
support. 
 
Councillor C Marshall asked the Leader of the Council to explain why she 
had changed her mind on her approach to devolution and was proposing to 
take a rural county into a city focused regional deal, rejecting the 
Governments offer from a year ago to put County Durham’s interest first in 
agreeing a single County deal.  Councillor Marshall also asked whether the 
Leader would commit to calling an extraordinary Council meeting in 
November to enable all Members to debate and vote on a preferred position. 
 
Councillor Hopgood replied that there was currently no secret deal but 
clarified that there was a need for confidentiality in such matters.  There had 
been no change of mind and what was the best option for County Durham 
was of paramount importance.  Councillor Marshall had been invited to a 
meeting last week where these details could have been provided. 
 
With reference to Councillor Marshall’s request in terms of calling an 
extraordinary meeting with Members the Council was following the protocol 
and the process that was set down by Government on all devolution deals 
and was following the same process as any other local authority. 
 
Councillor Marshall did not consider he had received a full answer to his 
question because he had requested an extraordinary meeting of Council in 
November so all Members of the Council could debate this properly, openly 
and transparently. 
 
Councillor Hopgood reiterated that the Council was following the process that 
was set out.  The process was that a report would be brought to Cabinet and 
which Councillor Marshall was welcome to attend. 
 

Page 6



Councillor R Crute sought guidance from the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services on how an extraordinary meeting of the Council could be called to 
discuss, in principle, the options open to the Council in proceeding with a 
devolution deal.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services replied that 
she could call an extraordinary meeting, the Chair could call an extraordinary 
meeting, a resolution of Council could call an extraordinary meeting and 
there was provision for any five Members to call an extraordinary meeting.  
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services reiterated that in order to enter 
into a devolution process and to establish a combined authority there was a 
statutory process to be followed with decision making points at various 
stages of that statutory process. 
 
Councillor F Tinsley referred to the Leaders report and asked whether the 
consultation with regional partners included the 520,000 people who lived in 
County Durham.  Councillor Tinsley also asked whether the Leader had 
taken into consideration that in 2004 the people of the northeast were asked 
if they would like to enter into a regional assembly and at that point 77% of 
them said no. 
 
Councillor Hopgood replied that consultation was currently with regional 
colleagues and government.  Consultation would take place and this was a 
different scenario to the proposed regional assembly in 2004. 
 
Councillor O Gunn asked whether the Leader thought it was in the interests 
of the Councils democracy to inform adjacent local authority Leaders of the 
preference of a deal for Durham and not inform the Leader of the Labour 
Group with 55 Members. 
 
Councillor Hopgood replied that the Leader of the Labour Group had been 
invited to meetings previously about this. 
 
Councillor M McKeon expressed concern that any transport money would be 
spent on the Tyne and Wear Metro for which County Durham had no 
involvement with and sought an assurance that County Durham would not 
lose out on funding as a result of this. 
 
Councillor Hopgood confirmed that as things stood with the Joint Transport 
Committee, both County Durham and Northumberland had no contributions 
whatsoever to the Metro.  An LA7 deal would also include Northumberland 
which was predominantly rural and Gateshead which, although a 
metropolitan city, had a lot of rural area. 
 
Councillor Kay asked whether the current amount of £147m for transport in 
County Durham would be lost if Durham entered into a regional deal with the 
LA6.  Councillor Hopgood replied that this was not the case. 
 

Page 7



5 Questions from the Public  
 
A question had been received from Mr Moore about the park at The Wynd, 
Pelton. 
 
The questioner was unable to attend the meeting, but the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder would respond to the question in writing following the meeting, and 
the response would be posted on the Council’s website. 
 

6 Petitions  
 
There were no petitions for consideration. 
 

7 Report from the Cabinet  
 
The Council noted a report from the Cabinet which provided information on 
issues considered at its meeting held on 14 September 2022 (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 

8 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24  
 
The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources that 
sought approval for the continuation of the current Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for a further year into 2023/24, which would continue the 
protection afforded to all claimants in line with what their entitlement would 
have been under the former Council Tax Benefit system (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
In moving the report and recommendations Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader 
of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Finance informed Council that in 
agreeing the proposals Durham would remain the only council in the north 
east to have a scheme which continued to provide support equal to that 
which was available under the former Council Tax Benefit scheme. 
 
The scheme targeted support to those who needed it most.  However, it must 
be recognised that this came at a cost in terms of lost Council Tax revenue 
compared with virtually every other council in the country but it was clearly 
the right decision for next year particularly given the current squeeze on 
household income and budgets. 
 
In seconding the report and recommendations Councillor A Shield, Portfolio 
Holder for Equality and Inclusion thanked the Corporate Director, his staff 
and Councillor R Bell for the report. 
 
All Members, past and present, could be proud that the council had been 
able to retain a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, initiated by the 

Page 8



previous administration, that retained support to vulnerable and 
disadvantaged households equal to that which was available under the 
former Council Tax Benefit scheme.  Durham was only one of a handful of 
council’s across the country and the only authority in the north east which 
continued to retain a local council tax reduction scheme at the same level as 
was under the former National Council Tax Benefit system.  While this came 
at the cost of lost Council Tax revenues, now was not the time to consider 
making changes to the scheme. 
 
Resolved: 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

9 Report of the Audit Committee for the period September 2021 to 
August 2022  
 
The Council noted a report of the Chair of the Audit Committee which 
informed the Council of the work of the Audit Committee during the period 
September 2021 to August 2022 and how the Committee continued to 
provide good governance across the Council (for copy see file of Minutes) 
 
Councillor A Watson, Chair of the Audit Committee provided an update on 
the work of the Committee during the period outlined in the report. 
 
The report covered the work of the Audit Committee during the period 
September 2021 to August 2022.  
 
Through careful consideration and challenge of a wide range of officer 
reports presented, the Audit Committee had fulfilled its role in gaining 
assurances as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
governance, risk management framework and internal control environment.   
 
The report set out details of the various meetings that had been held over the 
last twelve months and the issues that had been considered. There were 
three key areas of the Committee’s work during the period that Councillor 
Watson drew attention to: 
 
The first area related to the work of Internal Audit.  The Audit Committee 
continued to promote and champion the work of Internal Audit across the 
organisation.  As such, the Committee agreed the Internal Audit Strategy, 
Charter and an internal audit plan proposed by the Chief Internal Auditor and 
Corporate Fraud Manager, Tracy Henderson, who had been in post since 1 
February 2022. 
 
Updates were provided to the committee on a quarterly basis.  Councillor 
Watson was satisfied that the committee provided the appropriate challenge 

Page 9



to this process, with a number of officers attending the Committee to provide 
explanations and answer questions across the year. 
 
The second area related to the External Audit of the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts.  In July the Committee received a report from the Corporate 
Director of Resources which presented the draft un-audited Statement of 
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the draft accounts were 
certified and provided to external audit within the statutory deadline.  A 
progress report on the draft statement of accounts for the year ended 31 
March 2022 was subsequently presented to Audit Committee in September 
2022 and the final statement of accounts would be presented to Audit 
Committee at its November 2022 meeting for review/approval in accordance 
with the statutory reporting timescales for this year.  
 
Finally, Councillor Watson drew the Council’s attention to the continuing 
good work of the Council’s Corporate Fraud Team.  The Protecting the Public 
Purse reports the Committee had considered clearly demonstrated, across 
the Council, the counter fraud activity that was being completed in order to 
acknowledge, prevent and pursue fraud under the Council’s Counter Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy. The Committee had acknowledged fraud as a 
strategic risk and that prevention was indeed better than cure.  
 
To give some context, the Corporate Fraud Team in 2021/22 completed 572 
investigations over a wide range of areas including the emerging Covid-19 
fraud and scams, Blue Badge abuse and Council Tax claims to name a few. 
 
In addition to investigating concerns, the Fraud Team also utilised a range of 
counter fraud initiatives to protect the Council and the Community, using its 
Fraud Communication Strategy and Awareness Campaign. 
 
The Council had an excellent local and national profile for their work in this 
area. They had developed strong partnerships with other public sector 
organisations which continued to enhance the reputation that the Council 
had.  
 
In summary, whilst the report was largely for information, Councillor Watson 
considered the effectiveness of the Audit Committee to be excellent. 
 

10 Appointment of Chair of Children and Young People's Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  
 
Moved by Councillor J Shuttleworth, Seconded by Councillor C Hood that 
Councillor A Reed be appointed Chair of the Children and Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 10



Moved by Councillor R Adcock-Forster, Seconded by Councillor M Wilson 
that Councillor S Townsend be appointed Chair of the Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
A named vote was requested. 
 
For Councillor A Reed 
Councillors M Abley, B Bainbridge, C Bell, R Bell, J Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
D Freeman, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, J 
Howey, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Lines, L 
Maddison, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, S McDonnell, M McGaun, P Molloy, J 
Nicholson, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, S 
Robinson, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, A Shield, 
J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A  Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, D Sutton-
Lloyd, M Walton, A Watson and M Wilkes. 
 
For Councillor S Townsend 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, C Bihari, G Binney, D Boyes, R Crute, K Earley, L 
Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, A Hanson, K 
Hawley, S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, D Howarth, M Johnson, C Kay, B 
Kellett, L Kennedy, R Manchester, C Marshall, B McAloon, D McKenna, M 
McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, S 
Quinn, K Shaw, G Smith, T Smith, A Surtees, P Taylor, F Tinsley, S 
Townsend, C Varty, E Waldock, M Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke. 
 
Abstain 
Councillor P Sexton. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Reed be appointed Chair of the Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Councillor R Bell Moved a Motion without Notice that Standing Order 10.7 be 
suspended to extend the time for debating Motions on Notice but not to 
suspend Standing Order 4.2 to extend the length of the meeting. Seconded 
by Councillor A Hopgood. 
 
The Council agreed the suspension of Standing Order 10.7 which related to 
the time allowed for the discussion of Motions. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



11 Motions on Notice  
 
The Chair informed Council that there were four Motions for consideration.  
Councillor K Hawley had informed the Chair that she had withdrawn her 
Motion. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Hunt, Seconded by Councillor C Martin 
 
Council notes the problems caused in our communities by the misuse of 
nitrous oxide and calls upon the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs to 
respond to the Home Secretary’s request to review the harm caused by 
nitrous oxide and better understand whether further restrictions on the drug 
are needed. 
 
Making the sale of nitrous oxide restricted through such things as the need 
for age verification. Also empowering the police and other stakeholders to 
deal with the anti-social issues caused by substance misuse in County 
Durham including Nitrous Oxide. 
 
Councillors C Hunt, B Coult, J Shuttleworth, R Bell spoke in support of the 
Motion. 
 
An Amendment was Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by 
Councillor C Kay: 
 
Council notes the problems caused across in our communities by the misuse 
of nitrous oxide and calls upon the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs 
to respond to the Home Secretary to do more to pressurise the government 
appointed and funded Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs and request 
for them to review immediately the harm caused by nitrous oxide and better 
understand whether further restrictions on the drug are needed, including 
whether unlawful possession should be made an offence.  Making the sale of 
nitrous oxide restricted through such things as the need for age verification.  
Also empowering the police and other stakeholders to deal with the anti-
social issues caused by substance misuse in County Durham including 
Nitrous Oxide. 
 
Councillors P Jopling, R Bell, C Martin, R Potts, B Moist, R Ormerod, M 
Wilkes and J Howey informed Council they could not support Councillor 
Marshall’s amendment. 
 
Councillors F Tinsley, L Hovvels, O Gunn, M McKeon, D Mulholland and R 
Crute spoke in support of Councillor Marshall’s amendment. 
 
A named vote on the Amendment was requested. 
 

Page 12



For the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, C Bihari, G Binney, D Boyes, R Crute, K Earley, L 
Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, A Hanson, K 
Hawley, S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, D Howarth, M Johnson, C Kay, B 
Kellett, L Kennedy, R Manchester, C Marshall, D McKenna, M McKeon, I 
McLean, J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, S Quinn, K 
Shaw, G Smith, T Smith, A Surtees, P Taylor, F Tinsley, S Townsend, E 
Waldock, M Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke. 
 
Against the Amendment 
M Abley, B Bainbridge, C Bell, R Bell, J Blakey, D Brown, L Brown, 
J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, D Freeman, P 
Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, J Howey, C Hunt, 
G Hutchinson, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Lines, L Maddison, C 
Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, B McAloon, S McDonnell, M McGaun, P Molloy, J 
Nicholson, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, S 
Robinson, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, P 
Sexton, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W 
Stelling, D Sutton-Lloyd, C Varty, M Walton, A Watson and M Wilkes. 
 
Abstain 
There were no abstentions 
 
The Amendment was Lost. 
 
A named vote on the Substantive Motion was requested. 
 
A further vote was taken on the Substantive Motion. 
 
For 
Councillors M Abley, E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P 
Atkinson, B Bainbridge, A Batey, K Batey, C Bell, R Bell, C Bihari, G Binney, 
J Blakey, D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, R 
Crute, M Currah, T Duffy, K Earley, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D 
Freeman, J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, P 
Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, 
L Hovvels, D Howarth, J Howey, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, M 
Johnson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Kay, L Kennedy, C Lines, L Maddison, R 
Manchester, C Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, B McAloon, S 
McDonnell, M McGaun, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, P 
Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, 
P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, S Robinson, K 
Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A 
Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, 

Page 13



G Smith, T Smith, M Stead, W Stelling, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, P Taylor, 
F Tinsley, S Townsend, E Waldock, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, M 
Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke. 
 
Against 
There were no votes against 
 
Abstain 
Councillor B Kellett 
 
The Substantive Motion was Carried. 
 
Moved by Councillor J Quinn, Seconded by Councillor N Jones 
 
This council is to request that Livin and other social housing associations 
open an email address specifically for councillors to direct concerns and 
work, such as trimming of hedges etc. 
 
An Amendment was Moved by Councillor K Shaw, Seconded by Councillor 
C Bihari: 
 
This council is to request that Livin and other notes that not all of our social 
housing associations open have an email address specifically for councillors 
to direct elected members to raise outstanding concerns and work, such as 
trimming of hedges etc. and requests that the Housing portfolio holder 
engage with all of the Social Housing providers as soon as possible to re-
establish previously held regular scheduled meetings between elected 
members and housing associations to rebuild the links between elected 
members and the social housing management teams.  This will facilitate the 
raising of key priorities and will address any outstanding work and also help 
shape the places within the neighbourhoods and communities in which they 
operate. 
 
Councillor J Quinn considered that the Amendment completely negated the 
original Motion.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services advised that 
the Amendment proposed an alternative course of action and was valid. 
 
Councillors J Howey, C Hunt, D Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton, B Coult, J 
Rowlandson, M Abley, R Ormerod, R Bell informed Council they could not 
support the amendment. 
 
Councillors C Marshall, L Hovvels, S Robinson, S Quinn, J Atkinson, F 
Tinsley, P Taylor, E Adam, J Miller spoke in support of the amendment. 
 
Councillor L Maddison informed Council she supported both the motion and 
the amendment and would be supporting the amendment.  Councillor C Kay 

Page 14



informed Council that he could see merit in both the motion and the 
amendment and asked whether it would be possible to merge the motion and 
the amendment. 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services advised there could be an 
alteration to the amendment moved by Councillor Shaw which was currently 
being debated to incorporate the original motion which would require the 
meetings consent without discussion or to dispose of the motion and the 
amendment as they existed and then present the combined motion and 
amendment as a second amendment. 
 
The Chair asked Councillor Shaw whether he was minded to do what had 
been suggested by the Head of Legal and Democratic Services.  Councillor 
Shaw replied that he was not. 
 
Councillor P Molloy sought advice on amending the amendment.  The Head 
of Legal and Democratic Services advised Council that only one amendment 
could be dealt with at a time. 
 
A named vote on the Amendment was requested. 
 
For the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, C Bihari, G Binney, I Cochrane, R Crute, K Earley, L 
Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, 
S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, D Howarth, M Johnson, C Kay, B Kellett, L 
Kennedy, L Maddison, R Manchester, C Marshall, B McAloon, D McKenna, 
M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, 
S Quinn, S Robinson, P Sexton, K Shaw, G Smith, T Smith, A Surtees, P 
Taylor, F Tinsley, S Townsend, E Waldock, M Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke. 
 
Against the Amendment 
Councillors M Abley, B Bainbridge, C Bell, R Bell, J Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
D Freeman, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, J 
Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Lines, C Martin, E Mavin, 
L Mavin, S McDonnell, M McGaun, P Molloy, J Nicholson, R Ormerod, E 
Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, K Robson, K Rooney, J 
Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A 
Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, D Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton, A Watson and M 
Wilkes. 
 
Abstain 
Councillor G Hutchinson. 
 

Page 15



Upon a vote being there was an equality of votes. The Chair exercised her 
casting vote against the Amendment. 
 
The Amendment was Lost. 
 
A named vote on the Substantive Motion was requested. 
 
A further vote was taken on the Substantive Motion. 
 
For 
Councillors M Abley, B Bainbridge, C Bell, R Bell, J Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
D Freeman, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, J 
Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Lines, L Maddison, C 
Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, B McAloon, S McDonnell, M McGaun, P Molloy, J 
Nicholson, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, K 
Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield, J 
Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, D Sutton-Lloyd, 
M Walton, A Watson and M Wilkes. 
 
Against 
E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A Batey, K 
Batey, C Bihari, G Binney, I Cochrane, R Crute, K Earley, L Fenwick, C 
Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, S Henig, J 
Higgins, L Hovvels, D Howarth, M Johnson, C Kay, B Kellett, L Kennedy, R 
Manchester, C Marshall, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, D 
Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, S Quinn, K Shaw, G Smith, T 
Smith, A Surtees, P Taylor, S Townsend, E Waldock, M Wilson, D Wood and 
R Yorke. 
 
Abstain 
Councillor G Hutchinson and S Robinson. 
 
The Substantive Motion was Carried. 
 
The Chair informed Council that the two outstanding Motions would be 
carried forward to the next meeting. 
 

12 Questions from Members  
 
There were no questions from Members. 
 

Page 16



 
County Council 
 
7 December 2022 

 

Report from the Cabinet 
 
 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
All 
 

Purpose of the Report 
To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the Cabinet at 
its meetings held on 12 October and 16 November 2022 to enable Members 
to ask related questions by no later than midday 3 working days before the 
day of the meeting 
 

12 October 2022 
Contents 
 
Item 1 – Medium Term Financial Plan(13) 2023/24-2026/27 [Key Decision: 
CORP/R/22/01] 
 
Item 2 - Concessionary Fares (ENCTS) Budget [Key Decision: REG/09/22] 
 
Item 3 - Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 
 
Item 4 – Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 
 
Item 5 – Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 
 
Item 6 - Humanitarian Support in County Durham 
 

 
1. Medium Term Financial Plan(13) 2023/24 – 2026/27 [Key 

Decision: CORP/R/22/01] – Cabinet Portfolio Holders - Councillor 
Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 
Councillor Richard Bell and Councillor Amanda Hopgood, 
Leader of the Council 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which provided 
an update on the development of the 2023/24 budget and the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP(13)) covering the period 2023/24 to 2026/27.  
 
Decision 
We: 

a)  noted the updated MTFP forecasts and the requirement to identify 
additional savings of £52.569 million for the period 2023/24 to 
2026/27, but also noted that this forecast could change significantly 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



based upon outcome of future government funding settlements, the 
ongoing impact of the pandemic, demand for services and inflationary 
pressures upon the council; 

(b)  noted that at this stage a forecast £37.389 million of savings were 
required to balance the 2023/24 budget; 

(c)  noted the expected challenges in balancing the capital programme in 
light of increased cost of borrowing and construction price inflation; 

(d)  agreed the savings included at Appendix 3 of the report to support 
MTFP(13) be consulted on; 

(e)  noted the planned review of earmarked reserves and the need to 
replenish corporate reserves should these forecasts prevail; and 

(f)  agreed the MTFP(13) consultation process as outlined in the report. 
 
 

2. Concessionary Fares (ENCTS) Budget [Key Decision: 
REG/09/22] – Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Elizabeth 
Scott, Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which set out the proposal to redirect funding during 2023/24 to 
sustain public transport services, subject to annual review. 
 
Currently a number of bus services across County Durham are not 
commercially viable. This reflects a number of compounding issues including 
the forthcoming ending of Government support, increased operational costs 
and continued reduced passenger numbers as a result of the Covid pandemic.  
 
In March 2022, we approved redirecting funding from the English National 
Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) budget to assist DCC in funding 
additional local bus service contracts during 2022/23. Reflecting the continued 
trends in bus usage, the report set out the proposal to redirect funding during 
2023/24 to sustain public transport services subject to annual review. 
 
Decision 
We agreed: 

a)  that the forecast savings from the ENCTS budget to be redirected 
during 2023/24 to support bus services across the county, and 
subsequently reviewed annually; 

b)  that the County Council transfer to the local bus services the revenue 
support to procure the previously commercial services, wherever 
resources allow; 

c) to delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Economy and Partnerships to finalise the service 
proposals. 

 

Page 18



 

3. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 – Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio Holder for 
Adult and Health Services 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services and the Director of Public Health County Durham which presented 
the 2022 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham.   
 
Decision 
We agreed: 

a)  to receive the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022; 
b)  to publish the annual report. 

 
 

4. Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 – Cabinet Portfolio Holders - 
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Partnerships and Councillor John Shuttleworth, Portfolio 
Holder for Rural Communities and Highways 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which sought approval to adopt a Road Safety Strategy 2022-
2032 embedding a strategic partnership approach to engage with all road user 
groups to promote safer use on roads to better safeguard the county’s road 
users and to establish a reporting mechanism for the recording of casualties 
and associated interventions to reduce the impact that road traffic accidents 
have on society. 
 
Decision 
We noted the report and authorised the implementation of the new Road 
Safety Strategy. 
 
 

5. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 - Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders - Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio Holder for 
Adult and Health Services and Councillor Ted Henderson, 
Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services and 
the Director of Public Health which presented the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report 2021-22 for endorsement. 
 
Decision  
We: 

Page 19



(a) noted the work that has taken place in 2021-22 by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board; 

(b) endorsed the Health and Wellbeing Annual Report 2021-22. 
 
 

6. Humanitarian Support in County Durham - Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder - Councillor Alan Shield, Portfolio Holder for Equality 
and Inclusion 
 

We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change which provided an update on County Durham’s support for 
vulnerable individuals and families under Government schemes to assist 
refugee resettlement, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, Afghan 
resettlement and relocation programmes and the Homes for Ukraine 
Sponsorship Scheme and to confirm the Council’s future approach. 
 
The report also informed us of changes to mandate all local authorities in 
England, Scotland and Wales to participate in a new system of full asylum 
accommodation dispersal, the development of a regional plan of anticipated 
asylum dispersal into local authority areas and the implications for County 
Durham. 
 
Decision 
We:  

(a) agreed the establishment of two partnership working groups; County 
Durham Migration and Cohesion Multi Agency Group, to act as the 
forum for asylum support in the county; and a Refugee and 
Resettlement Working Group, to focus on relevant programmes; 

(b) noted the challenges in providing placements for unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children, particularly given the increased threshold 
that the county could be requested to accommodate, and a reduction 
in the transfer deadline for unaccompanied children accommodated in 
hotels; (c) agreed expansion of the county’s resettlement programme 
to accommodate three phases each year when capacity allows; 

(d) agreed that future phases of resettlement support should, where 
possible, continue to focus on working with social landlords and aim to 
resettle refugees in main towns; 

(e)  agreed that the Council should not opt into the Afghan Find Your Own 
Accommodation pathway at this time; 

(f)  agreed the introduction of a private sector incentive scheme for 
Homes for Ukraine arrivals, to reduce the impact on the Council’s 
homeless service and overcome barriers in offering accommodation; 

(g) noted the update on Hong Kong British National (Overseas) status 
holders; 

(h)  noted that Mears has commenced efforts to secure properties in 
County Durham to accommodate asylum seekers as part of the 

Page 20



Government’s efforts to disperse asylum seekers in a more 
proportionate way across the country; 

(i)  agreed that the first priority for utilisation of the funding allocated to 
support the asylum accommodation programme should be targeted at 
developing the community and voluntary sector infrastructure to assist 
asylum seekers dispersed to accommodation in County Durham. 

 
 

16 November 2022 
Contents 
 
Item 1 - Council Tax Base 2023/24 and Forecast Deficit on the Council 
Tax Collection Fund as at 31 March 2023 
 
Item 2 - Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2022/23 – Period to 
30 September 2022 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(12) savings 
 
Item 3 - Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25 
 
Item 4 - Poverty Strategy and Action Plan 
 
Item 5 - County Durham Local Development Scheme and Publication 
Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document 
 
 
1. Council Tax Base 2023/24 and Forecast Deficit on the Council 

Tax Collection Fund as at 31 March 2023 [Key Decision: 
CORP/R/22/02] – Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Richard 
Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
We Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
determined the council’s tax base for domestic properties liable to pay council 
tax, which is an important component in the council’s budget setting process 
for 2023/24 and to report on the estimated collection fund deficit as at 31 
March 2023. 
 
Decision 

We: 
(a) approved the council tax base for the financial year 2023/24 for 

the county, which has been calculated to be 145,675.9 band D 
equivalent properties; 

Page 21



(b) noted the impact on individual Town and Parish council tax bases 
and the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant allocations 
for the financial year 2023/24; 

(c) noted the forecasted council tax Collection Fund position at 31 
March 2023, which will be updated and formally declared in 
January.  

 
2. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2022/23 – Period to 30 

September 2022 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(12) savings - Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor 
Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
We Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided Cabinet with updated information on the: 
 

(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2022/23, based on the 
position to September 2022; 
 

(b) forecast dedicated schools grant and schools position as at 31 
March 2023, based on the position to 30 September 2022; 

 
(c) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 

position at 31 March 2023, based on the position to 30 
September 2022; and 

 
(d) details of the forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, 

cash limit and general reserves in 2022/23 and the estimated 
balances that will be held at 31 March 2023. 

 
The report also sought approval of the revised capital programme 2022/23, 
other budget adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash 
limit in year and provided Cabinet with an update on progress towards 
achieving MTFP(12) savings in 2022/23. 
 
Decision 
We: 

(a) noted the council’s overall forecast financial position for 2022/23 
and the continuing uncertainty associated with the outturn 
forecast resulting from the significant inflationary cost pressures 
and ongoing covid-19 impacts on income as set out in the report; 

(b) agreed the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ and movement 
on general contingencies for approval as set out in the report; 

(c) agreed the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in 
the report; 

(d) noted performance against the various prudential indicators 
agreed by Council in February 2022; 

Page 22



(e) noted the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year; 
(f) noted the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and 

general reserves; 
(g) noted the inflationary pressures which are forecast to be 

managed from the Budget Support Reserve and from the General 
Reserve; 

(h) noted the Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools position; 
(i) noted the position on the capital programme and the Collection 

Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates; and  
(j) noted the amount of savings delivered to 30 September 2022 

against the 2022/23 targets and the total savings that will have 
been delivered since 2011 

 
 

3. Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25 - Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor Ted Henderson Portfolio Holder 
for Children and Young People’s Services 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and Chair of Children, Young People and Families 
Partnership Board to present Cabinet with the Growing Up in County Durham 
(GUiCD) 2023-25 Strategy for endorsement. 
 
Decision 
We endorsed the Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25. 
 
 

4. Poverty Strategy and Action Plan - Cabinet Portfolio Holders – 
Councillor Alan Shield Portfolio Holder for Equality and 
Inclusion and Councillor Ted Henderson Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Young People’s Services 

 
We Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Service which 
presented the revised Poverty Strategy and Action Plan for approval, following 
a consultation exercise undertaken April to August 2022. 
 
The report presented the updated Child Poverty Action Plan as a separate 
document which focusses on addressing child poverty and is aligned with the 
wider Poverty Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
Decision 
We: 

(a) noted the contents of the report; 
(b) approved the new Poverty Strategy and Action Plan 2022-2026; 
(c) endorsed the underpinning Child Poverty Action Plan; and  

Page 23



(d) agreed to receiving annual updates on the progress of the new 
Poverty Strategy and Action Plan and Child Poverty Action Plan. 

 
 

5. County Durham Local Development Scheme and Publication 
Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document - 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Elizabeth Scott Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Regeneration and Partnerships 

 
We considered the report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which sought approval to commence consultation on the 
Publication Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development 
Plan Document (M&WDPD) which supports the policies and provisions of the 
County Durham Plan which was adopted in October 2020.  It also sought 
approval of a new Local Development Scheme (LDS) which sets out the 
timetable for the preparation of planning documents including the M&WDPD. 
 
Decision 
We: 

(a) Agreed the Local Development Scheme; and 
(b) Agreed the Publication Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and 

Allocations Development Plan Document for consultation for a 
period of 7 weeks from 28 November 2022 to 13 January 2023; 

(c) Agreed the supporting documents to the Publication Draft 
Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan 
Document which are: 

 Statement of Consultation; 

 Site Assessment Document; 

 Heritage Impact Assessment;  

 Sustainability Appraisal; 

 Habitat Regulations Assessment; 

 Equality Impact Assessment. 
 

Background Papers 
Cabinet Agenda and Reports – 12 October 2022 
Cabinet - Wednesday 12 October 2022  

Cabinet Agenda and Reports – 16 November 2022 
Cabinet - Wednesday 16 November 2022 
 
Councillor A Hopgood, 
Leader of the Council 
29 November 2022 

Page 24

https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=14403&Ver=4
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=14404&Ver=4


County Council 
 

7 December 2022 
 

Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury 
Management for the period to  
30 September 2022 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Richard Bell, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

 

1 This report provides information on the treasury management mid-year 
position for 2022/23. It provides a summary of the Council’s treasury 
position, borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management 
and prudential indicators as at 30 September 2022. 

 

Executive Summary 
 

2 The Council held £468 million in borrowing and had £418 million cash 
balances invested at 30 September 2022. During the half year period 
additional borrowing of £50 million was arranged, one loan of £25 
million for a period of 15 years, and a second loan of £25 million for a 
period of 20 years.  Both loans were taken out with the Public Works 
Loans Board (PWLB) to take advantage of low interest rates available 
for the period over which the Council will need to borrow to fund its 
capital programme.  
 

3 All investments have been undertaken in line with both the CIPFA Code 
and government guidance which require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. 
 

4 During the half year period to 30 September 2022, the Council has 
complied with Treasury Management Indicators relating to interest rate 
exposure, maturity structure of borrowing and sums invested for more 
than one year. The Council has also complied with Prudential Code 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



Indicators which relate to the capital programme and how much the 
Council can afford to borrow. 

 

Recommendation(s) 
 

5 Council is asked to note progress with the Treasury Management 
Strategy 2022/23. 

  

Page 26



Background 
 

6 Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local 
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks’. 

 
7 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that 

cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of 
the achievement of the best possible investment returns. 

 
8 The second main function of the treasury management service is to 

arrange the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital 
programme provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, and 
there needs to be longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital 
spending requirements can be met. The management of longer term 
cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer 
term cash flow surpluses and, occasionally, debt restructuring to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives.  

 
9 The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and its 
Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree the 
following reports, as a minimum: 

 
(a) an annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year 

(reported to and adopted by County Council on 23 February 2022 
for the 2022/23 financial year); 
 

(b) an annual review following the end of the year describing the 
activity compared to the strategy (reported to County Council on 
21 September 2022 in respect of the 2021/22 financial year); 
 

(c) a mid-year Treasury Management Review report, covering the 
first six months of this financial year, to 30 September 2022 (this 
report); 

 
10 This mid-year report provides a summary of the following: 
 

(a) summary treasury position – position as at 30 September 2022 
and comparator information for the position as at 31 March 2022; 
 

Page 27



(b) borrowing activity during the first six months of the current 
financial year and an overview of the position as at 30 September 
2022; 

 

(c) other debt activity/long term liabilities at 30 September 2022; 
 

(d) investment activity and details of investments held at 30 
September 2022; 
 

(e) treasury management indicators – performance against the key 
indicators adopted; 
 

(f) prudential code indicators – performance against the key 
indicators adopted; 
 

Summary Treasury Position 
 

11 The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure 
adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management 
activities.    
 

12 At the beginning and mid-year point of 2022/23 the Council’s treasury 
position (excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows: 
 

  
  

31.03.22 
Rate 

/Return 
30.09.22 

Rate 
/Return 

£ million % £ million % 

Total Debt 418 3.25 468 3.17 

Total Investments 342 0.48 418 2.04 

Net Debt 76  50  

 

13 As at 30 September 2022, the Council had £468 million of external 
borrowing and £418 million of cash balances invested. The main factor 
in the increase in cash balances over the period has been the long term 
borrowing that has been undertaken in year, to take advantage of low 
interest rates available, and the front loading of Government grants 
received. 

 

Borrowing Activity 

14 At 30 September 2022, the Council held £467.672 million of external 
loans, a net increase of £49.687 million from the start of the year. The 
mid-year borrowing position and the change since the start of the year is 
shown in the following table: 

Page 28



 

 

31.3.22 In-year 30.9.22 Average 

Balance Movement Balance Rate 

£ million £ million £ million % 

Public Works 
Loan Board 

308.969 49.998 358.967 3.07% 

Private Sector 108.865 (0.297) 108.568 3.47% 

Pension Fund 0.151 (0.014) 0.137 8.22% 

Total borrowing 417.985 49.687 467.672 3.17% 

 

15 The Council’s chief objective when externally borrowing has been to 
strike an appropriate risk balance between achieving cost certainty over 
the period for which funds are required and securing low interest costs. 
 

16 As long term interest rates on new borrowing have taken a sharp rise 
since the start of the financial year, the Council has begun the process 
of looking into opportunities to potentially achieve savings from either 
the repayment or rescheduling of market loans.  Options are currently 
being considered. 
 

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities 

17 Although not classed as borrowing, the Council has also raised £0.705 
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment 
via finance leases during the first half year to 30 September 2022. It is 
expected that a further £13.926 million will be raised during the 
remainder of the year, giving total expected additional lease finance of 
£14.631 million. 
 

18 Total debt other than borrowing stood at £82.465 million at 30 
September 2022 (£82.739 million on 31 March 2022), taking total debt 
to £550.137 million (£500.724 million on 31 March 2022). 
 

Investment Activity 
 

19 The Council continues to temporarily invest cash balances, representing 
monies received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves 
held. During the half-year to 30 September 2022, investment balances 
ranged between £381 million and £467 million. 

 
20 As at 30 September 2022 the Council held investments totalling 

£418.570 million. The following table provides a breakdown of these 
investments split by the type of financial institution and maturity period: 
 

Page 29



Financial 
Institution 

0-3 
months 

3-6 
months 

6-9 
months 

9-12 
months  

Total 

 £ million 

Banks 149.570 107.000 70.000 52.000 378.570 

Building Societies 0 10.000 0 0 10.000 

Other Local 
Authorities 

5.000 0 15.000 0 20.000 

Money Market 
Funds 

10.000 0 0 0 10.000 

Total 164.570 117.000 85.000 52.000 418.570 

% of total 39% 28% 20% 13%  

 

21 The Council’s investment policy is governed by Department of Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) guidance, which has been 
implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council 
on 23 February 2022.  
 

22 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to 
invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and 
liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or 
yield. The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an 
appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 
incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low 
investment income. 

 

Treasury Management Indicators 
 

23 There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed 
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in 
interest rates. 
 
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate 
interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net principle 
invested was: 
 

  
30.9.22 

 Actual 

30.9.22 

 Actual 

2022/23 

 Limit 
Complied 

Upper limit on fixed interest 
rate exposure 

£418.272m 89% 100% 

Page 30



Upper limit on variable 
interest rate exposure 

£49.400m 11% 70% 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the 
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the 
maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were: 
 

 
  

Lower 
Limit 

Upper 
Limit 

30.9.22 
Actual 

Complied 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 4% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 40% 2% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 60% 10% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 80% 17% 

10 years and above 0% 100% 67% 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The 
purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments: 

 

  
Limit As at 

30.9.22 
Complied 

Actual principal invested 
beyond one year 

£75m £0m  

 
Prudential Code Indicators 
 

24 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) 
when determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 

 
25 The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear 

framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and 
monitored each year. 

 
Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises planned capital 
expenditure and financing when the 2022/23 budget was set in 

Page 31



February 2022 and compares it to the estimated full year outturn 
position as at 30 September 2022:  

 

 

2022/23 
Original 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2022/23 
Estimate 
at 30.9.22 
£ Million 

Difference 
£ Million 

Capital Programme 255.538 228.452 (27.086) 

Financed by:       

Capital receipts 9.058 9.758 0.700 

Capital grants 93.730 97.093 3.363 

Revenue and reserves 8.512 9.992 1.480 

Net borrowing financing need 
for the year 

144.239 111.610 (32,629) 

 

Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 30 September 2022, with 
comparator information as at 31 March 2022 is as follows: 
 

  
31.03.22 
Actual 

£ million 

2022/23 
Actual at 
30.9.22 

£ million 
Difference 
£ million 

Borrowing 417.985 467.672 49.687 

Finance leases 47.069 46.795 (0.274) 

PFI liabilities 35.670 35.670 0.000 

Total Debt 500.724 550.137 49.413 

 
Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external 
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the actual 
position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the 
authorised limit not being breached. 

 

 

2022/23 
Estimate 
£ million 

2022/23 
Actual at 
30.9.22 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 553.000  467.672 

Page 32



Other long term liabilities 89.000  82.465 

Total 642.000  550.137  


  
Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a control on 
the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit determined 
under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects the 
level of external borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in 
the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. 

 

  

2022/23 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2022/23 
Actual at 
30.9.22 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 603.000  467.672 

Other long term liabilities 94.000  82.465 

Total 697.000 550.137 


 

Conclusion 
 

26 The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy 
2022/23 for its half-yearly activity covering the period to 30 September 
2022. 

 

Background Papers 

 County Council - 23 February 2022 – Medium Term Financial 
Plan, 2022/23 to 2025/26 and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2022/23 – Appendix 12: Durham County Council Treasury 
Management Strategy 2022/23 

 

 County Council – 21 September 2022 – Treasury Management 
Outturn 2021/22 

 
 

Author(s) 
 

Jeff Garfoot    Tel:  03000 261946 
 
Andrew Baldwin   Tel: 03000 263490 

Page 33



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and in setting 
its Prudential Indicators (PIs).  
 

The Council’s investment policy is governed by Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) guidance, which has been implemented 
in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council on 23 February 
2022.  

 

Finance 

The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment 
activity during 2022/23 in the first half year to 30 September 2022.  The report 
also provides the overall financing of the Council’s capital expenditure, along 
with borrowing and investment income returns. 
 

Consultation 

None 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 
 

Climate Change 

None 
 

Human Rights 

None 
 

Crime and Disorder 

None 
 

Staffing 

None 
 

Accommodation 

None 

Page 34



 
Risk 

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest 
its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. 
 
The Council’s chief objective when externally borrowing has been to strike an 
appropriate risk balance between achieving cost certainty over the period for 
which funds are required and securing low interest costs. 
 

Procurement 

None 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Council 

7 December 2022 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 

2022 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult & Health 
Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult & Health Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio holder for Adult & Health Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Council to receive the 2022 Annual 
Report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham (Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 One of the statutory requirements of Directors of Public Health under 
the Health & Social Care Act 2012 is to produce an annual report about 
the health of the local population. In addition, the local authority has a 
duty to publish the report.   

3 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

4 The County Durham Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 
focuses on the following: 

 Foreword by the Director of Public Health. 

 Health and wellbeing across County Durham. 

 Living with COVID-19. 

 Making smoking history. 

 Priorities (covering Healthier, Fairer, and Protected). 

 Update on recommendations from 2021.  

 Conclusion. 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



Recommendation(s) 

4 Council is recommended to: 

(a) Receive the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022. 

 

  

Page 38



Background 

5 Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the 
National Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the 
Director of Public Health (DPH) for a local authority must prepare an 
annual report on the health of the people and that the local authority 
should publish the report.  

6 The government has not specified what the annual report should 
contain and has made it clear that this is a decision for individual 
Directors of Public Health to determine. 

7 In 2018 the Director of Public Health for County Durham set out a new 
vision for the public’s health in County Durham against seven strategic 
priorities. The following four annual reports (2018-2021) provided an in-
depth focus on specific actions against each priority. 

8 Over the last year the County Durham Public Health Strategic Plan has 
been reviewed and reshaped to align to three themed areas of work. 
These are:  

 Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both 
physical health and mental wellbeing).  For example,  

o Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing  

o Improve levels of physical activity and healthy weight  

 Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to 
good quality health services and those wider services that also 
have an impact on population health while reducing population 
health inequalities and inequities.  For example, 

o Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact 
of poverty and the cost of living crisis 

o Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic 
growth 

 Protected: Protecting the health of our communities against 
communicable disease, domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and 
alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future emergencies.  
For example, 

o Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within 
our local communities 

o Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County 
Durham’s preparedness for winter 

Page 39



9 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an update 
on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected themes of the Public Health 
Strategic Plan for 2021-2024. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 

10 As part of the foreword to this year’s annual report the Director of Public 
Health introduces the concept of ‘building blocks’ of good health.  

11 These building blocks of good health, (how much money we have, the 
quality of the house we live in, the natural environment surrounding us, 
our access to transport, education and work) all impacts on our chances 
of living a long and healthy life.  It recognises that the impact of social 
and environmental conditions in which people are born, grow up and 
live with, do not give everyone an equal chance of living long and 
healthy lives.  Many of these have been adversely affected by covid-19 
and even greater attention and working as partners with our 
communities will be required to address the inequalities both within 
County Durham and between County Durham and the rest of England.  

12 Future annual reports will ensure these building blocks for good health 
remain at the heart of public health action. 

13 The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022 provides an overview 
of the health and wellbeing of County Durham’s population and 
examples of how the approach to wellbeing is being implemented. 

14 The report provides an update on our COVID-19 response and the 
transition to living with COVID-19 This impact cannot be underestimated 
and also comes at a time when the cost of living is increasing for our 
residents too.  

15 This year’s report includes an in-depth focus on the progress to make 
smoking history in County Durham. Smoking remains the single largest 
cause of preventable deaths and one of the largest causes of health 
inequalities and remains a key priority for the health of our local 
residents. 

16 The report provides an update on the Healthier, Fairer, and Protected 
themes of the Public Health Strategic Plan for 2021-2024 and 
concludes with a section on previous recommendations and a 
conclusion.  

Main implications 

Legal 

Page 40



17 It is a statutory responsibility for the Director of Public Health in a local 
authority area to prepare an annual report on the health of the local 
population. 

Conclusion 

18 The conclusion re-iterates the fact that the public health team and the 
work of the team can only progress by working with others. 

Background papers 

 Previous DPH annual reports 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/  

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Author(s) 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk  

  

Page 41

https://www.durhaminsight.info/director-of-public-health-reports/
mailto:Amanda.healy@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Section 73B(5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the Director of Public 
Health for a local authority must prepare an annual report on the health of the 
people in the area of the local authority. 

Finance 

The publication of the report is funded by the ring-fenced public health grant.  

Consultation 

This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health (DPH) and is 
not subject to formal consultation. However, Public Health do engage and 
consult with partners in the development of the DPH Annual Report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Actions from this report are targeted to reduce the health inequalities. 

Climate Change 

No impact. 

Human Rights 

No impact. 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

Staff time to produce the 2022 annual report. 

Accommodation 

No impact. 

Risk 

No impact. 

Procurement 

No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 

services that impact on the health of the population. 

Page 42



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022

Building Healthier, Fairer 
and Protected Lives

Protected
lives

Healthier
lives

Building blocks for good health

Fairer 
lives

Page 43



 

Acknowledgements
Many thanks to 

Michelle Baldwin – Public Health Strategic Manager

Julia Bates – Consultant in Public Health

Katie Bewick – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Sean Barry – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager

Katie Dunstan-Smith – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Joy Evans – Public Health Strategic Manager

Michael Fleming – Strategic Manager, Research and Intelligence

Diane Foster – Public Health Practitioner

Thelma Lambert – Regional Support Officer

Lisa Lynch – Public Health Programme Manager

Michelle Marley – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Bryn Morris-Hale – Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Hannah Murray-Leslie - Wellbeing Approach Implementation Officer

Helen Riddell – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Catherine Scott – Public Health Advanced Practitioner

Jane Sunter – Public Health Strategic Manager

Rebecca Turner – Business Partner, Communications and Marketing

Marie Urwin – Public Health Practitioner

Kirsty Wilkinson – Public Health Strategic Manager

Lucy Wilkins – Public Health Practitioner

Glen Wilson – Consultant in Public Health

Partner organisations and everyone who contributed to a case study

Corporate Design Team, Durham County Council

3 2

Contents
 

 Page

Foreword ................................................................................................................. 4

Health and wellbeing across County Durham  ....................................................... 6

Living with COVID-19  ........................................................................................... 14

Making smoking history  ....................................................................................... 18

Priorities  ............................................................................................................... 24

Update on recommendations from 2021  ............................................................. 28

Conclusion  ........................................................................................................... 30

 

P
age 44



4  

Foreword

Welcome to my Annual Report for 2022, my fifth report as Director of  Public Health for 
County Durham. It is my role as Director of  Public Health to promote and protect the 
health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham, with this at the forefront of  public health 
practice and the wider systems we lead and support on. 

2022 has been a year of  transition as we began to move from responding to COVID-19 to 
living with COVID-19 as safely as possible, take stock of  the impact of  the pandemic and  
re-focus the public health priorities. These are all covered in the report with examples of  
how our local residents and staff  across all agencies have carried out this transition.

My annual report this year, as always, provides insight to the health and wellbeing of  our 
residents and reflects the work we are doing to support people in living longer, healthier 
lives. This includes a focus on tobacco and the need to focus our efforts on making smoking 
history in County Durham. 

We are living longer than ever before however this is not the same for everyone. The social 
and environmental conditions in which we are born, grow up and live with do not give us all 
an equal chance. How much money we have, the quality of  the house we live in, the natural 
environment surrounding us, our access to transport, education and work all impact on our 
chances of  living a long and healthy life. These are the ‘building blocks’ of  good health.

Data, intelligence, and the reported lived experiences of  our County Durham residents have 
highlighted the stark differences in health between some of  our communities across the 
county, many of  which existed even before the pandemic. We use the term ‘inequalities’ to 
talk about these differences. Some inequalities have worsened since the pandemic and, in 
this report, we also begin to highlight the wider impact the pandemic has had on widening 
inequalities. For example, in County Durham, children and young people may have been 
less likely than adults to contract the COVID-19 infection but have lost around 30% of  school 
sessions. During the pandemic, the numbers of  those children eligible for free school meals 
increased by 5.4%. Due to inequalities like these and others, we know it will be harder for 
some children to catch up. 

In some parts of  County Durham, these inequalities also mean that some people are dying 
much earlier than they should, from things that could be prevented. Even in those shortened 
lives, people are spending more time living with illness and disability which affect their 
quality of  lives. This is unfair and unjust. In refocussing on the building blocks for good 
health we can seek to address these inequalities.

People want to live for as long as they can, with the best quality of  life that they can. Good 
health is a foundation for living long and independent lives. In aiming to protect people’s 
health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as they can, support people to be healthier 
so they can live their years in the best health possible and work to make systems fairer so 
everyone, no matter who they are or where they live, has an equal chance of  living a long 
and healthy life. 

Amanda Healy
Director of  Public Health

Amanda Healy 

By working together to increase opportunity and choice for people, we can improve health, 
reduce inequalities and ensure no-one is left behind. Reducing inequalities is not easy and 
it requires sustained focus and a fundamental rethink on how we allocate our resources, 
funding, workforce and services. It needs the building blocks for good health. 

No work to improve public health can be achieved without working with others, our partners 
and most importantly our local communities. My role as Director of  Public Health is about 
working on behalf  of  local communities and the elected members who represent those 
communities. The report has many examples of  the work that is being carried out to make 
lives healthier, fairer and protected and I hope you find the report informative and a reminder 
of  how health and wellbeing underpins everyone’s life.

Protected
lives

Fairer 
lives

Healthier
lives

Supporting us to be 
mentally healthier

A fairer approach to 
supporting mental 

wellbeing in schools

Helping protect people 
from domestic abuse

 5

P
age 45



76 Health and wellbeing across County Durham Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Children and young people have been less affected than other age groups by coronavirus infection 
itself, but have been disproportionately impacted by the social, educational and economic impacts of 
the pandemic

of sessions lost due to COVID-19
(Autumn 20/Spring 21) 

30%
With significant disruption to schools

20%
in demand projected 
for CYP Mental 
Health services over 
the next 5 years 

Older people are more likely to experience severe COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation and mortality 

8 in 10
people classified as Clinically Extremely Vulnerable were aged 65+

91% of all COVID-19 
related deaths in 
County Durham aged 
65+

5.4%
during the pandemic

The proportion of children in County Durham 
eligible for free school meals has increased 

COVID-19 vaccination 
coverage >80% for those 
aged 50+ for first 3 doses 

The impact of COVID-19 on our population 
The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly had, and continues to have, a profound impact 
on the health and wellbeing of  residents of  County Durham. This year has, however, seen us 
move to the next phase of  the pandemic to ‘Living Safely with COVID-19’. Over the last year 
and beyond, the detailed direct and indirect effects of  the pandemic on the situation for 
our communities in County Durham have continually been examined and developed into a 
comprehensive knowledge base.

Developing insight and intelligence for County Durham 
Public Health projects and interventions are evidence-led. This means we use health data, 
health intelligence and wider partner data to inform and underpin our understanding of  
our local communities to help us plan and work with communities to improve health. This 
data and information is collated into a series of  Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA). 
Where we can, we share this information publicly through Durham Insight  
(https://www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19/) and it includes;

• the current and future health and wellbeing needs of  local people

• the inequalities in our communities

• what is strong and good in our communities

Partners and communities also used this information to help strategic planning across the 
council and partnerships which helps informs the development and improvement of  local 
services.

We have refreshed our JSNA work programme in 2022 and the Durham Insight website 
continues to be developed and improved. In the coming year, we will be looking specifically 
at publishing assessments and recommendations on Healthy Ageing and Veterans Health 
and Wellbeing.

Where we live:

• 14,565 businesses

• 12 green flags for 
parks and open 
spaces

• 2 in 5 residents living 
in rural areas

• 12 miles of  coastline

• 150 miles or former 
railway path

• Durham world 
heritage site

Our Services:

• 223 early years and 
primary schools, 31 
secondary schools,  
4 colleges

• 9 enhanced 
mainstream schools 
and 11 special schools

• 1 university

• 15 council owned 
leisure centres

• 63 GP practices

• 124 pharmacies

Our Communities 
supporting each other:

• 411 sports clubs 
accessing support

• 59 active community 
champions

• Almost 2,000 
expressions of  interest 
to host Ukrainian 
refugees

• Around 115 active 
volunteer leaders in 
walking, running and 
cycling

• 600 people attending 
sessions ran by the 
Cree* network last year

• Over 3,000 VCS* 
organisations*A Cree is County Durham’s version of  Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees aim to 

engage with those at risk of  suicide by tackling social isolation and self-harm 
through skill-sharing and informal learning to promote social interaction. 
Although Crees were originally aimed at men, some have developed for women 
and young people.

* VCS voluntary and community sector organisation.

Where we live, our services and our communities
There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living 
with COVID-19. County Durham has many assets that can support and protect the health 
of  our 530,000 residents. Moreover, throughout the pandemic communities have worked 
together and alongside us to both strengthen existing assets and develop new ones. Some 
of  these are set out below:

 

P
age 46



8 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 9

Significantly better 
than England

Comparison 
to England not 
available

How we contribute to good health and wellbeing and improving life expectancy
Working together, there are things we can do to help address inequalities and increase the 
years people spend in good health. In line with our Public Health Strategic Plan, we have 
broken these things into three areas of  our work, Healthier, Fairer and Protected lives. As 
examples of  how we are doing in County Durham, we have chosen some health-related topics 
from each area and shown how our figures in County Durham compare with the England 
average (where that figure is Nationally available).

Significantly worse 
than England

Not significantly 
different to England

Key 

Fairer lives 

Protected lives 

Healthier lives 

Life expectancy in the least deprived areas 84.5 years
difference between 
living in most and 
least deprived areas

Life expectancy in the most deprived areas 76.8 years 7.7 years

Life expectancy in the least deprived areas 82.7 years

difference between 
living in most and 
least deprived areas

Life expectancy in the most deprived areas 73.4 years 9.3 years

Life expectancy for men is 77.7 years

58.8 years in good health 18.9 years living in ill-health

Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy 2018-20

Inequality in Life Expectancy 2018-20

We want all people to live as long as they can
In County Durham the life expectancy for some girls and boys born today is much less than 
others. There are unfair and unjust inequalities which shorten life in some of  our communities. 

Life expectancy for women is 81.2 years

59.9 years in good health 21.3 years living in ill-health

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Smoking levels 
(aged 18+)

2020

14.3%

Children living 
in low income 

families
2020/21

28.8%

Breast cancer 
screening

2021

64.4%

Around 61,500 smokers

That’s 26,300 children

41,900 screened

Physically 
active adults

2020/21

63.5%

People aged 16-64 
in employment

2020/21

72.3%

Opiate drug 
users completing 

treatment 
2020

5.5%

270,800 adults

233,400 people

That’s 80 people

Mothers smoking 
at time of delivery

2020/21

15.5%

16 and 17 year olds 
not in education, 

employment or training
2020

6.5%

Bowel cancer 
screening

2021

67.5%

That’s 710 mothers

Around 700 young people

Around 66,000 screened

People with 
long-term mental 
health problems

2021

14.9%

Households in 
fuel poverty

2020

14.7%

Flu vaccination 
(aged 65+)

2021/22

86.0%

Around 1,000 people

Around 34,900 households

Around 99,400 vaccinated

The health and wellbeing of our residents
Public Health aims to protect people’s health and wellbeing so they can live for as long as 
they can, and to support people to be healthier so they can live their years in the best health 
possible. So, how are we currently doing? 

The health and wellbeing of  the people in County Durham has improved over recent years 
but remains worse than the England average. Health inequalities remain persistent and 
pervasive. Levels of  deprivation are higher and life expectancy is lower than the England 
average. There is also inequality within County Durham for many measures (including life 
expectancy, childhood obesity and premature mortality for example). 

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can
Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 
respectively. This is significantly worse than the average life expectancy for England which 
is 83.1 years for girls and 79.4 years for boys. However, people are spending years living 
with illness and disability which affects the quality of  their lives. We want all people to have 
the best length of  life and the best quality of  life that they can. In County Durham healthy life 
expectancy is significantly shorter than the England average. Healthy life expectancy is the 
number of  years an individual can expect to live in good health, rather than with a disability or 
in poor health.  Locally for girls it is 59.9 years compared to 63.9 years for England. For boys 
the figures are 58.8 years locally and 63.1 years for England.

P
age 47



10 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Developing our Approach to Wellbeing
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing as outlined in last year’s DPH report, is how 
we work together to put communities at the heart of  local decision making. The Approach 
to Wellbeing has developed over a period of  years. To help us build on the best elements 
of  this work, the approach was evaluated over three years by Teesside University and the 
findings published in April 2022. Key recommendations include: 

In response to the evaluation feedback, we have created a Self-Assessment Framework 
(SAF) to help us reflect and develop; developed a suite of  resources and case studies 
demonstrating practical ways to use the Approach to Wellbeing (which will be available on 
the County Durham Partnership website soon) and continued to embed the Approach to 
Wellbeing into local work. 

Over 2021/22 we have continued to develop our work together with communities, known as 
co-producing. Next steps include looking at how we continue to develop the Community 
Champions roles, developing our co-production approaches further and exploring how we 
can measure the wellbeing of  our residents more effectively. 

Here are some examples of  how our co-production work and our Approach to Wellbeing are 
helping put communities at the heart of  local decision-making. 

• Building on the Community Champions model, as an effective vehicle for 
implementing the Approach to Wellbeing

• Developing a combination of  training and other measures to place the approach at 
the heart of  our work

• Developing practical ways to support a clear understanding of  how Approach to 
Wellbeing can support better outcomes for communities 

• Creating consistent and standardised monitoring of  wellbeing within County Durham, 
piloting the use of  established measures of  wellbeing (e.g., the ‘ONS4’)*. 

* www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/methodologies/
personalwellbeingsurveyuserguide

County Durham Together 

From the start of  the COVID-19 outbreak, the County Durham 
Together (CDT) community hub was established to provide support to 
vulnerable people during the pandemic, particularly those who were 
shielding or self-isolating. The hub also provided residents with vital 
information, support and advice throughout the pandemic. CDT has 
since supported over 10,000 people in County Durham.    

In moving to living with COVID-19, we recognised that many of  these positive support 
systems and ways of  working were a good model for providing services, especially as 
local communities were so involved in shaping delivery. 

The 2021 Director of  Public Health (DPH) annual report recognised this good work, 
and reflected that working together in a co-production, community-centred way puts 
communities at the heart of  decision making; ‘working with’ residents and communities 
rather than ‘doing to’ them. We also recognised that working together as a whole system 
is also more effective for partners, enabling the best use of  resources and avoiding 
duplication. 

CDT has become central to our partnership work with statutory organisations, working 
hand in hand with the voluntary and community sector and mutual aid groups to deliver 
services and support. CDT now builds on this existing good practice and community 
assets in local areas.    

To further shape the service to enable improved opportunities and better outcomes for 
our communities, the 2021 DPH annual report recommended that we implement the 
‘County Durham Together transformation programme’, which is now underway. We’ll 
continue this work as part of  our recommendations for the forthcoming year. 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 11

P
age 48



12 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

Community Engagement to build a new school in Belmont 

Relationships Matter Community Engagement 

Durham Mental Wellbeing Alliance 

Early Help Assessment Review 

A partnership group was established to embed the national Reducing Parental Conflict 
programme across County Durham. The group commissioned a piece of  community 
engagement work to help identify priorities and design programme delivery through 
a co-created action plan. Listening to the views of  parents and carers led to the re-
branding of  the programme from ‘Reducing Parental Conflict’ to ‘Relationships Matter’. 
Communities told us they wanted self-help tools they could access digitally, and this 
led to the creation of  a public-facing website, with 
children involved in the design process and content 
co-designed with families  
https://www.durham.gov.uk/relationshipsmatter. 
The site will be regularly reviewed with parents and 
carers to ensure it continues to meet their needs. 

Working closely with the local 
community during phase one of  this 
project helped build strong social 
value points into the tender for a new 
school build in Belmont, and make 
sure they reflected local needs and 
aspirations. Working closely with 
the Area Action Partnership, a co-
production group was established to 
highlight existing assets and identify 
priorities. We continue to support 
this group to make new connections 
and find ways to meet the needs in 
their own communities.  

In April 2021, Durham County Council commissioned a new 
collaborative approach to commissioning support services for 
people experiencing mental ill-health. The new County Durham 
Mental Wellbeing Alliance (the Alliance) includes a range of  mental 
health providers, including small charities and larger national 
organisations, and its structure enables members to work together 
to shape the development and delivery of  contracts based on 
knowledge of  local need. 

By pooling skills, knowledge and resources; making 
the most of  existing assets and joining up provision, the 
Alliance aims to make sure people don’t ‘fall through 
the gaps’. To support with this, there is now one point of  
contact for people looking for help around their mental 
wellbeing, where residents can access a wide range of  
services, with referrals taking place either by telephone or 
via the website. A real benefit of  this single point of  service 
is that people don’t have to repeat their story to multiple 
providers. 

The Alliance offers a range of  support, for example around hospital discharge, welfare 
rights, group-based activities and suicide bereavement. More information can be found 
on the Alliance’s website:-  
https://www.durhammentalwellbeingalliance.org

The Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) through the 
national Supporting Families Programme placed a requirement on local authorities and 
their partners to capture the volume and quality of  early help that is taking place across 
the system. 

In response, the Prevention and Early Help Partnership worked with partners, children 
and young people, parents and carers to develop a new Early Help Assessment, with 
a range of  supporting guidance. A group of  children and young people, parents and 
carers came together to co-produce a family friendly animation explaining Early Help in 
County Durham https://youtu.be/j6qkmpdBfJk. 

The establishment of  project task 
and finish groups also enabled 
close links with the Durham 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
and other stakeholders, to help 
make sure this work is joined up. 

Health and wellbeing across County Durham 13

A local councillor has been involved in the co-production group: 

“We’ve seen that people have come and really shared their knowledge of  what’s 
going on in the community. We’ve found out a lot more about what’s happening, we’ve 
learned a lot more about who is benefitting from the activities, and we’ve heard a 
lot about the needs of  venues, projects and services in the community…I think the 
discussion has been realistic but also aspirational”. 

P
age 49



1514 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

Recognised over 400 
COVID-19 heros

Supported over

10,000
individuals through the County 
Durham Together Community Hub.

Dealt with over 4,700
COVID-19 reports in 
schools, further education 
and early years settings.

Managed over76 bids 
through various COVID-19 funding 
totalling over £23 million.

Delivered over 

800 COVID-19 
compliance and 
enforcement visits.

Supplied over

1.5 million
LFD Tests through the 
targeted community 
testing programme

Published over 400
‘live’ COVID-19 dashboards social 
media posts with figures for local 
rates, age bands, vaccinations 
hospital admissions, to inform the 
public.

Living with COVID-19
The pandemic has been one of  the biggest public health challenges in living memory. 
COVID-19 has affected every part of  our society throughout 2020, 2021 and into 2022.

During the many waves and variants we experienced, we saw incredible and sustained 
efforts from communities and organisations working together in helping to make sure people 
were as protected as possible. Across the county local people, health, social care, council 
staff  and wider partners showed us some extraordinary examples of  positive partnership 
working. 

This partnership approach has continued through new and rapidly changing environments, 
while keeping systems running and supporting community resilience. To support these 
positive actions, we have contributed to both national and regional programmes and 
are heavily involved in the regional LA7 Leaders* work, providing consistent advice and 
guidance across the North East region. We have also been proactive in advocating for 
greater national support on behalf  of  our communities. 

The 2020 and 2021 Director of  Public Health annual reports give detailed information on the 
extensive COVID-19 response and recovery actions that Public Health have led and worked 
collaboratively with others to deliver. 

During 2022, in line with national guidance, we have moved from our enhanced response 
to a position of  ‘living safely with COVID-19’, aligning the management of  COVID-19 to 
other respiratory infections and diseases which can spread between people. However, we 
must remember that the virus remains a highly infectious illness which continues to require 
ongoing partnership work to protect people’s health. 

The learning from our COVID-19 response and recovery work, along with other elements 
such as the Local Tracing Partnership (NHS Test and Trace Service), the County Durham 
Together Community Hub, the Targeted Community Testing programme and the successful 
rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccine programme has been brought together. Together, they form 
the basis of  many of  the ‘Protected’ actions in our refreshed Public Health Strategic Plan. 

*The LA7 Leaders are the leaders of  Durham County Council, Gateshead Council, Newcastle City Council, 
Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council, South Tyneside Council and Sunderland City Council. 

County Durham’s Winner

Alfie Dixon-Clark
During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved for his 
birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus “survival packs” 
- filled with treats, colouring pages and other helpful items 
which he delivered to youngsters across County Durham. 

Known locally as ‘Alf  the Kid’, he handed out over 1,000 packs 
during the pandemic by using his weekly pocket money to 
keep the project going, and thanks to donations from the local 
community. The Academy at Shotton Hall pupil also created 
special VE Day bags for care home residents and to this day is 
continuing to do all he can to support others. Through his many 
acts of  kindness, Alfie has shown that no matter what your age, 
you can make a difference.

Over the pandemic we have…
• Maintained the interactive public-facing COVID-19 dashboard on Durham Insight and 

promoted it through social media platforms 

• Developed the ‘spike detector’ tool to highlight local areas seeing a rise in cases. This 
helped us to quickly implement appropriate infection control measures from a range 
of  key partners locally 

• Produced and maintained a range of  COVID-19 dashboards (schools, care homes, 
health settings, age bands, testing and vaccinations), to inform partners and to focus 
their actions and delivery

• Overseen and supported the rollout of  the COVID-19 vaccination and booster 
programmes, including vulnerable groups

• Delivered a proactive ‘Leaving no-one behind’ vaccination programme in 
communities with low vaccine uptake

• Developed, implemented and delivered Local Plans, including plans to deal with any 
surge in case rates or new variants of  concern

• Maintained and adapted essential public health services to 
continue to deliver support throughout the pandemic

• Introduced many new partnership groups to coordinate and 
deliver support where needed 

• Developed and supported our COVID-19 Champions

• Talked with young people to better understand how we 
could support them through the pandemic 

• Continued to build strong relationships with national and 
regional partners to better support our communities

• Delivered communication plans to support our communities 
with COVID-19 secure messages (Hands, Face, Space, 
Fresh Air) 

• Supported regional ‘BeatCovidNE’ campaigns such as, 
‘Thank you County Durham’, ‘Acts of  Kindness Awards’ and 
‘Step up to beat Covid’ 

Covid-19 Acts of Kindness 

During the pandemic we have ...

Delivered over 
1,152,536 doses 
of COVID-19 
vaccinations 

P
age 50



1716 Living with COVID-19 Living with COVID-19

More than 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising  
the contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic.

The hundreds of  heart-warming nominations for the Recognition of  Contribution award 
include stories from a wide range of  people who have received support from friends, 
neighbours, local businesses and community groups. They feature people who have 
organised social activities and befriending services or have collected shopping and 
prescriptions as well as NHS, GP and care staff  and those who have volunteered at testing 
and vaccination sites. 

Here are a few examples of  the people who have been recognised so far.

Tom
Tom Howe, from Bishop 
Auckland, raised more than 
£8,000 for local hospitals by 
entertaining the community 
with his crazy bingo and 
singing sessions. The 25-year-
old hosted a variety of  
online events from his dining 
room during the COVID-19 
lockdowns, including a 
virtual VE day celebration 
to help raise people's 
spirits and promote positive 
mental wellbeing during the 
pandemic. He also took on 
the challenge of  running his 
own pub so he could continue 
looking after the community.

Pat
Pat Clarey worked tirelessly during 
the first lockdown, baking much 
appreciated cakes and scones for 
staff  at Bishop Auckland hospital. 
She also delivered shopping 
for people unable to leave their 
homes and regularly walked an 
elderly neighbour’s dog.

When COVID-19 restrictions 
began to ease, Pat helped people 
keep active and connected by 
organising a socially distanced 
sequence dance three times a 
week in Leeholme Community 
Hall, providing refreshments and 
sourcing music CDs at her own 
expense.

Chloe 
Chloe Fairclough played a key 
role in our Get Tested COVID Safe 
County marketing campaign. The 
17-year-old from Bishop Auckland 
kindly let us use an image of  her 
taking a COVID-19 test, to help us 
promote regular testing to young 
people across County Durham. 

Chloe’s contribution is an 
important one, making the 
decision to put the importance 
of  promoting testing ahead of  
any concerns or embarrassment 
about being judged by her peer 
group.

Recognition of Contribution 
to Public Health Award

Recognising heroes of the COVID-19 pandemicWe have retained elements of  the temporary Outbreak Control Team set up to respond 
to COVID-19. From this, we have established a new Protecting Health Team within public 
health, which has seen us extend our health protection work to support the response and 
capacity including:- 

How to thank someone
If  you would like to nominate someone who has been a shining light during the pandemic, 
email PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk with the title Public Health Award. Include details of  
the person you are nominating, the reasons for your nomination and an example of  their 
contribution. A letter and certificate will then be shared with you to present to the nominee. 

• Working with the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) and wider colleagues to detect 
and prevent onward transmission of  infectious diseases; such as Avian Flu and 
Monkeypox.

• Creating frameworks and pathways to help identify, control and treat these diseases, 
including the development of  the County Durham Avian Influenza Framework, Anti-
viral pathways for Seasonal Flu, Avian Flu and Monkeypox. Emergency planning and 
surge response for infectious diseases. 

• Plans to mitigate the health impacts of  severe weather and climate change.

• Identifying and addressing variations in uptake in screening vaccination, and 
immunisation.

• We have reviewed the health protection arrangements and continue to work closely 
with our local and regional partners, as health protection is a joint responsibility 
across various bodies including the Local Authority, UKHSA, NHS England and 
Integrated Care Board. 

P
age 51



1918 Making smoking history Making smoking history

We also want to reduce the number of  mothers smoking at time of  delivery of  their babies 
to 0% by 2025. The latest data suggested that to meet this target, we would need 700 fewer 
mothers smoking at time of  delivery. 

Smoking levels in County Durham   
The percentage of  the population who smoke is called the ‘smoking prevalence’. Over time 
the prevalence is generally reducing within County Durham. However, it is still higher than 
the North East and England averages. Due to the pandemic, the way in which we collect 
data has changed. The 2020 Local Tobacco Control Profile shows the prevalence at 14.3%, 
but as the method has changed, we cannot directly compare this to previous years. 

In County Durham we want to achieve a prevalence of  5% by 2030. To get to this figure, we 
would need 40,100 fewer smokers. 

Whilst smoking overall across the county is decreasing, smoking amongst some groups 
of  people is going up. The ‘routine and manual’ workforce are smoking more than 
before, including labourers, bar staff, lorry drivers and care workers. The numbers of  
smokers in this category of  people has increased from 25.1% in 2018 to 27.3% in 2019. 
This is a concern, as nationally and within other areas of  the North East the rates have 
decreased. We need to understand why this is the case, and to support, we will engage 
with businesses through our connections with Business Durham. This will help us to better 
understand how we support these people to stop smoking. 

0% 
by 2025

700
fewer mothers smoking 
at time of delivery. 
Similar to the population 
of Frosterley.

Current 14.3%
40,100
fewer smokers. Similar to the 
population of Bishop Auckland 
and Shildon.

Making smoking history 
Background  
Smoking remains the single largest cause of  preventable deaths and one of  the largest 
causes of  health inequalities. In England, despite reductions in the numbers of  people 
smoking, there are still approximately 7.3 million adult smokers and more than 200 people a 
day die from smoking-related illness, which could have been prevented. 

Across County Durham, the difference in life expectancy between the poorest and most 
affluent groups can be over nine years. Some of  this reduced life span is directly due to 
people smoking. Smoking, and the harms linked to smoking, continue to fall hardest on 
some of  the poorest and most vulnerable people in our society. 

Smoking impacts on so many facets of  an individual’s life. As well as dying earlier than 
non-smokers, smokers also suffer from poorer quality of  life. Many of  the conditions caused 
by smoking are chronic (long-term) illnesses such as heart disease, stroke, lung cancer 
and respiratory disease. There are also huge implications for those who live with smokers, 
as breathing in second-hand smoke also has detrimental impacts on health for babies, 
children, and other family members. 

Surveys have shown that 75% of  smokers regret ever starting smoking and 69% of  
adult smokers in England want to quit. It takes, on average, 30 attempts before a smoker 
successfully quits, showing the real addiction and grip that tobacco has on people. 

For all these reasons, tobacco is a key public health priority, and this report aims to 
refocus our efforts on reducing the number of  people smoking in County Durham. In this 
section, we will also give updates from the key areas of  previous reports and make further 
recommendations for change. With the new findings from the Khan Review*, this is the right 
time to refocus on smoking.
*www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete 

The scale of the issue

Smoking still kills

894
people die 
per year 
from causes 
linked to 
smoking 

 1 in 6  
adult deaths are 
smoking related

 700 
babies are 
born to 
mothers 
that smoke

Smoking in County Durham – Our challenges

The number 
of adults 
smoking is 
decreasing 
over time

Over 4,800 people 
set a quit date with 
the Stop Smoking 
Service in 2019/20, 
around 45% quit at 
4 weeks

People working 
in routine and 
manual jobs are 
twice as likely 
to smoke than 
people in other 
professions

2030 ambition 5%

Current 15.5%

More than 
5 out of 6  
adults are non-
smokers, similar  
to England

Deaths from chronic 
obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD) and lung 
cancer are significantly 
higher than England

Early deaths 
equate to 

4,357 
lost years of 
life each year

P
age 52



2120 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Our local plans  
The Tobacco Control Alliance is a group with many different agencies who work together to 
reduce the County Durham smoking prevalence. During COVID-19 this group still met, as 
we continued to prioritise tobacco control as an important public health priority. 

The plan to reduce smoking to 5% by 2030 is focussed around seven key areas of  work 
below. We have several partners working together within this agenda to ensure that we 
reach this target: 

Media, communications and 
engagement4

a.  Share communications about the harms 
associated with tobacco

b.  Providing training about how to have a 
conversation with someone who would like 
to stop smoking

Use of an integrated evidence-based 
strategic approach to reducing smoking 
prevalence in County Durham

1
a. Undertake proactive and reactive work to 

influence policy and legislation

b.  Work together to achieve the 5% by 2030

Motivating and supporting smokers 
to stop and stay stopped3

a.  Providing our local stop smoking service

b.  Targeted provision at key groups– routine 
and manual workers, pregnant women, 
people with serious mental illness

Reducing Exposure to 
Second-hand Smoke2

a.  Providing training and information on the 
harms that are linked to second-hand smoke

b.  Working with local housing providers to 
see how we can support them to reduce 
exposure to second hand smoke, e.g. 
offering vapes as options

c. Working with partners in education and 
children’s services to reduce the exposure 
that children have to second-hand smoke

Reducing the demand and supply of illegal 
tobacco products, increasing price and 
addressing the supply of tobacco to children

5
a.  Tackling underage sales

b.  Advocating for the age of sale to be 
increased

 Research, monitoring and evaluation7
a.  Review data and responding to local needs

Tobacco Regulation and reducing 
tobacco promotion 6

a. Enforcement around illicit tobacco 

17,500 
people registered with COPD – 
enough to fill an international 

match at Durham Cricket 
ground

Over 

38,000 
people registered 
with asthma

Costs associated with 
Healthcare, social care 
and fire costs total over 

£41.1m

Over

260,000
GP appointments

Over 

6,000 smoking 
attributable hosptial 
admissions each 
year

Smoking is estimated to cost 

£170.7m 
in lost productivity

3% 
of newborns have a 
low birth weight

This includes around 

16,000
dependant children

Smoking costs contribute to 

25,000 households living 
in poverty

Smoking related ill-health means 

an extra 12,300 people are 
receiving care from relatives and 

friends and 5,000 people 
with unmet social care needs

The average smoker 
spends just under

£2,000
per year on tobacco

Preventable ill-health Health care, social care and services Poverty and the economy

Every week there are 10 new 
cases of lung cancer

Over 

4,300 people are 
economically inactive 
due to smoking 

Carol’s experience

“I knew that if  I didn’t quit, I would end up dead from COPD. Thinking back, I have pushed 
my luck since the age of  15 and the effects of  smoking were starting to catch up with me. 
I was rushed into hospital with breathing difficulties one Sunday and as soon as I got out, 
I rang my GP for help to stop and they gave me the stop smoking service number. Whilst 
quitting, I found it helpful to clean my whole house and decorate to remove the stale smell 
of  smoke. It was like starting a new life without cigarettes. Decorating also made me want to 
keep my house smelling nice so was another reason not to smoke”. 

Costs
The average smoker spends around £2,000 a year on tobacco, meaning £141.70 million 
is spent in County Durham on tobacco each year. When income and smoking costs are 
taken into account, 25,003 households are driven into poverty. These are real residents of  
households within County Durham which includes 34,165 adults below pension age, 6,252 
pension age adults and around 16,163 dependent children. 

Smokers’ employment chances and average earnings are also damaged by smoking. In 
County Durham 4,326 people are economically inactive due to smoking, with smokers 
earning 6.8% less than non-smokers which creates further disadvantage for smokers.

 

Within County Durham, smoking impacts on…

P
age 53



2322 Making smoking history Making smoking history

Alan’s experience

“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really looking forward to 
telling my friends and family that I have quit. My health has 
improved, I am saving money and people are telling me I look well. 
My motivation was to save money and my health. I coughed a lot. I 
found that patches and an E Cig worked well. If  I do now ever think 
about smoking, I do something that takes my mind off  it like make 
myself  a cup of  tea”.

What more needs to be done 
Whilst lots of  great work is ongoing, it is key that we need to work together to continue to 
reduce our smoking prevalence rates. This is vitally important across our entire population, 
but in particular in targeting key priority groups to reduce health inequalities associated 
with smoking. To make this happen, we will enhance the work that we are doing with our key 
partners such as the NHS, Social Care and Housing Providers. 

The Khan Review has implications across the country. Locally, we need to champion and 
endorse these recommendations to support our local population. We also need to ensure 
that we continue to engage with elected members, MPs and Health and Wellbeing Board, to 
gain their support to endorse the recommendations.

Cathy’s experience

What have we done in 2022
Durham County Council is the lead local authority who commission Fresh 
to support seven local authorities within the North East by: 

• Providing a wealth of  knowledge and information to support our local 
plans 

• Delivering mass media campaigns on the harms associated with smoking, such as 
‘Don’t wait’ to encourage people to quit smoking, which we have localised across County 
Durham 

• Championing and advocating for change within government policies, to make a 
difference nationally which will improve lives for local people 

• Having active involvement in research and national consultations to better understand the 
needs and opinions of  the public 

One important component within our approach to tobacco control is our local stop smoking 
service, delivered by ABL Health, which is there to provide free support and guidance to 
those who want to stop smoking. The service offers an individual quit programme for up 
to 12 weeks, alongside a choice of  stop smoking medications and Nicotine Replacement 
Therapy (NRT). This year, the service has begun piloting e-cigarettes as a stop smoking 
method to provide an alternative product to cigarettes. This year our local stop smoking 
service has helped 1,776 people to stop smoking and live healthier lives.

In County Durham we have identified that the cost of  NRT is often a barrier to people who 
are wanting to quit smoking. Therefore, we have ensured that there is no cost for those 
receiving NRT through our local stop smoking service. 

We have also recently been successful in gaining funding from Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities (OHID) to work with individuals with serious mental illness who 
smoke and may wish to stop. We will do some targeted work within Chester-Le-Street as a 
pilot to look at how we support people with serious mental illness to quit smoking.

 

Mark’s experience

“I really believed that if  I didn’t contact the stop smoking service 
then I would end up dead. My breathing difficulties started with hay 
fever, which turned into asthma and then COPD. I was getting 
infections and antibiotics; this was a regular thing and I noticed I 
couldn’t walk upstairs without being breathless. I started smoking 
when I was 14 and at school. I just wanted to fit in. Dealing with 
cravings at first was the hardest thing. I used a patch and a nasal 
spray to quit, it took some getting used to but I was really surprised 
how quick it worked. My advisor from the stop smoking service 
helped me with weekly calls, it really helped knowing that someone 
was going to ask me how I was doing and check up on my 
progress”. 

Cathy lost one of  her lungs to cancer through smoking and has 
been urging others to quit and not wait until it is too late… 

“I smoked and smoked, I was aware of  the risks, but you think it 
is never going to happen to you. Then two days before my 50th 
birthday I found out I had a tumour on my lung. It was terrifying and 
the impact on my girls was the hardest thing. You hear the word 
cancer and the first thing I thought was how do I tell my girls? As a 
single parent it was a horrendous thought that I might not be there 
for them.”

Seven years after her cancer and now two years cancer free, Cathy can reflect on the 
benefits she sees from quitting…

“The biggest benefit is the money. When you smoke you find a way to buy cigarettes. 
You eat cheaper food and deny yourself  things so you can smoke. Also, I can see the 
difference in how I look. Smoking ages you and my skin is so much better now. I feel the 
benefits every day and thank God I am alive and there with my girls.” 

“My advice would be to never think that poor health or cancer won’t happen to you and 
if  you’re trying to quit then ring your local stop smoking service and get their advice on 
avoiding smoking. They will advise you on quitting aids to take away cravings.”

If  you are a current smoker living or working within County Durham and interested in 
learning about the support available for you to quit please contact 0800 772 0565 to 
arrange an appointment. Or visit the Smokefree County Durham website at 
www.smokefreecountydurham.co.uk for more information.

P
age 54



2524 Priorities Priorities

The campaign was originally scheduled to run across County 
Durham from March to June 2022, including posters on buses and 
some bus stops across County Durham. We also ran short adverts 
on local radio stations, and a TV advert showing local people 
walking on Seaham beach. You can see the TV advert at  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2qdeGwAZTto
In Spring 2022 the campaign was extended, in recognition 
of  some significant UK and world events, such as the news 
about Ukraine and the worries about the rising cost of  fuel. The 
campaign will now run across County Durham until Summer 2023. 
We are extremely grateful to everyone who has helped shape the 
campaign. 

Remember, if  you need some support with your mental health information and support is 
available through https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport

Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental wellbeing in 
schools – the Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework
The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework was developed 
through collaboration with schools, Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) and Inclusion, Public Health and Education Durham to 
support schools and education settings in County Durham to improve the 
overall health and wellbeing of  children and young people.

The framework uses the ‘Thrive’ model (https://www.annafreud.org/schools-and-colleges/) 
and supports partners in working together and taking a whole school approach to mental 
wellbeing. This helps schools by offering a positive, resilience-based approach, providing 
a structure and guidance considering the physical, mental, and emotional health and 
wellbeing of  the whole school setting. Resources and training are also provided in support. 

Since April 2021 when the framework was launched, 106 education settings across 
primary, secondary, post 16, independent and special schools have pledged to adopt 
the framework. This means that each school setting has committed to completing a self-
assessment, which helps them to identify areas of  improvement.  

Ox Close Primary School Case Study 

“To decide the focus of  any health and wellbeing 
improvements in school we surveyed staff  and pupils then 
met and discussed our action plans and made the decision to 
roll out the project on a whole-school basis from early years 
to year 6. Our children now enjoy new playtimes with a range 
of  focused activities, and we have noticed that teamwork has 
improved and playtime conflict is reduced. Our lunchtime supervisors have also been in 
full support and have noted a huge decline in behaviour incidents. Parents and ancillary 
staff  are on board and have been supportive. Staff  morale has increased so much 
during this project. Staff  have mentioned that even the fact that staff  wellbeing has 
been made a priority by the Senior Leadership Team has made them feel valued and 
more open to accessing resources to help improve their personal mental health and 
wellbeing.” 

Priorities 
Over the last year we have reviewed and reshaped our County Durham Public Health 
Strategic Plan to improve and protect the health and wellbeing of  the county and to reduce 
health inequalities. Our actions strive, not only to increase life expectancy but to extend the 
length of  time individuals live in good health.

We are working on the following priorities within the Strategic Plan which will focus on 
reducing health inequalities. Our actions are aligned to our wellbeing principles and the 
following three themed areas: 

• Healthier: Having and promoting a healthier population (both physical health and mental 
wellbeing). For example.

 Improve mental health and emotional wellbeing 
 Improve levels of  physical activity and healthy weight 

• Fairer: Improving health across the whole life course, access to good quality health 
services and those wider services that also have an impact on population health while 
reducing population health inequalities and inequities. For example.

 Work with partners to help reduce poverty and the impact of  poverty and the cost of   
 living crisis
 Work with partners to contribute to inclusive economic growth

• Protected: Protecting the health of  our communities against communicable disease, 
domestic abuse, tobacco, drugs and alcohol that cause severe harm and plan for future 
emergencies. For example.

 Reduce the harm caused through alcohol and drugs within our local communities 
 Respond to seasonal risks to health and ensure County Durham’s preparedness for  

 winter

We have provided an update below of  some work covered in our plan.

Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ 
campaign 
In 2021, we recognised that many things, including the ongoing 
pandemic, could be negatively impacting people’s thoughts and 
moods. In response, we created a supporting mental wellbeing 
campaign. The ‘Now You’re Talking’ (‘NYT’) campaign encourages 
people to talk to someone they trust about anything that may 
be worrying or bothering them. The campaign doesn’t directly 
mention ‘mental health’, as the campaign is for all of  us. We all 
worry about things from time to time. When this happens, it’s 
important to open up to someone about how we are feeling. 

We created some draft images and messages for the proposed 
campaign, including things that many people in County Durham 
would say in everyday life. We asked a number of  mental health 
groups and charities for their thoughts on the draft campaign, receiving some fantastic 
suggestions as to how to make it better, more inclusive and more relevant to the people of  
County Durham. These included:- 

• Including more pictures of  ‘real’ people, pictures and images from County Durham. 

• Not using any gender references. Everyone should be involved, no matter how people 
gender-identify. 

• Recognising that talking to someone can be hard, including messages encouraging 
someone to talk, and encouraging a person to talk to someone they might be worried 
about. 

We included all the suggestions in the final campaign. 

P
age 55



2726 Priorities Priorities

 Case study - Kelly and Talia’s story

Kelly and her daughter Talia live in South Durham and are the first 
family to complete the Respect Young People’s Programme - a 
new programme designed to support families where Child and 
Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) may be a 
concern. 

Kelly’s daughter has complicated medical needs and at around 
the age of  13, she started rebelling against her disability, misbehaving at school, being 
aggressive at home and self-harming. Her behaviour got worse during lockdown until 
her mum decided to go to One Point, the council’s early help service for children and 
their families, for support. Here she was introduced to the Respect Young People’s 
Programme (RYPP) and shown how it could help the family.

During the 12 week RYPP programme, Kelly and her daughter each worked individually 
with their support workers, before coming together as a group to talk about the issues 
they were facing, triggers for behaviour and how those situations were dealt with. 

Kelly has found the programme useful as it made her look at what she could do better 
as a mother to manage her daughter’s behaviour. 

“The programme was good as it helped me see where I was going wrong. I suppose I 
parented in the same way my dad did, but I have come to understand that times have 
changed. I wouldn’t dare answer back but kids these days are not afraid to challenge 
parents and teachers.

Instead of  just rewarding good behaviour, I now challenge poor behaviour too. Since 
going through the programme, she has been good at understanding and taking her 
punishment and while her behaviour is still not perfect, it has improved. She still displays 
typical teenage attitude, and things are still not perfect at school, but the aggressive 
outbursts have stopped, and she is generally a lot easier to handle. 

I’m just happy that things have settled down at home. Home should be a haven, and its 
starting to feel like that for us now. Her six-year-old sister was frightened of  her, but since 
going through the programme, this is no longer the case.

I would definitely recommend the programme, as I feel like the interventions have helped 
me get my life back and the house is now a much calmer place”.

Talia said, “before we did the RYPP programme mam and me had lots of  arguments, 
this made me feel angry. Since doing the RYPP programme mam and me now 
communicate more to prevent further arguments. Rewards have been put in place. 
Things are better now, we don’t argue as much, we spend more time together.”

“We are delighted to roll out the Respect Young People’s 
Programme to families across County Durham. CAPVA is 
becoming more and more common, and it isn’t just about violent 
behaviour, it can incorporate emotional, coercive, or controlling 
behaviour, sexual and economic abuse.”

The programme is designed to enable families to identify 
negative behaviour patterns and work towards positive outcomes, avoiding blame and 
instead working together with parents or carers and the young person, and seeing them 
all as part of  the solution.

For more information and links to support for Domestic Abuse visit: 
www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse

Burnside Primary School case study

“The aim of  my project was to raise the profile of  mental health 
and wellbeing in school and to focus on resilience to help address 
some of  the needs that had been identified in the parents and child 
questionnaires.” 

“During the lockdown remote learning took place and resilience 
needed to have a large focus. Therefore the idea of  ‘Resilient Rex’ 
was born. This was a dinosaur who had resilient characteristics. 
He appeared in online lessons and the children discussed with 
Rex how he could remain resilient. In order to support children’s mental health week, 
we created mindfulness packs. These included tasks the children could use to help 
keep their minds calm during lockdown and Resilient Rex came to school to hand 
out the packs. It was vital I found ways to ensure that the profile of  mental health and 
wellbeing remained a priority even though the children were learning remotely. The final 
assessment in the Summer term showed that the children’s resilience was slightly better 
compared to where it had been at the end of  the Autumn term. Having looked at the 
resilience scales for the children from the beginning of  the project to the end, it is clear 
that their awareness of  resilience has improved with children moving up the scale.” 

Mrs Paula Renwick (deputy Head and Mental Health and Wellbeing Lead)

Protected: Helping protect people from Domestic Abuse 
It is estimated that over 2.4m people are affected by domestic abuse each year in England 
and Wales. To tackle this, in April 2021 the government introduced The Domestic Abuse Act 
2021. The Act aims to support victims, including children and young people, to live lives free 
from abuse, coercion, and control.

The Act highlights the challenges that families experiencing domestic abuse can face. This 
includes recognising Child/Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) as a form 
of  abuse. Over 2021, early help services in County Durham were trained to deliver the 
Respect Young People’s Programme (RYPP), a 12 week course designed to help families 
experiencing CAPVA, using solution-focused interventions.

A staff member working with Kelly’s family

White Ribbon Day

Durham County Council (DCC) has also strengthened our response to domestic abuse 
in the workplace. This included supporting the ‘16 days of  International Action’ and 
‘White Ribbon Day’ campaigns, with a number of  staff  members pledging to support 
the end of  violence against women and girls.

P
age 56



2928 Update on recommendations from 2021 Update on recommendations from 2021

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 
1. Shape and engage in the Integrated Care Partnership ensuring County Durham 

is at the forefront to benefit from any changes  
The County Durham Care Partnership has continued to work to improve the public’s 
health and provide input to reduce health inequalities. 

2. Implement the County Durham Together (CDT) transformation programme 
Since 2021, CDT has worked in partnership to begin embedding co-production into 
our decision making, policy and strategy development processes and service  
re-design. Please see page 11 for more details on CDT. 

3. Build on the personalised care developments in cancer for other long-term 
conditions

 We continue to work with partners using a co-production approach where we can, 
to make our interventions better and more tailored. This includes creating new pilot 
models to test how best tailored care may work for individual people, and continuing 
to support the roll out of  Personalised Health Budgets. 

High quality drug and alcohol services 
1. Increase co-production within drug and alcohol services to ensure delivery is 

inclusive 
County Durham Together has supported the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 
(DARS) to develop a Co-production Board. The Board now includes service users,  
ex-service users and their carers, helping people impacted by substance misuse to 
have a voice in innovating service delivery. 

2. Build on and improve the current working relationship with criminal justice 
partners to ensure a co-ordinated whole systems approach to drug harm 
reduction 
We are working with partners on drug-related harm reduction, with the support of  
additional funding secured for the county. This includes a new workforce within the 
prison, police and court system and extended provision of  ‘Naloxone’ (used as an 
antidote to overdoses) in police response vehicles. 

3. Begin work towards implementing the recommendations in Dame Carol Black’s 
Independent report, ‘Review of drugs part two: prevention, treatment and 
recovery’

 County Durham has secured significant new funding to implement the 
recommendations made by Dame Carol Black. This has supported more services 
within the criminal justice workstream, greater harm reduction, more outreach 
support and the provision of  a new Alcohol Care Team (ACT). We now also have extra 
capacity for inpatient detoxification, mental health, families, women-only services and 
extra support for Rough Sleepers. 

Update on recommendations from 2021

Promoting positive behaviours
In the last year’s report I said that we would: 
1. Increase the number of schools signed up to ‘Active 30’ and target communities 

most impacted by COVID-19 to promote and embed daily physical activity habits  
70 schools have signed up to the programme in the 2021/22 academic year. 
Additional government funding has provided greater opportunities to extend the 
project’s reach, including embedding Active 30 across holiday ‘fun and food’ delivery 
with resources to support young people to be active during the holiday periods. 

2. Implement measures with housing and other providers to reduce the risk from 
second-hand smoke in the home   
We are now engaging with housing providers to reduce smoking rates of  those 
who are living in social housing and to reduce exposure to second-hand smoke for 
children and other family members.

3. Produce a communications campaign to raise awareness of the health and 
social impacts of increased alcohol intake on individuals, families and the wider 
community   
Two significant alcohol-related campaigns “Alcohol Causes Cancer” and “What’s the 
Harm” were promoted throughout County Durham. A Drink Coach app was included 
in one campaign to provide information and on safe drinking levels and how to 
access additional support.

P
age 57



Conclusion 31 30

Conclusion 
My report this year has been one of  transition from the pandemic to a re-focusing of  
priorities. It has provided an update of  the health and wellbeing of  our residents and 
where COVID-19 has had the greatest impact, both directly and indirectly.

It has also highlighted the work taking place to live safely with COVID-19 which has 
continued to be prominent and with our attention on those who are at greatest risk 
as well as reflecting on the last two years and how we worked so closely with our 
communities and how this can be taken forward.

Examples of  this were evident on our approach to wellbeing, shifting the balance to 
working with our communities and not ‘doing to’. 

In the recommendations from 2021 tobacco was highlighted as a key priority to redouble 
our efforts to make smoking history in our county. This report has provided an update 
on some excellent work alongside local residents stories of  how they have given up 
smoking which gives us a strong rationale to do everything possible to tackle levels of  
tobacco.

The building blocks for good health are a way of  us now describing how health 
and wellbeing is impacted by a range of  factors, including employment, housing, 
our environment and how much money our residents have to live on. The impact of  
COVID-19 and the cost-of-living increases make it even more important for us to embed 
health and wellbeing in the building blocks for good health. That means of  course that 
the public health team will lead on some aspects such as tobacco, however, will also 
continue to work very closely in the coming year with others to reduce poverty and the 
impact of  poverty and contribute to inclusive economic growth to ensure health and 
wellbeing is considered in the relevant strategies and action plans. 

It is only by doing this will we collectively and most importantly with our communities 
have healthier, fairer and protected lives.

P
age 58



Please ask us if you would like this document 
summarised in another language or format:

Braille, Audio, Large print.

Arabic, Chinese, Urdu,

Polish, Punjabi, Spanish,

Bengali, Hindi, German,

French, Turkish, Malay.

Telephone: 03000 264 109
Email: PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk

53300 AHS

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health
Annual Report 2022

Council
7 December 2022

Amanda Healy
Director of Public Health

P
age 61



Building blocks for good health

• Social and environmental 
conditions in which we are 
born, grow up and live with do 
not give us all an equal 
chance. 

• How much money we have, 
the quality of the house we live 
in, the natural environment 
surrounding us, 

• Our access to transport, 
education and work, 

• Ability to choose healthy 
options,

• All impact on our chances of 
living a long and healthy life.

 

P
age 62



Health and wellbeing – impact of COVID-19

• The COVID-19 pandemic  impact on the health and wellbeing of residents of 
County Durham. 

• Challenges to health and wellbeing especially as we move towards living with 
COVID-19. 

• However County Durham also has many assets that can support and protect 
the health of our 530,000 residents. 

• Communities have worked together and alongside us to both strengthen 
existing assets and develop new ones. 

P
age 63

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


Health and wellbeing across County Durham
• The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham is worse than the 

England average. 
• Health inequalities remain persistent and pervasive.
• There are inequalities within County Durham too.

We want all people to have the best length of life and quality of life that they can

Girls and boys born in County Durham today can expect to live 81.2 years and 77.7 years 
respectively. However, people are spending years living with illness and disability which 
affects the quality of their lives.

Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy (2018-2020)

P
age 64



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

• Working together, we can strive to reduce inequalities

P
age 65



Health and wellbeing – approach to wellbeing 
 
• How we work together to put communities at the heart of local decision 

making. The Approach to Wellbeing has developed over a period of years 
and has been evaluated during 2022 to see what is working and what 
needs to be improved

Durham mental wellbeing alliance

The new County Durham Mental Wellbeing 
Alliance includes a range of mental health 
providers, including small charities and 
larger national organisations, and its 
structure enables members to work 
together to shape the development and 
delivery of contracts based on knowledge 
of local need.

P
age 66



Living with COVID-19
• We have moved from response to living with 

COVID-19
• Continued support from communities
• Leave no-one behind vaccination campaign
• Focus on key settings and groups most at risk

During the pandemic we have…. 

P
age 67



Living with COVID-19
• Over 400 COVID-19 heroes have been nominated for an award recognising the 

contribution of County Durham residents during the pandemic. 
• Beat Covid NE campaigns and award

County Durham winner 
COVID acts of kindness award

During lockdown, Alfie used money that he’d saved 
for his birthday to buy supplies to create coronavirus 
“survival packs” which he delivered to youngsters 
across County Durham. 

Chloe played a key role in our Get 
Tested COVID Safe County 
marketing campaign. 

P
age 68



Making smoking history – recommendation 
from 2021

Smoking remains the single largest 
cause of preventable deaths and 
one of the largest causes of health 
inequalities. 

Smoking levels in County Durham

Prevalence is reducing within County 
Durham. However, it is still higher than 
the North East and England averages.  

In County Durham we want to achieve 
a prevalence of 5% by 2030.  To get to 
this figure we would need 40,100 fewer 
smokers and no new smokers

P
age 69



Making smoking history – our local plans

The Tobacco Control 
Alliance is a group with 
many different agencies 
who work together to 
reduce the County Durham 
smoking prevalence.  The 
plan to reduce smoking to 
5% by 2030 is focussed 
around seven key areas of 
work. 

P
age 70



Giving up smoking – local peoples experiences 

Cathy’s experience
Cathy lost one of her lungs to cancer through 
smoking and has been urging others to quit and 
not wait until it is too late… “ My advice would be 
to never think that poor health or cancer won’t 
happen to you and if you’re trying to quit then ring 
your local stop smoking service.

Alan’s experience
“I have smoked for 41 years and now I’m really 
looking forward to telling my friends and family 
that I have quit. My health has improved, I am 
saving money and people are telling me I look 
well. 

P
age 71



Priorities looking ahead
• Focused on the building blocks of good health
• Healthier lives, fairer lives and protected lives  

• Healthier: Supporting us to be mentally 
healthier - The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign 

• Fairer: A fairer approach to supporting mental 
wellbeing in schools – the Young People’s 
Health and Wellbeing Framework

• Protected: Helping protect people from 
Domestic Abuse

P
age 72



Healthier, Fairer and Protected

Healthier: 
The ‘Now You’re Talking’ campaign
 

Fairer: 
The Young People’s Health and Wellbeing 
Framework – Oxclose Primary School

Protected:
Respect Young People’s Programme – 
Kelly and Talia’s story

P
age 73



Conclusion
• Building blocks for good health

• Transition from pandemic to living with 
COVID-19

• Increased focus on making smoking 
history

• Healthier, Fairer and Protected priorities

• Work with others to reduce poverty and 
contribute inclusive economic growth

• Working with partners and most 
importantly our local communities

P
age 74



 

  

Council 

7 December 2022 

 Review of the Council’s Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor John Shuttleworth, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Rural 
Communities and Highways 

Electoral division(s) affected:  

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To request Council approval of the revised Durham County Council’s 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, referred to as the 
“taxi policy” and their recommendation for adoption by Council. 

2 To consider further changes to the revised taxi policy made by General 
Licensing and Registration Committee (GLRC) resulting from a second, 
4-week consultation that took place between Monday 20 June and 
Sunday 17 July 2022.  The final version of the taxi policy, as modified 
by GLRC is shown in Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

3 The current Durham County Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy was initially adopted by the Council in April 2016.  The 
policy was further amended in April 2018. 

4 The current taxi policy provides that the Council will review it every five 
years and will also make such revisions to the policy, as it considers 
appropriate and publish it accordingly. 

5 Consultation on the existing policy and proposed changes is integral to 
the overall policy review process, leading to the adoption of a revised 

Page 75

Agenda Item 10



policy by Council.  A full, 12-week public consultation originally took 
place between September 2020 and November 2020 and following the 
consultation, the responses were collated, assessed, and considered by 
officers. 

6 Proposals were presented to GLRC on 13 September 2021 concerning: 

(a) the possible introduction of new vehicle age restrictions and 
updated engine emission standards; 

(b) changes to the policy on the determination of suitability of 
applicant and licence holders for vehicle, driver and operator 
licences associated with the adoption of standards developed and 
promoted by the Institute of Licensing (IOL); 

(c) introduction of disability awareness training and subsequent 
refresher training for this subject and for the existing safeguarding 
awareness training including child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
awareness; 

(d) changes to officer delegations to enable immediate revocation of 
hackney carriage and private hire driver licences by senior 
officers subject to specific criteria and control measures; 

(e) the incorporation of newly published statutory taxi and private hire 
vehicle standards; 

(f) intelligence led and random drug and alcohol testing; 

(g) the introduction of driver improvement schemes; 

(h) Contract exemptions. 

7 In March 2022, Members requested a further, 4-week public 
consultation in relation to the version of the policy previously agreed by 
GLRC to consider the impact of coronavirus on the trade and 
passengers as part of the policy review. 

8 A second consultation exercise was undertaken between Monday 20 
June and Sunday 17 July 2022. 

9 The results of this consultation were presented to GLRC on 17 
November.  At that committee meeting, Members modified the 
proposed policy in relation to requirements for vehicle emissions, fire 
extinguishers and first aid kits.  They also agreed to recommend to 
Council the adoption of the modified policy, to come into operation on 1 
January 2023. 

Page 76



10 Council is requested to consider the contents of this report and confirm 
the revised version of the taxi policy as recommended by GLRC. 

Recommendation(s) 

11 Council is recommended to: 

(a) consider this report together with the proposed revised taxi policy; 
and 

(b) agree to adopt the final version taxi policy, to come into operation 
on 1 January 2023, as recommended by GLRC. 

  

Page 77



Background 

12 The Policy Review - The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy was adopted by the Council in April 2016.  The policy 
was amended in 2018 because of changes to immigration legislation. 

13 Following its last revision, several matters in the policy had been 
identified that needed to be considered as part of a policy review.  The 
initial proposed revision included several significant and potentially 
contentious matters associated with both licensed vehicles and their 
drivers including: 

14 As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the initial countrywide 
lockdown, the original planned date for the start of public consultation 
on the taxi policy proposals was postponed from June to September 
2020.  This delayed consultation period ended on Sunday 29 November 
2020. 

15 The outcome of the initial consultation exercise together with several 
additional changes to the initial proposals were reported to GLRC on 13 
September 2021. 

16 The GLRC was asked to consider and make decisions on their 
appropriateness for inclusion in the proposed revised taxi policy the 
following matters: 

(a)  Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria – whether to accept 
and recommend proposals which included an age policy or to 
extend and update our existing policy based purely on 
manufactures emission standards.  The proposal did not receive 
strong support from the taxi trade during the initial consultation 
process.  Regionally, despite differences in Council policies, there 
is a drive for authorities to include this form of policy to reduce 
emissions and improve air quality.  GLRC recommended a 
revised policy based solely on Euro vehicle emission standards in 
line with current policy; 

(b)  Locality tests – whether to keep locality (topographical) testing 
and a requirement for both hackney carriage and private hire 
drivers; or to discontinue its application for both or either type of 
licenced driver.  GLRC recommended removal of the requirement 
for prospective private hire drivers to undergo 
topographical/locality testing; 

(c)  Removal of the policy requirements to carry fire extinguishers and 
first aid kits in licensed vehicles - whether licensed vehicles 
should have to carry these items.  GLRC recommended 
maintaining these requirements for licensed vehicles; 

Page 78



(d)  Zero or reduced fee charges for electric vehicles, balanced out 
with higher fees for more polluting vehicles or by subsidy – 
whether changes to licence fees would be appropriate taking into 
consideration funding arrangements for taxi licensing and 
Licensing Services.  GLRC recommended maintaining current fee 
setting arrangements in-line with existing financial management 
processes; 

(e)  Adoption of a new policy on offences – whether to adopt the 
Institute of Licensing (IOL) policy standards in full or in part.  We 
considered alternatives suggested by respondents to the initial 
consultation and concluded that no compelling reasons for 
departure from the proposed policy which is in line with the new 
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards.  We proposed 
to incorporate the IOL standards in part but not in relation to the 
section on minor motoring offences or motoring offences involving 
disqualification.  GLRC recommended the proposals as 
incorporated in the proposed revised policy; 

(f)  Safeguarding including child sexual exploitation (CSE) and 
disability awareness and refresher training to be included in the 
proposed policy and if so, at what frequency – Currently disability 
awareness training is not part of the application process.  It was 
proposed that for new applications, all prospective drivers to have 
undergone disability awareness training and for existing licensed 
drivers by a specified date and that all licensed drivers must 
undergo disability awareness refresher training before their 
licence is renewed, if they have not already received disability 
awareness training (or disability awareness refresher training) 
within the previous 3 years.  GLRC recommended the proposals 
as incorporated in the revised policy for Safeguarding (CSE) and 
DA training and periodic refresher training; 

(g)  CCTV in taxis - Taking into consideration all responses of the 
initial consultation and arguments relating to the question about 
whether all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal 
CCTV fitted as standard, we propose to keep the existing policy 
in relation to the fitting of CCTV in licensed vehicles as it is and 
not to mandate its installation as standard in all licensed vehicles 
– GLRC recommended no change to existing policy requirements 
and do not propose its inclusion as a mandatory feature of taxi 
licensing; 

(h)  Contract exemption for displaying decals etc. – although we 
proposed no change to policy, Members considered reducing the 
number of days required to be considered for an exemption.  
GLRC recommended relaxation of the current rules with 

Page 79



arrangements to be made at application on a case-by-case basis 
in conjunction with the Chair and Vice Chairs of GLRC. 

17 The revised taxi policy agreed by GLRC was scheduled for reporting to 
full Council on Wednesday 8 December 2021 but was deferred until 
Wednesday 26 January 2022.  The report was then deferred again at 
that meeting. 

18 In March 2022, Members sought to carry out a further, 4-week public 
consultation in relation to the previously agreed version of the policy. 

19 On 28 March 2022, the Government embarked on a consultation on 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing, Best Practice Guidance for 
Licensing Authorities in England.  This document confirms best practice 
in relation to several taxi licensing related issues.  This consultation is 
now closed. 

20 The Council’s current taxi policy is not in accordance with current 
national standards, or this proposed guidance.  The revised version of 
the taxi policy agreed by GLRC would bring our current taxi policy in 
accordance with the national standards.  Subject to the outcome of the 
Government consultation the revised taxi policy may not meet any 
revised guidance issued by the Department for Transport (DoT) and this 
may prompt a further policy review. 

21 Initially the decision was taken to wait until the new best practice 
guidance was formalised by the DoT after the end of the national 
consultation that ended in June 2022.  The DoT was contacted to ask 
for its opinion on this matter and the response was that we should press 
ahead with this policy review in order that national standards can be 
brought in as soon as possible. 

Second consultation exercise 

22 The second, 4-week consultation took place between Monday 20 June 
and Sunday 17 July 2022 and was carried out in accordance with 
guidance and information provided by DCC legal Services and DCC 
Partnership Team’s Consultation and Engagement section. 

23 The consultation exercise was widely advertised and published on the 
Council’s website and via directed consultation methods agreed by the 
Council’s Consultation Officer Group (COG). See Letter to Taxi Trade 
Appendix 3. 

24 During the consultation period, all respondents were asked to send their 
comments to the email address: licensing@durham.gov.uk 

Page 80

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


25 At the end of the consultation period, a total of 53 responses had been 
received in total which included 5 separate responses from 1 
respondent. 

26 The email responses received together with comments from Licensing 
Services are shown in Appendix 4. 

27 Matters that were not of a policy nature or which concerned subjects 
outside the remit of Council policy have not been taken forward for 
further consideration. 

28 Some of the proposals in the revised policy are intended to bring our 
current taxi policy in line with current national standards and have not 
been challenged during consultation. 

29 Many of the points raised by respondents however have highlighted 
concerns around the proposals on vehicle emissions. 

30 There was a general acceptance that vehicles licensed for the very first 
time by DCC should meet Euro 6 emission standards.  The respondents 
from the taxi trade were against the original proposals for the dates 
associated with vehicle licence renewals involving older Euro 4 and 5 
vehicles. 

31 In the main, concerns were associated with the costs of vehicle 
replacement within the previously proposed timescales. In response to 
the representations received, a range of options were presented for 
further consideration by GLRC to address these concerns. 

Material Considerations 

32 The version of the taxi policy previously agreed by GLRC in 2021 had 
recommended the implementation of proposals relating to the Euro 4 
and Euro 5 emission standards.  These concerned the licensing of such 
vehicle renewals after 1 January 2023 and 1 January 2024 respectively.  
Given the consultation responses, GLRC Members may wished to 
extend these timescales to 2024 for Euro 4 and 2025 for Euro 5 
vehicles. 

33 In addition to the economic difficulties voiced by the trade and others, 
the effect of the removal or phasing out of older vehicles would catch 
wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAVs) under the previous proposals 
and the collective opinion was that WAVs should not be subject to 
emission control conditions. 

34 A related counter proposal suggested by taxi trade respondents 
involved the retrofitting of pollution or emission control equipment to the 
licensed vehicles that were not manufactured to Euro 6 standards.  The 

Page 81



efficacy and practicalities associated with such a proposal are subjects 
that extend beyond the knowledge and experience of Licensing 
Officers.  Therefore, expert opinion from outside the service had been 
sought from the Energy Savings Trust (EST) on these propositions 
made by taxi trade respondents. 

35 The advice from the EST was that they did not believe the fitting 
hydrogen on demand systems to Euro 4 and 5 cars reduced emissions 
or improved fuel efficiency and that in the last 15 years they had not 
seen any independent test report that demonstrated the claims made by 
the suppliers of such systems. It was considered by the EST that it 
would be quarter of a million wasted fitting these systems. 

36 As a result of the information provided by the EST, there was 
insufficient evidence to support including retrofitting of emission control 
equipment to taxis as an effective means of providing a contribution to 
the overall reduction of pollution levels from vehicles in County Durham.  
The contribution of such methods towards climate change reduction 
was also in question. 

37 The GLRC decided to accept the following option for inclusion in the taxi 
policy: 

(i)  New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New 

applications for all vehicle licences will only be accepted for 

vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or 

higher; 

(ii)  Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued 

Licensing): 

 after 1 January 2024, we will not accept renewal 
applications for licensed vehicles* manufactured to the 
emissions standard Euro 4 or lower; 

 after 1 January 2025, we will not accept renewal 
applications for licensed vehicles* manufactured to the 
emissions standard Euro 5 or lower; 

 *Renewal applications for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
will not be subject to the above vehicle emission 
requirements. 

38 GLRC also reconsidered the situation regarding the carrying of fire 
extinguishers and first aid kits in licensed vehicles.  In view of the lack of 
support for such requirements by the Fire and Rescue Service and 
because such requirements, if imposed, may bring with them the 
responsibilities and costs for extinguisher and first-aid training to be 

Page 82



borne by the Council, GLRC agreed to make these matters optional 
rather than mandatory. 

Main implications 

39. A failure to review, revise and update the Council’s taxi licensing policy 
would result in the Council’s inability to properly administer, manage, 
and regulate the taxi licensing process.  It would result in a failure to 
adopt the national standards aimed at protecting children and 
vulnerable persons.  This would lead to unacceptable deficiencies in 
safeguarding and would expose the public to serious risks.  Public 
safety would be compromised.  The Council would be open to charges 
of maladministration and to legal challenges. 

Conclusion 

40. Further consultation on the policy has taken place in accordance with 
the wishes of the Council and GLRC has agreed to a couple of further 
modifications as a result. 

41 The revised taxi policy has been subject to an initial Equality Impact 
Screening Assessment which has taken into consideration the current 
taxi policy and proposed revisions to the policy as agreed by GLRC.  No 
overall impacts have been identified across the equality strands. 

42 The recommendations made by GLRC in relation to revisions to the taxi 
policy will, if agreed and adopted by Council, enable the updated, 
revised policy to come into operation in on 1 January 2023. 

Background papers 

 Durham County Council’s existing Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended in 2018) 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5945/Hackney-Carriage-and-

Private-Hire-Licensing-

Policy/pdf/HackneyCarriagePrivateHireLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=63

6634554282130000 

 

 Report to GLRC 13 September 2021 –‘ Review of the Council’s 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy’ and 

Appendices 1-11 

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s143998/Revision%

20of%20Taxi%20Licensing%20Policy%20Report.pdf 

 

 Report to GLRC 17 November 2022 - Review of the Council’s 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy’ and 

Appendices Agenda for General Licensing and Registration 

Page 83

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5945/Hackney-Carriage-and-Private-Hire-Licensing-Policy/pdf/HackneyCarriagePrivateHireLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=636634554282130000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5945/Hackney-Carriage-and-Private-Hire-Licensing-Policy/pdf/HackneyCarriagePrivateHireLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=636634554282130000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5945/Hackney-Carriage-and-Private-Hire-Licensing-Policy/pdf/HackneyCarriagePrivateHireLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=636634554282130000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5945/Hackney-Carriage-and-Private-Hire-Licensing-Policy/pdf/HackneyCarriagePrivateHireLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=636634554282130000
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s143998/Revision%20of%20Taxi%20Licensing%20Policy%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s143998/Revision%20of%20Taxi%20Licensing%20Policy%20Report.pdf


Committee on Thursday 17 November 2022, 1.30 pm 

(durham.gov.uk) Agenda for General Licensing and Registration 

Committee on Thursday 17 November 2022, 1.30 pm 

(durham.gov.uk) 

 

 Policy review considerations 

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144410/Policy%20

Review%20Considerations.pdf 

 

 Taxi Policy Briefing Note  

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149020/App%205c

%20-

%20Taxi%20Policy%20Briefing%20Note%20Consultation.pdf 

 

Other useful documents 

 Department of Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: 
Best Practice Guidance (2010) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-

vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance 

 Department of Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards July 2020 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/syst

em/uploads/attachment_data/file/928583/statutory-taxi-and-

private-hire-vehicle-standards-english.pdf 

 Vehicle Emissions and Age Restrictions Policy Options 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149024/App%207
%20-
%20Vehicle%20Emissions%20and%20Age%20Policy%20Option
s%20Appraisal.pdf 

 
 

Authors 

Joanne Waller Tel: 03000 260923 

Owen Cleugh Tel: 03000 260925 

Craig Rudman Tel: 03000 260090 
  

Page 84

https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=14926&Ver=4
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=14926&Ver=4
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=14926&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144410/Policy%20Review%20Considerations.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144410/Policy%20Review%20Considerations.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149020/App%205c%20-%20Taxi%20Policy%20Briefing%20Note%20Consultation.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149020/App%205c%20-%20Taxi%20Policy%20Briefing%20Note%20Consultation.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149020/App%205c%20-%20Taxi%20Policy%20Briefing%20Note%20Consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/928583/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/928583/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/928583/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149024/App%207%20-%20Vehicle%20Emissions%20and%20Age%20Policy%20Options%20Appraisal.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149024/App%207%20-%20Vehicle%20Emissions%20and%20Age%20Policy%20Options%20Appraisal.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149024/App%207%20-%20Vehicle%20Emissions%20and%20Age%20Policy%20Options%20Appraisal.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149024/App%207%20-%20Vehicle%20Emissions%20and%20Age%20Policy%20Options%20Appraisal.pdf


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has been produced 

in accordance with the powers conferred by the Town Police Clauses Act 

1847, the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the 

Transport Act 1985, as amended, which places on the Council the duty to 

carry out its licensing functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire 

licensing and also in accordance with relevant government guidance. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

Two full public consultation processes have been undertaken in respect of the 
review of this policy. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has gone 
through a full Equality and Diversity Impact Assessment.  The revised taxi 
policy has also been subject to a screening assessment prior to reporting to 
Committee and is attached in Appendix 4. 

Climate Change 

Revising the policy on Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria for 

licensed vehicles will help to ensure that vehicles licensed by DCC will meet 

current or recent emission standards, thereby contributing to climate 

protection and local air quality management.  

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Page 85



Risk 

A failure to review, revise and update the Council’s taxi licensing policy would 
result in the continuation of the existing out-of-date policy with no 
replacement.  This would result in the Council’s failure to adopt new national 
standards for taxi licensing and the inability to properly administer, manage 
and regulate the taxi licensing process.  This would result in unacceptable 
deficiencies in safeguarding and would expose the public to serious risks.  
Public safety would be compromised.  The Council would be open to charges 
of maladministration and to legal challenges. 

Possible challenges to any legal actions taken under taxi legislation resulting 
from actions taken in accordance with the policy; and possible legal action that 
could be taken against the policy itself, such as a judicial review of the new 
policy. 

The final revised policy once adopted may be subject to challenge and 

complaint. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

  

Page 86



Appendix 2:  Revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy recommended by GLRC post 17 November 2022 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

  

Page 87



Appendix 3: Consultation Letter to the Trade 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

  

Page 88



Appendix 4:  The email responses received together with 
comments from Licensing Services 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

  

Page 89



Appendix 5: Equality Impact Screening Assessment 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Community Protection Services 

Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 

2021 to 2026 

Page 91



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 2 

 

Version control 
 

Amendments to the policy are noted below. 
 

 

Version 
Date 

Version 
ref 

Revision 
History 

Reviser Approved 
by 

Review 
Date 

12 May 
2011 

V1 Final Version Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2016 

13 April 
2016 

V2 Final Version  Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

25 
January 
2017 

V3 Final Version  Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

18 April 
2018 

 
V4 

Amended Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health 
Services  

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

 
December 
2022 
 

 
V5 

Recommended 
Final Version 

Joanne Waller Head 
of Community 
Protection; 
Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 
 

County 
Council 

 January 
2022 
Pending 

Page 92



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 3 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 5 

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing ............................................................... 6 

3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers .................................................................... 6 

4. Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria ................................................................. 7 

5. Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives ............................................................................... 8 

6. Promotion of taxi licensing objectives ........................................................................... 9 

7. Delegations ........................................................................................................................ 9 

8. Partnership Working ....................................................................................................... 10 

9. Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 ................................................... 11 

10. Conditions ........................................................................................................................ 12 

11. Enforcement .................................................................................................................... 12 

12. Other Regulatory Regimes ............................................................................................. 13 

13. Decision Making .............................................................................................................. 13 

14 Complaints Procedure .................................................................................................... 13 

15 Vehicle Licence Holders ................................................................................................. 14 

16 Vehicle Insurance ............................................................................................................ 18 

17 Transfer of Interest .......................................................................................................... 18 

18. Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ with the Keeping, Employing and Letting of Vehicles

 ........................................................................................................................................... 19 

19. Drivers .............................................................................................................................. 19 

20. Private Hire Operators .................................................................................................... 20 

21. Licence Fees .................................................................................................................... 20 

22. Hackney Carriage Fares Policy ...................................................................................... 20 

23. Review .............................................................................................................................. 21 

24. Contact Us ....................................................................................................................... 21 

Page 93



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 4 

 

Appendix 1: Drivers ..................................................................................................................... 23 

Eligibility ................................................................................................................................... 23 
Continuing Suitability and Renewal Process ....................................................................... 27 
Voluntary return of licence (surrender of licence) ............................................................... 28 
Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence ......................................................... 29 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and Licence Holders for Vehicle, Driver 

and Operator Licences ................................................................................................... 31 

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution, or any other relevant information 
including complaints and intelligence .................................................................................. 31 
Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following a conviction / caution and 
the ongoing suitability of Licence Holders ........................................................................... 32 
Motoring offences .................................................................................................................... 33 
Other Relevant Factors ........................................................................................................... 36 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences .................................................................................................... 37 

Standard Conditions ............................................................................................................... 37 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles ..................................................................................................... 42 
Private Hire Vehicles ............................................................................................................... 43 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles ............................................................................................ 43 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions ..................................................................... 45 

Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles ............................................................................ 45 
Conditions for Stretch Vehicles ............................................................................................. 45 
Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles ..................................................................... 46 
Other Vehicles .......................................................................................................................... 46 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator ............................................................................................. 47 

Standard Conditions ............................................................................................................... 47 

Appendix 6: Glossary .................................................................................................................. 51 

Appendix 7: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation ............................................................ 54 

Committee Referrals and Officer Revocations ..................................................................... 54 

Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle ........................................................... 56 

 

 

  

Page 94



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 5 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. Durham County Council (DCC) is responsible for the licensing and regulation 
of the hackney carriage and private hire activities within the area administered 
by the Council. This policy sets out and explains how the Council undertakes 
its functions relating to the licensing and regulation of hackney carriages, 
private hire vehicles, drivers, and private hire operators. 
 

1.2. In adopting the licensing policy, the Council recognises the needs of all 
persons for safe and convenient taxi transportation and the importance of this 
for the local economy and to the vibrancy of the County. This policy, which 
replaces all previous taxi policies, shall apply throughout the administrative 
area of Durham County Council from the date of adoption. 
 

1.3. This policy has been produced in accordance with the powers conferred by 
the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 1985, as amended, which places 
on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing functions in respect of 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing. When developing this policy, the 
following have been taken into consideration: 
 

 The aims and objectives of this policy (see below) 

 Current legislation 

 The Department for Transport “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: 
Best Practice Guidance” March 2010 

 Regulators Code 2014 

 Departmental Enforcement Policy 

 Local Government Association Template Criminal Convictions Policy 
2015 

 The Department for Transport ‘Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards’ 2020 

 The Equality Act 2010 
 

1.4. The Council has considered the views of key partners, stakeholders and any 
other person who has responded to the consultation when preparing this 
policy. A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available from 
Licensing Services. 
 

1.5. The development, review, application, and implementation of this policy will 
be the responsibility of the Council’s Licensing Service and Elected Members 
sitting as the Licensing Committee.  
 

1.6. The General Licensing and Registration Committee may make decisions that 
change the content of this policy. The changes may have immediate effect or 
may come into effect on a given date.  
 
 

Page 95



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 6 

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
 

2.1 Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicles, drivers, and operators. This policy sets out 
application requirements and ongoing standards that must be met by the 
hackney carriage and private hire trade licensed by Durham County Council. 
When carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council will have regard to this 
policy. Each application or enforcement measure will be considered on its 
own merits however where it is necessary to depart substantially from the 
policy, clear and compelling reasons will be given. 
 

2.2 A hackney carriage vehicle is a public transport vehicle with no more than 8 
passenger seats, which is licensed to ‘ply for hire’. This means they can stand 
at public ranks or be hailed / flagged down in the street by members of the 
public, when operating within their licensing authority’s own geographical area 
(the controlled area). Outside their controlled areas, the law prevents hackney 
carriages from being hailed / flagged down in the street or from standing at 
public ranks. 
 

2.3 A private hire vehicle must also have no more than 8 passenger seats 
however, they must be ‘pre-booked’ through a licensed private hire operator 
and may not ply for hire nor use public ranks either inside or outside their 
controlled areas. 
 

2.4 The principal aims of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire vehicle 
trades are to protect and safeguard the public and to ensure that the public 
have reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire services. 
 

2.5 The Council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licensed vehicles of 
the Council are safe, comfortable, properly insured, and available where and 
when required. 
 

2.6 The Council will not grant a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence for 
any vehicle already licensed by another Local Authority. 

 
 

3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 

3.1 An applicant must satisfy the Council that they are a fit and proper person to 
become licensed. Once licensed, the driver must remain a fit and proper 
person throughout the duration of the licence.  

 
3.2 Whilst there is no definition of a fit and proper person, the Department for 

Transport Guidance suggests that the Council is effectively asking the 
following question:   

 

Page 96



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 7 

Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you 
allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel 
alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night? 

  
3.3 During the application process, the Council will undertake several checks to 

gather the information necessary to assess the suitability of the applicant.  
 
3.4 Factors that will be considered when reaching a decision include:  
  

 Criminality (whether the applicant has any criminal convictions or 
cautions) 

 Driving licence – length held, and penalty points endorsed 

 Right to work in the UK 

 Medical Fitness 

 General conduct/standards of behaviour 

 Conduct of the applicant during the application process 

 Previous licensing history 

 Knowledge of County Durham and other matters such as the Highway 
Code, this policy and taxi legislation 

 Ability to communicate and understand English  

 Completion of all necessary requirements of the application process 

 Whether the applicant has had a licence revoked or refused by another 
authority 

  
This is not an exhaustive list of matters that will be considered, and further 
information may be sought from other agencies such as the Police, 
Safeguarding Boards, other licensing authorities etc. 

 
 

4. Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 

Tackling air pollution is one of several public health priorities aimed at 
safeguarding the public. To combat poor air quality, innovative and bold 
measures are being taken across the country to ensure the health and 
wellbeing in communities as well as road users. Adoption of the following 
proposed policy requirements will enable Durham licensed vehicles to help to 
reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality in our region. 
 
Note: to encourage the maintenance and continued licensing of wheelchair 
accessible licensed vehicles (WAVs), those WAVs already licensed by DCC 
will be exempt from our requirements for manufacturers emission standards. 
However, newly licensed WAVs will be subject to the same emission 
standards that apply to all other vehicles.  

 
4.1 New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for all 

vehicle licences will only be accepted for vehicles manufactured to the 
emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 

Page 97



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 8 

 
4.2 Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 1st January 2024, we will not accept renewal applications for 
licensed vehicles meeting Euro 4 or lower* 

 
- After the 1st January 2025, we will not accept renewal applications for 

licensed vehicles meeting Euro 5 or lower* 
 

*Renewal applications for wheelchair accessible vehicles will not be subject to the 
above vehicle emission requirements 
 

4.3 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at source) vehicles 
are welcomed by the Council. 

 

 

5. Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives 
 

5.1 The principal purpose of hackney carriage and private hire licensing is to 
protect the public and promote public safety. The Council’s aim is to facilitate 
well run and responsible businesses which display sensitivity to the wishes 
and needs of the public. The Council will carry out its hackney carriage and 
private hire licensing functions with a view to protecting the public by 
promoting the following objectives: 
 
a) The protection of the public, safeguarding children and the vulnerable 

and the prevention of crime and disorder - To ensure that all licensed 
drivers, vehicle licence holders and private hire operators are fit and 
proper persons 

b) The safety and health of the public and drivers - to ensure that safe, 
comfortable, reliable, and accessible hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles are available for all who require them 

c) Encouraging environmental sustainability 
d) To provide clarity for licensees with respect to the Council’s 

requirements and the decision-making process 
e) To promote a professional and respected hackney carriage and private 

hire trade 
 
5.2 The Council aims to ensure that the hackney carriage and private hire 

services offered within the County are of a good standard. The application 
and compliance procedures are designed to ensure these standards are 
maintained, monitored for compliance, and appropriately enforced. These 
objectives will be considered by the Council when making decisions. 
 
 

Page 98



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 9 

6. Promotion of taxi licensing objectives  
 

6.1 Methods used by this Council to promote the licensing objectives of this policy 
will include: 
 
a) Setting the standards for the licensing of drivers, vehicles, proprietors, 

and operators 
b) The licensing and routine inspections of vehicles, with appropriate 

follow-up action 
c) Routine inspection of insurance policies, with appropriate follow-up 

action 
d) The assessment of applicants to ensure they are ‘fit and proper’ 

persons and thereby entitled to hold a licence 
e) Investigation of complaints with appropriate follow-up action 
f) Liaison with the Police, other local authorities, and other relevant 

agencies regarding issues of mutual concern in relation to offences or 
the conduct of licence holders/applicants 

g) Taking enforcement and / or disciplinary action including legal 
proceedings, verbal and written warnings, written cautions, notices, 
suspension, or revocation of licences for breaches of legislation or 
conditions or any other reasonable cause  

h) Intelligence led drug testing (see Appendix 2) 
i) The imposition of driver improvement schemes’ (see Appendix 2) 

 
6.2 When considering applications and taking enforcement action against existing 

licence holders, the Council as the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
current Community Protection Enforcement Policy. 

 
 

7. Delegations  
 

7.1 Under the Council’s Constitution, the General Licensing and Registration Sub-
Committee has the authority to discharge non-executive regulatory functions 
with respect to hackney carriage and private hire licensing. The Sub-
Committee will determine contested and non-conforming applications, 
misconduct, contraventions, and suspensions and revocations. 

 
7.2 All licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with serious 

matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. Under DCC 
constitutional arrangements, in cases involving serious misconduct and where 
public safety is in imminent jeopardy, this role has been delegated to senior 
officers and managers with responsibility for the licensing service. 

  
7.3 Officers in Licensing Services have delegated powers to grant licences where 

there are no criminal or other concerns that give rise to doubts over the 
suitability of the applicant to hold a licence. 

 

Page 99



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 10 

7.4 The Licensing Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Team Leader and 
Licensing Enforcement Officers may issue warning letters on behalf of the 
Council.  

  
7.5 Hackney carriage/private vehicles licensed by the council (and vehicles 

licensed by participating authorities in accordance with adopted cross-border 
authorisation arrangements) may be suspended by the Licensing Manager, 
the Licensing Enforcement Team Leader and Licensing Enforcement Officers. 

 
7.6 The Council has the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information 

be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper 
person. A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing 
of a licence should further information be received that alters the balance of 
probability of a decision previously made. A decision to suspend or revoke is 
based on the evidence available at the time the determination was made. 
New evidence may, of course, become available later. If, for example, the 
allegations against a licence holder were, on the balance of probability, 
considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to drive was proven satisfactory, 
a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was revoked, an expedited re-
licensing process will be used. We will operate a Fast-Track application 
process for licence reinstatement following an officer revocation in such 
cases. 

 
7.7 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can 

be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be 
returned to the driver once the training has been completed without further 
consideration. This approach is clearly not appropriate where the licensing 
authority believes that, based on the information available at that time, on the 
balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a risk to public 
safety. 

 
7.8 All licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with serious 

matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. At Durham 
County Council, this role has been delegated to senior officers and managers 
with responsibility for the licensing service. 

 
 

8. Partnership Working 
 

8.1 The Council will actively engage and seek to work in partnership with the 
following agencies, groups, and individuals to promote the licensing 
objectives: 

 
a) Members of the local hackney carriage and private hire trade 
b) Taxi working groups 
c) Durham Constabulary 
d) Other Council departments 
e) Disability groups 

Page 100



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 11 

f) Regional licensing groups  
g) Any other appropriate formation which may contribute to the promotion 

of the objectives 
 
 

9. Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 
 

9.1 To achieve the above standard the Council will endeavour to comply with the 
duties and obligations under the following legislation: 

 
a) The Equality Act 2010 
b) Human Rights Act 1998 

 
9.2 Providers of transport services by way of hackney carriage and private hire 

vehicles are now deemed to be providers of services to the public for the 
purposes of Part 3 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
9.3 A Statutory Code of Practice - Service, Public Functions and Associations - 

has been issued and provides guidance on specific issues associated with the 
Act. Licence holders should read this code and ensure they operate in 
accordance with it. As it is a statutory code, approved by Parliament it is 
admissible under the Act and Courts must take them into account where 
relevant. 

 
9.4 Following the information provided in the Code may help transport providers 

avoid adverse court judgements – it includes examples of good practice – but 
it is not a complete or authoritative statement of the law and is not a substitute 
for taking appropriate advice. Ultimately, the Courts will provide authoritative 
interpretation of the Code. 

 
9.5 Where a disabled person believes they have been discriminated against the 

main remedies available are damages including compensation for injuries to 
feelings, an injunction, and a declaration, however the claimant should seek 
independent legal advice before commencing any claim.  

 
9.6 It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles always 

have the appropriate equipment to be able to transport passengers in 
wheelchairs. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended until such time as 
the Council considers the vehicle is fit for purpose).  

 
9.7 Licensed drivers are under a duty to carry a passenger’s guide/assistance, 

hearing, and other prescribed assistance dog in their vehicles without 
additional charge. Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by 
exposure to dogs may apply to the Council for an exemption from the duty on 
medical grounds. 

 
9.8 A medical certificate must be provided at the driver’s expense, from the 

drivers own GP which demonstrates the driver has a genuine medical 

Page 101



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 12 

condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs. This evidence should be in 
the form of a blood test, a skin prick test or clinical history. If granted, the 
Council will issue a tactile notice of exemption which must be displayed in any 
licensed vehicle driven by the driver and must be made available for 
inspection upon request and a register will be kept of exempt drivers. 

 
9.9 Under the Equality Act 2010, the council will make and hold a list of 

wheelchair accessible vehicles (designated vehicles). The Act requires the 

drivers of those vehicles to carry passengers in wheelchairs, aid those 

passengers and prohibits them from charging extra. The relevant 

requirements of the Act do not apply to drivers who have a valid exemption 

certificate, which must be displayed in the vehicle. The Department for 

Transport has published statutory guidance, Access for Wheelchair Users to 

Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. This guidance has been issued to assist 

councils in the implementation of legal provisions intended to assist 

passengers in wheelchairs in their use of designated taxi and private hire 

vehicle services.  

 
9.10 The Equality Act 2010 makes clear that if carrying a passenger in a     

wheelchair, there cannot be any extra charge for doing so. This means that a 

taxi meter should not be started or left running whilst the driver performs 

duties required by the Act or as the passenger enters, leaves, or secures their 

wheelchair within the passenger compartment. 

 
9.11 Persons who breach duties imposed by the Equality Act may be guilty of a 

criminal offence. 
 
9.12 Further information is available from the Equality and Human Rights 

Commission.  
 
 

10. Conditions 
 

10.1 The Council can impose such conditions as it deems necessary in relation to 
the grant or a renewal of any licence except a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence. 

   
10.2 Standard conditions relating to licences are included in the appendices.  In 

addition, the Council may impose additional conditions, where considered 
necessary or appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
 

11. Enforcement 
 

11.1 Licensing Enforcement Officers will undertake enforcement activities on 
behalf of the Council in accordance with the departmental enforcement policy. 
This policy can be accessed via the Council’s website. 

Page 102



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 13 

 
 

12. Other Regulatory Regimes 
 

12.1 Other statutory requirements may apply to the provision of any regulated 
activities provided by a licensed vehicle or at premises, and the responsibility 
for compliance rests with the licence holder and / or proprietor. 

 
 

13. Decision Making 
 

13.1 The powers of the Council will be exercised in accordance with this policy and 
as delegated through the Council’s Constitution.   

 
13.2 The Council will make all decisions in relation to licensing matters on their 

own merits.  
 
13.3 The Council will provide reasons for all decisions that it makes. 

 
 

14 Complaints Procedure 
 

14.1 Durham County Council expects high standards of conduct and behaviour 
from the hackney carriage and private hire trade and all licence holders 
should always maintain these standards.  

 
14.2 It is recognised that there may be occasions when members of the public or 

the trade may make complaints about licensed drivers, operators, and 
vehicles. Complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
Complaints procedures. Information about how to make a complaint will be 
displayed within the licensed vehicle and on the Council’s website. 

 
14.3 Durham County Council recognises that some complaints can be frivolous, 

vexatious, and repetitious. Such complaints will not normally be pursued. 
Under these circumstances, reasons why the complaint has not been 
investigated, followed-up or acted upon will usually be provided. 

 
14.4 Members of the licensed trade will be expected to provide reasonable levels 

of assistance and cooperation to officers when carrying out their 
investigations. A failure to assist or cooperate may result in actions being 
taken against individuals and organisations where it is appropriate and 
possible to do so.  

 
14.5 Following completion of the investigation all parties will normally receive 

confirmation of any action taken. 
 
14.6 If any party is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation the Council 

has a Corporate Complaints Procedure.  

Page 103



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 14 

 
 

15 Vehicle Licence Holders 
 

15.1 The Council has discretion over the types of vehicle that it can licence as 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles. In setting the standard vehicle 
conditions the Council has taken account of passenger needs. Any application 
for a new vehicle licence will only be considered if it complies with the policy 
and conditions set out by the Council in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4 of this 
policy. 

 
15.2 Category A and B “write offs” will not be licensed as Hackney Carriage or 

Private Hire Vehicles. 
 

15.3 All vehicles shall have an appropriate ‘type approval’ which is either: 
 

 European Whole Vehicle Type approval 

 British National Type approval; or 

 British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) 
 

This paragraph will specifically apply to special vehicles as identified in 
Appendix 4. 

 
15.4 From the adoption of this policy all licensed vehicles will be subject to the 

requirements of paragraph 4.0 of this policy. 
 
15.5 Any material displayed on the vehicle other than self-promotional information 

must be approved by the Licensing Manager or a Licensing Team Leader. 
Examples of the material and its proposed placement must be forwarded to 
the Licensing Manager and Licensing Team Leader for their consideration 
and approval prior to being displayed on the vehicle.  

 
15.6 Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be displayed on 

the front doors or in such a manner which may obscure or detract from the 
Council signage or vehicle top sign. NOTE – such material may be applied to 
the lower door or sill if it does not obscure or detract from the Council livery. 

 
15.7 Any approved advertising should not conflict with the Licensing Objectives 

and should comply with the requirements of the Advertising Standards 
Agency. Advertising in this context does not include such information as the 
name and contact details that relate to the private hire or hackney carriage 
company or proprietor that owns or operates the vehicle. Such details are to 
be regarded as self-promotional information. Self-promotional information in 
this context does not lend itself to any other interests outside the owner or 
operator’s private hire or hackney carriage company.  

 
15.8 Testing - Prior to being licensed all vehicles must have been successfully 

tested with the preceding six months. All new vehicles must be presented for 

Page 104



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 15 

an inspection at one of the Council’s appointed testing stations prior to being 
licensed, subject to meeting all the requirements of the test a Certificate of 
Compliance, which lasts for one year, will be issued if the vehicle is to be 
used on a public highway.  

 
NB the Certificate of Compliance exempts a licensed vehicle from requiring a 
MOT test certificate. However, proprietors must be aware if the vehicle licence 
is surrendered, suspended, revoked, or not renewed the vehicle must have a 
MOT certificate in place. There may also be other circumstances when the 
lack of an MOT test certificate may render the use of the vehicle on the 
highway unlawful.  The onus of responsibility in this matter rests with the 
vehicle’s owner and or driver, not Durham County Council.  
 

15.9 A licensed vehicle will be required to be tested twice annually. However, if the 
vehicle is over 10 years old at the time of renewal it will be required to be 
tested three times annually. 

 
15.10 Post- accident inspection and testing - In cases where a licensed vehicle has 

been in an accident and is suspended, a post-accident inspection test will be 
required.  

 
15.11 Where a post-accident inspection and test is required, in cases when there is 

less than 6-weeks before the next scheduled test is due, the vehicle proprietor 
will be offered the option of carrying out the post-accident inspection and test 
in place of the next scheduled test.  

 
15.12 Licence holders will normally be sent correspondence from Licensing 

Services in advance of the expiry of their licence. They should apply to renew 
the licence using the online form via the Council’s website where they can 
also specify a preferred date and time for the vehicle fitness test.  Licensing 
Services on receipt of the application will arrange and confirm with the 
applicant the vehicle fitness test. Upon meeting all the requirements of the 
test, a Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one year will be issued. Even 
in the absence of a reminder, the onus of responsibility for renewals rests with 
the licence holder. 

 
15.13 All tests (and retests where applicable) must be paid for prior to the vehicle 

being presented. A failure to attend an appointed test date will normally result 
in a charge being imposed. 

 
15.14 Serious or repeated test failures may indicate poor vehicle maintenance. In 

such cases it may be necessary to refer the vehicle proprietor and / or driver 
to the Council’s Licensing Committee to determine matters associated with 
ongoing suitability.  

 
15.15 Vehicle licence holders who fail to present their vehicles for test or who re-

schedule their test for a date which is later than has been scheduled, will have 

Page 105



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 16 

their vehicle licence suspended. Where appointments have been re-
scheduled for an earlier date and time, no action will be taken.  

 
15.16 Window Tints - Window tints shall comply with the following 

 
a) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted through 

b) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

c) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them. Rear windows must be of manufacturers standard for 
the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will not be accepted 

 
15.17 The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that is 

darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed in this 
policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated with 
changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of vehicles 
manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  

 
15.18 Temporary Replacement Vehicles - The Council will allow the temporary 

licensing of vehicles in cases where an existing licensed vehicle suffers 
mechanical failure or accident damage which results in it having to be taken 
off the road for a period. Temporary replacement vehicles, which will not be 
subject to colour conditions, may be licensed for a period not exceeding two 
months. 

 
15.19 If a Licensed vehicle is damaged in an accident or by any other means, the 

licence holder must report the damage to Licensing Services as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours. An examination will 
determine whether the vehicle is roadworthy or in need of repair and an 
accident damage form will be completed.  If the vehicle has sustained major 
damage, then the location of the vehicle must be given so that it may be 
inspected by an Authorised Officer. 

 
15.20 If the vehicle has sustained minor damage the vehicle licence holder will be 

given 14 days to repair the vehicle and to present it for inspection.   
 
15.21 Special Vehicles - The Council may licence a motorised ‘special’ vehicle as a 

private hire for the carriage of up to eight passengers provided that such a 
vehicle has been issued with at least a Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) 
certificate and that the requirements in these specifications can be satisfied.  
Only an original SVA certificate will be accepted by the Council as proof of the 
vehicle satisfying the requirements to obtain that approval.  

 
15.22 Prior to any licence being issued a vehicle compliance certificate must be 

issued by the Council. Where the vehicle is unable to be tested at a Council 
test centre, alternative testing arrangement must be made by the applicant.  
All costs associated with obtaining the relevant approvals or tests must be met 
by the vehicle proprietor. 

Page 106



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 17 

 
15.23 When imported into this country the importer must produce a declaration from 

the testing authority (DVSA) that the vehicle will never carry more than eight 
passengers. 

 
15.24 Exemptions - Section 75(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 1976 allows local authorities to grant exemptions to private hire vehicles 
from displaying licence plates and other prescribed livery. 

 
15.25 The Council has decided that for the purpose of this policy, they consider the 

use of a higher standard and more luxurious vehicle used exclusively for the 
purposes of carrying passengers under a written contract to be the minimum 
standard for an application not to display a licence plate and other 
identification livery to be considered.   

 
15.26 The Council will not exercise its discretion in granting this exemption for any 

vehicle which is to be used for any other purpose than as described above.  
 
15.27 The booking of a vehicle regardless of its “standard” for the purposes of 

carrying passengers to special events, airport services, celebrations, or nights 
out not under a written contract is routine private hire work and will not satisfy 
the criteria for consideration of the exemption. For the avoidance of doubt, 
transportation contracts issued by e.g. the NHS, Durham County Council 
passenger transport team etc will not satisfy the criteria for exemption. 

 
15.28 Applicants for an exemption from displaying licence plates and other livery 

may also apply to be exempt from the Councils colour policy. 
 
15.29 If the owner of a vehicle wishes to ask the Council to exercise its discretion to 

exempt the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and other identification 
livery they must apply to the Council (Licensing Services) in writing, providing 
evidence to support the application. Applications will be considered and 
determined on an individual basis by senior officers/managers in conjunction 
with the with the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Licensing Committee. 

 
15.30 An exemption from displaying a plate and other identification livery is a 

privilege rather than a right and the benefit of the exemption will be granted at 
the Councils discretion.   

 
15.31 The Council has the power to withdraw the exemption if the related conditions 

are not complied. Council Officers will periodically check booking records to 
ensure compliance with the policy.  

 
15.32 Stretched Limousines - Imported Stretched Limousines are normally 

checked for compliance with British regulations under the Single Vehicle 
Approval (SVA) inspection regime before they are registered. The Authority 
will request sight of the SVA certificate to ensure that the vehicle was tested 
by DVSA before being registered and licensed (taxed) by DVLA. The DVLA 

Page 107



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 18 

test verifies that the converted vehicle is built to certain safety and 
environmental standards. Stretched Limousines that clearly have more than 
eight passenger seats will not be licensed as PHV’s because they are outside 
the licensing regime for PHV’s. 

 
 

16 Vehicle Insurance 
 

16.1 Proprietors of licensed vehicles must ensure that a valid insurance policy, 
providing the relevant level of cover, is in place throughout the period a 
vehicle is licensed. This insurance policy must be in place before a licence 
can be granted. Where the policy covers several licensed vehicles, proprietors 
must also produce the schedule showing the list of insured vehicles.  

 
16.2 Hackney carriages must be insured for public hire purposes. Private hire 

vehicles must be insured for private hire purposes. 
 
16.3 Proof of continuous vehicle insurance must be provided, in a clearly legible 

form, to Licensing Services by the vehicle proprietor.  Proof of continuous 
insurance should also be produced upon request by an authorised officer of 
the Council.  Where valid insurance is not provided or produced upon request 
vehicle licences will be suspended.  

 

 

17 Transfer of Interest  
 

17.1 The proprietor shall notify the Council on the appropriate form within 14 days 
from change of ownership, giving the name and address of the new 
proprietor, if the interest or part interest in the vehicle is transferred to another 
person not currently named on the licence.  

 
17.2 If the interest is transferred to a person currently named on the licence, the 

Council should be advised to remove the outgoing proprietor.  
 
17.3 The new proprietor shall complete the appropriate application form and will be 

requested to provide the following documents to the Council:  
 

a) Vehicle registration document (V5C) in new proprietor’s name. If this 
has not yet been received then, once the application has been 
submitted, 28 days will be given to produce the appropriate V5C 
document.  

b) Valid certificate of motor insurance.  
c) Details of the operator of the vehicle (private hire only).  

 
 

Page 108



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 19 

18. Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ with the Keeping, Employing 
and Letting of Vehicles  

 

18.1 Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council, using the appropriate form within 
72 hours, if there is a change to the person who is named on the licence as 
being concerned with the keeping, employing, and letting of the vehicle. 

 
 

19. Drivers 
 

19.1 Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a hackney 
carriage or private hire driver’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet the 
criteria for new drivers as outlined in this policy and are fit and proper 
persons.  

 
19.2 In determining whether a driver is fit and proper, the Council will consider 

various criteria, which will include such things as: the applicant’s relevant 
skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications, medical fitness, criminal record, 
and any previous history as a licence holder in accordance with Appendix 1 
and Appendix 2. 

 
19.3 Drivers who are intending to operate wheelchair accessible vehicles should 

complete a course which should provide instruction to drivers on the correct 
procedures for clamping and restraining a wheelchair and other relevant 
aspects of carrying passengers with a disability. The cost of the training will 
be met by the applicant.  

 
19.4 The Council expects all drivers to behave in a civil and professional manner. 

They should be polite, helpful, and respectful to members of the public, the 
Police, Council employees, other public officials and other licensed drivers, 
this includes on social media platforms. Failure to do so may result in a 
referral to the Council’s Licensing Committee. 
 

19.5 Whilst using any licensed vehicle drivers must not engage in any sexual 
activity with or without their passengers, make inappropriate physical contact 
or make inappropriate comments of a sexual nature. 
 

19.6 The Council will not normally determine a new driver application where there 
are any outstanding legal proceedings until such proceedings are disposed of. 
This includes ongoing investigations, pending cases and appeals. The 
Council will endeavour to refer any application where there are any 
outstanding legal proceedings to the next available licensing committee.  

 
19.7 Following an appearance at committee, a direction will be made in any notice 

of decision as to any future referral to the licensing committee following the 
outcome of any legal hearing this is to include occasions where an individual 
is completely exonerated or charges being unsubstantiated. 

 

Page 109



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 20 

19.8 Because of the number of drivers with cautions and/or convictions for drug 
related offences, the Council may require drug tests on drivers on an 
intelligence led basis. (See Appendix 2) 

 
19.9 If a driver wants to carry out home to school contract work on behalf of the 

Council, they should contact the Council’s Sustainable Transport Department 
via email at IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk 
 
 

20. Private Hire Operators 
 

20.1 Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a private hire 
operator’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet the criteria outlined in 
this policy. 

 
20.2 In determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person, the Council will 

consider the applicant’s criminal record and any previous history as a licence 
holder in accordance with Appendix 2 and Appendix 5. 

 
20.3 A private hire operator licence will only be granted to an address within the 

area administered by Durham County Council. 
 
 

21. Licence Fees 
 

21.1 The Council will set fees for licences at a level that will recover the costs 
recoverable under statute, incurred by the Council for issue, administration, 
control, and supervision of that type of licence. 

 
21.2 Where refunds are due to any licence holder or applicant, they will normally 

be calculated on a pro-rata basis and an administration charge deducted. 
 

 

22. Hackney Carriage Fares Policy 
 

22.1 When setting hackney carriage fares the Council will have regard to: 
 
a) The needs of the travelling public and what it is reasonable to expect 

people to pay 
b) The need to give the trade enough incentive to provide a service at the 

times when it is demanded 
 

22.2 Once a table of fares has been approved by the Council, any request for a 
review of that table of fares would not normally be considered for a period of 
at least 12 months. 

 

Page 110

mailto:IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 21 

22.3 The Council supports the practice of drivers of licensed vehicles requesting 
advance payment of fares; this does not remove any requirement for the 
taximeter to be used on such occasions.  
 
 

23. Review 
 

23.1 This policy will be reviewed at least every 5 years. However, the Council may 
also make such revisions as it considers appropriate and publish it 
accordingly. 

 
23.2 The Council from time to time will prepare and review procedures covering 

aspects of hackney carriage and private hire licensing including both 
enforcement and administration processes. 
 
 

24. Contact Us 
 

24.1 Licensing Services can be contacted via e-mail at the following  
e-mail addresses:   

 For Licensing Administration please use Licensing@durham.gov.uk 

 For Licensing Enforcement please use 
Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 

 
 

Page 111

mailto:Licensing@durham.gov.uk
mailto:Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 22 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 112



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 23 

 

Appendix 1: Drivers 
 

An application for a driver licence must be made on the specified form. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be granted subject to proof of eligibility and all other 
application criteria being met. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be renewed subject to all application criteria being met and 
consideration of the applicant’s continuing suitability. 
 
A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period up to three years, (or less as the 
Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances).   
 
When a driver license is granted the license holder will be issued with two 
identification cards (badges). These must both be displayed when the driver is 
available for hire or carrying passengers. One “badge” must be worn on the body of 
the driver the other being displayed in a prominent place in the vehicle where it can 
be easily seen by any passenger.  
 

Eligibility 
 

The Council will, in considering whether an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver license require the applicant to meet the criteria set out below. 
 
a) Qualification - The applicant will be required to provide proof that they have 

held a full UK drivers licence, or equivalent, for a period of not less than 12 
months prior to the application being submitted. A full DVLA driving licence 
showing the applicants current address must be produced. 

  
b) Driving Assessment - The applicant will be required to provide evidence that 

they have passed a suitable and satisfactory driver assessment test designed 
to assess the driving competency of hackney carriage and private hire drivers. 
The Council holds a list of approved driving assessment providers which have 
been subject to Council vetting and approval.  

 
c) Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests -Applicants for hackney carriage 

driver licences will be required to undertake both the Council’s knowledge and 
locality tests. Applicants for private hire driver licences will be required to 
undertake the Council’s knowledge test. Applicants will be required to 
demonstrate basic oral and written English language skills to pass these tests. 
The knowledge test will also include a section on basic numeracy. Testing will 
be carried out in accordance with guidance issued by the council and may be 
reviewed from time to time. All applicants claiming dyslexia, or any form of 
learning difficulty will be required to provide medical proof of the condition e.g. 
screening results, to enable extra forms of help or assistance to be afforded.  

 

Page 113



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 24 

d) Medical Fitness - Under Section 57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 the Council may require an applicant for a driver’s 
licence to produce a certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to 
the effect that they are physically and mentally fit to be the driver of a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle.  
 
The Council requires a medical certificate upon an initial application for a 
driver’s licence. In addition, or in place of such a certificate the Council may 
require an applicant to submit to examination by a registered medical 
practitioner selected by the Council as to their fitness to be a driver of a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle.  
 
In line with Department of Transport guidelines, the Council applies the DVLA 
Group 2 driver standards for the medical fitness of hackney carriage and 
private hire drivers. This is a higher medical standard than that required of 
drivers of other motor vehicles and is required due to the length of time the 
driver may spend at the wheel and the responsibility they have for the safety 
of their passengers and the public.  
 
Upon an initial application for a driver’s licence the applicant shall produce a 
completed medical examination report provided by the Council. This report 
must be completed by the applicant’s own G.P. or a medical practitioner with 
access to the applicant’s full medical history. The applicant is responsible for 
paying the fee for the examination. If the Council requires any further 
information in respect of any matter identified in the medical report the Council 
may either contact the G.P. direct or request the applicant to obtain the 
information.  

 
During the initial application process the medical examination report will be 
deemed valid for a period of 6 months after which, if the application process is 
still ongoing, either a new medical form or a letter from the G.P. who carried 
out the original medical assessment, confirming that there has been no 
change in the medical fitness of the applicant, will be required.  

 
The medical practitioner must confirm that:  

 They have examined the applicant 

 The applicant is registered with the practice and/or they have full 
access to the applicant’s full medical records 

 The medical examination was carried out to the DVLA’s Group 2 
standard  

 They consider the applicant meets Group 2 standard and to be fit to act 
as the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 

  
Existing licensees aged 45 years and over must provide a medical 
examination report as evidence of their medical fitness to hold a licence every 
5 years and from the age of 65 years, annually.  
 

Page 114



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 25 

If a driver has any change in their medical condition or a medical condition 
that requires notification to the DVLA e.g. sleep apnea, heart attack, stroke 
etc. they shall also be required to notify the Council as soon as possible and 
confirm in writing within 7 days.  
 
In addition to the above requirements, where a driver suffers from a condition 
that requires monitoring, but which would not prevent them from driving, they 
are required to provide written confirmation from their G.P. or consultant at 
intervals, as recommended by the DVLA standards, that they continue to 
meet Group 2 standards and remain fit to carry out the duties of a licensed 
driver.  
 
Applicants with insulin treated diabetes may be licensed but will be required to 
meet the criteria contained in the medical fitness to drive guidelines and if a 
license is granted will then be subject to the submission of an annual medical 
report from a consultant specialising in treating diabetes.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of a new applicant, a 
hackney carriage or private hire driver’s license will not be granted.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of an existing licensed 
hackney carriage or private hire driver, there may be reasonable cause to 
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence under Section 61 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
e) Safeguarding including CSE Awareness - Applicants will be required to 

attend a Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) awareness 
training course.    

 
All drivers must undergo Safeguarding awareness training (including Child 
Sexual Exploitation awareness) before being licensed. We consider that this 
training is so important that all drivers should undergo refresher training 
periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, all existing 
licensed drivers must undergo CSE awareness refresher training before their 
licence is renewed, if they have not already received CSE awareness training 
(or CSE awareness refresher training) within the previous 3 years. 

 
These programmes have been developed to help drivers to:  

 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all 
ages 

 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding 
concerns and where to get advice. 

 
f) Disability Awareness Training - Applicants will be required to attend a 

disability awareness training course.   
 

Page 115



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 26 

All drivers must undergo disability awareness training before being licensed. 
We consider that this training is so important that all drivers should undergo 
refresher training periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, 
all existing licensed drivers must undergo disability awareness refresher 
training before their licence is renewed, if they have not already received 
disability awareness training within the previous 3 years. 

 
g) Suitability - The Council must be satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper 

person to hold a driver licence. Applicants must undergo a Driver Vehicle 
Licensing Agency (DVLA) check and an enhanced Disclosure & Barring 
Service (DBS) check which will check both adult and child barred lists. 
Applicants will also be required to subscribe to the DBS update service and 
ensure continuity.   

 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct/character from the relevant Embassy or Consulate.   

 
The Council requires all applicants who have resided in the country for less 
than five years to obtain a DBS or equivalent and a Certificate of Good 
Conduct / Character from their relevant Embassy or Consulate which must be 
authenticated, translated, and sealed by the Embassy or Consulate. Any 
expenses incurred must be met by the applicant.  

 
Additional information will be considered as appropriate. For example, all 
applications will be subject to a right-to-work check under the Immigration Act 
2016. 

 
h) National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3) -  

The Licensing Authority provides information to the National Register of Taxi 
Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3), a mechanism for Licensing 
Authorities to share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage or 
private hire driver licence revoked, or an application for one refused. This is a 
requirement for assessing whether an individual is a fit and proper person to 
hold a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence. Therefore:  

 

 Where a hackney carriage/ PHV Driver licence is revoked, or an 
application for one refused, the authority will automatically record this 
decision on NR3.  

 

 All applications for a new driver licence or licence renewal will 
automatically be checked on NR3. If a search of NR3 indicates a match 
with an applicant, the authority will seek further information about the 
entry on the register from the authority which recorded it. Any 
information received because of an NR3 search will only be used in 
respect of the specific licence application and will not be retained 
beyond the determination of that application. 

 

Page 116



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 27 

 Language proficiency - If there is any doubt about an applicant’s 
ability to communicate in English, (spoken and / or written), they will be 
required to undertake and pass an English Speaking for Other 
Languages, (ESOL), course, the cost of which is to be covered by the 
applicant. 

 

Continuing Suitability and Renewal Process 
 

The ongoing suitability of a licence holder will be monitored.  In addition, the 
following specific checks will be carried out upon renewal, or at any other time 
deemed necessary by the Council: 
 
a) DVLA check 
b) DBS update service (if a driver is no longer subscribed to the DBS update 

service at the time of making an application for renewal, they will be required 
to apply for a new DBS certificate and subscribe to the update service prior to 
a renewal application being processed and a licence granted) 

c) Notification of Convictions/Cautions/Arrest/Ongoing or Pending prosecutions 
or investigations etc. This is to include motoring fixed penalties and antisocial 
behaviour notices and attendance of any speed awareness courses  

d) Private hire licence holders must notify the Licensing Authority within 48 hours 
of their arrest and release, charge or conviction for any sexual offence, any 
offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. (We 
strongly recommend and encourage hackney carriage licence holders to do 
the same). An arrest for any of the offences within this scope will result in a 
review by the Licensing Authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to 
continue to do so  

e) Checks carried out because of information or intelligence received by 
Licensing Services 

f) Periodic medical examination 
g) Periodic safeguarding including CSE awareness training  
h) Periodic disability awareness training 
i) Right-to-work / immigration checks  
j) Check of the National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations 

(NR3) 
k) Requirement to undertake a driver improvement scheme 

 
NB Under no circumstances will a licence be issued until such time as all required 
checks are completed and supporting paperwork produced to licensing staff. All 
costs associated with medical checks and certification to be met by the applicant or 
licence holder. 
 
At each renewal the DVLA driving licence photographic card must be produced, this 
must be valid and must bear the correct address for the applicant; failure to produce 
this will result in the application not being processed. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their 
licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. 

Page 117



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 28 

Note: Although, a reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the 
licence holder’s sole responsibility to ensure their renewal application is 
received prior to the expiry date of the licence. To avoid any delays, Applicants 
are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at least 10-working days prior 
to the expiry.  
 
Late renewal applications - This policy clearly outlines what is required for a renewal 
application for each type of licence, and at what point the application will be 
accepted. This includes specific information, e.g. DBS certificates, medicals, 
immigration documents etc. This aims to reduce any possibility of disputes over 
whether a valid renewal application has been made. 
 
This policy covers the question of late renewal applications. In R (on the application 
of Exeter City Council) v Sandle [2011] LLR 480 Admin Crt. It was accepted that an 
application to renew a vehicle licence could still be made after the licence had 
expired, provided two criteria were met. We will apply the same reasoning and 
principles to driver and operator licences. 
 
Firstly, the application had to be made within a short time of expiry (the judge 
mentioned two or three days before it should not be accepted); and secondly, there 
must also be a good reason for the delay in applying before expiry. The judge also 
made the point that any condition on the licence (which should derive from the 
council’s policy) would be significant. Collins J stated: 
 

“But I must make it clear that if it is apparent from the conditions that the 
application has to be made within the period the licence is in force, it will take 
very strong case and very exceptional circumstances for an applicant who 
fails to make his application for renewal in time to be able to justify a claim 
that the council ought in the circumstances to have granted his licence. Such 
exceptional circumstances can exist and as I say it would be sensible for a 
council to give two or three days at least before taking the step of deciding to 
grant it [in this case a hackney carriage proprietor’s licence] to someone else”. 

 
It is the policy of Durham County Council that we will accept a late renewal 
application made within 3-working days of the expiry date. Any application received 
after that period will not be processed unless the applicant can provide exceptional 
circumstances and good reasons for the delay. These will be considered by officers 
with management responsibility for the Licensing Service. 
 
Important – when a driver licence has expired, until or unless a new licence 
has been granted, you must not drive a licensed vehicle.  
 

Voluntary return of licence (surrender of licence) 
 
The introduction of the National Register (NR3) has brought into sharp focus the 
need to resolve any outstanding issues prior to the acceptance of any surrendered 
licence.  If there are any matters which bring into question whether a driver is fit and 
proper to hold a licence, then the Council may exercise its discretion in refusing to 

Page 118



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 29 

accept a surrender of the licence. Such matters could include for example, alleged 
misconduct, ongoing criminal investigations, and complaints etc. This list is not 
exhaustive. 
 

Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence 
 

The licensed driver shall: 
 
a) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within seven 

days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material including but not 
limited to: 

 
(i) Change of address 
(ii) Change of name 
(iii) Change of private hire operator  
(iv) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving a Criminal 

Behaviour Order (CBO), attendance at any speed awareness course 
(v) Injury sustained or illness including mental health illness that may alter 

their medical status in line with DVLA Group II standards or affect their 
driving ability 

(vi) Details of any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received 
 

b) Notify the Council within 48 hours of being arrested/bailed/charged 
with/convicted of, reported for an offence, or otherwise investigated in 
connection with any criminal or motoring offence. 

c) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within 48 hours, 
of any traffic accident they are involved in whilst driving a licensed vehicle. 

d) Apply for and provide a DBS disclosure upon request. 
e) Provide a copy of their DVLA driving licence or equivalent upon reasonable 

request. 
f) Produce a valid medical certificate, upon request (Failure to do so will result in 

the licence being suspended). 
g) When requested attend a medical practitioner and/or submit to any drug test 

deemed appropriate. 
h) Always behave in a professional manner when working. 
i) Keep their vehicles always clean and suitable for use by members of the 

public. 
j) Where appropriate, assist passengers into and out of vehicles. 
k) Offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage. 
l) Bring to the attention of passengers any dangers associated with egress from 

the vehicle. 
m) Ensure that the way they carry out their business is such that no 

unreasonable disturbance is caused to other road users, businesses and 
residents.   

n) To behave in a civil and professional manner. They should be polite, helpful 
and respectful to members of the public, the Police, Council employees, other 
public officials and other licensed drivers, this includes on social media 

Page 119



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 30 

platforms. Failure to do so may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing 
Committee. 

o) Not tamper with, or permit any person to tamper with, any taximeter or its 
fittings. 

p) Display the identification badges issued to them in the manner prescribed 
within this policy.   

q) Report the loss of their private hire driver identification badge to the Council 
immediately. 

r) Ensure that they charge passengers only the fare previously agreed between 
the operator and passenger, if a taximeter is used only the fare displayed on 
the taxi meter at the end of the journey can be charged, unless a lower fare is 
previously agreed with the passenger. 

s) Provide a receipt to a passenger upon request, the receipt shall as a minimum 
include: 

 
(i) The fare 
(ii) Pick up location 
(iii) Destination 
(iv) Operator Name 
(v) Driver/Vehicle number 
(vi) Date 
(vii) Time 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 120



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 31 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and Licence 
Holders for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences  
 

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution, or any 
other relevant information including complaints and intelligence 
 

Licence holders and applicants for driver, vehicle and operator licences are required 
to disclose all convictions, fixed penalty notices and cautions, including those that 
would in other circumstances be regarded as spent under the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974, subject to Schedule 2 of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 as amended. This order creates categories of 
‘protected cautions’ and ‘protected convictions’, which applicants and licensees must 
be treated as not having committed, or been charged with, or prosecuted for, or 
convicted of, or sentenced for, even though ‘spent’ cautions and convictions may be 
taken into account. 
 
Licence holders and applicants must also disclose details of any ongoing 
investigations and any pending prosecutions. This includes being reported for an 
offence, any arrest and subsequent bail where charges have not been laid. 
 
The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will normally prevent an 
applicant from obtaining a licence until such time, in accordance with the following 
paragraphs, has elapsed since the conviction. 
 
In making its decision the Council will consider the relevance of any offence, the 
seriousness of the offence, the length of time since the offence occurred and any 
pattern of offending behaviour or other complaints. 
 
Whilst there is no definition of a fit and proper person, the Department for Transport 
Guidance suggests for licensed drivers, that the Council is effectively asking the 
following question:   
 
“Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a 
person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle 
driven by this person at any time of day or night?” 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be fit 
and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether a vehicle proprietor is deemed to 
be fit and proper: 
 

Page 121



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 32 

“Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle 
that can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing suspicion, 
and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal or other 
unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it to an 
acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence?” 
 
Licensing authorities must make difficult decisions, but the safeguarding of the public 
is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be 
made on the balance of probability. This means that an applicant or licensee should 
not be ‘given the benefit of doubt’. If the committee or delegated officer is only 
“50/50” as to whether the applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not 
hold a licence. The threshold used here is lower than for a criminal conviction (that 
being beyond reasonable doubt) and can take into consideration conduct that has 
not resulted in a criminal conviction. 
 
The Council considers all offences to be relevant offences (subject to the above 
Exemptions Order) when considering the suitability of a person to hold or retain a 
licence. 
 
The following types of offence will be viewed as serious (in no order of priority): 
 
a) Dishonesty  
b) Violence (including Criminal Damage & Sexual Offences) 
c) Alcohol Related Offences 
d) Public Order Offences 
e) Motoring Offences 
f) Possession of or Possession with the Intent to Supply controlled substances 
g) Obscenity (which includes the possession, making or distribution of unlawful 

obscene images / materials on computer or the internet) 
h) Racially or religiously aggravated offences 
i) Offences of a discriminatory nature 
j) Offences involving Indecency or other offences of a Sexual Nature 
k) Contravention of Licensing Laws or Conditions 
l) Disqualification from driving a motor vehicle at any time in the three years 

prior to applying for a licence  
m) Offences involving animal cruelty 
n) Criminal Behaviour Orders 
o) Offences subject to the Equality Act 2010 
p) Inclusion on any of the barred lists  
 

Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following a 
conviction / caution and the ongoing suitability of Licence Holders 
 

If an applicant has been convicted of a criminal or motoring offence within the time 
periods specified below the Council will normally refuse an application. These 
offences will also be used to consider the ongoing suitability of existing licence 
holders. In the following list the term ‘applicant’ and ‘application’ refers to both new 
applicants for a licence and to existing licence holders. 

Page 122



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 33 

 
Please note:  Minor offences/convictions relating to driving will not be considered 
when determining if applicants for vehicle and operator licenses meet the ‘fit and 
proper’ threshold. 
 

Motoring offences 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit 
the granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may 
indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and 
one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offences - These are offences which do 
not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst 
using a mobile phone and have not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any 
property including vehicles.  
 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licence for minor 
traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or 
similar offences, they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme at 
their own expense. The Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of the 
driving improvement scheme. If the driver assessment results indicates a score of 65 
or higher indicating a high risk or unsafe driving or unsafe driving then the driver will 
be referred to Licensing Committee for Members to determine their suitability. 
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence - These are ones which are not 
covered above and any offences which resulted in injury to any person or damage to 
any property including vehicles. They also involve driving without insurance or any 
offences connected with motor insurance.  
 
All major traffic offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not be granted until 
at least seven years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle - a licence will not be granted 
until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs - a licence will not be granted until 
at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving 
ban imposed. In the case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may 
also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they 
are not using controlled drugs.  

Page 123



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 34 

 
Crimes / motoring offences resulting in death - Where an applicant has been 
convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of another person or was intended 
to cause the death or serious injury of another person, they will not be licensed.  
 

Exploitation - Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime involving, related 
to, or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another 
individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they 
will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, 
grooming, psychological, emotional, or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive 
list.  
 
Offences involving violence against the person - Where an applicant has a 
conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or connected with any 
offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Possession of a weapon - Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a 
weapon or any other weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted until at 
least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Sexual offences - Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or 
connected with illegal sexual activity, a licence will not be granted.  
 
In addition to the above, the Licensing Authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.  
 
Dishonesty - Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty 
is an element of the offence including: 
 
a) Theft 
b) Burglary 
c) Fraud 
d) Benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social Security 

Administration Act 1992) 
e) Handling or receiving stolen goods 
f) Forgery 
g) Conspiracy to defraud 
h) Obtaining money or property by deception 
i) Other deception 
j) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 
 
A failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the Licensing Authority is 
subsequently advised of might be behaviour that questions honesty and therefore 
the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial allegation. 
 
A licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 

Page 124



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 35 

 
NOTE: Any inaccuracies, or failure to record or report convictions, will 
normally result in the refusal of an application.   
  
Drugs - Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, 
or possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to 
supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any 
applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense 
to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Discrimination - Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with 
discrimination in any form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Hackney carriage and private hire offences - Where an applicant has a conviction 
for an offence associated or connected with hackney carriage or private hire activity 
(excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Other violence offences - An application will normally be refused / revoked where 
there is an offence for arson unless ten years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed.  
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless five years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed for any of the following offences: 
 
a) Riot 
b) Obstruction 
c) Criminal damage 
d) Resisting arrest 
e) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
 
Barred lists - In the interests of public safety, Durham County Council’s policy is that 
we will not issue a licence to any individual that appears on either barred list. 
However, should the council consider there to be exceptional circumstances which 
means that, based on the balance of probabilities they consider an individual named 
on a barred list to be ‘fit and proper’, the reasons for reaching this conclusion should 
be recorded. 
 

 
 

Page 125



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 36 

Other Relevant Factors 
 

The Council may consider any other matter or matters that may affect whether an 
applicant or licence holder is a fit and proper person, such factors include but are not 
limited to: 
 
a) Convictions/Cautions for any other offence not listed above 
b) Any diversion scheme offered as an alternative to conviction (i.e. “checkpoint” 

or restorative approach) 
c) Mental Health Act Orders 
d) Police intelligence/information 
e) Drug/Alcohol use and Detoxification 
f) Terrorist offences and terrorism 
g) Hate crimes 
h) Any offence involving the mistreatment of animals 
i) Other relevant information disclosed 
j) Any complaints or the accumulation of complaints regarding a licence holder’s 

conduct 
k) Matters contrary to the requirements of this policy 

 
Note: Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed penalty notices, 
cautions, (subject to the Exceptions Order) and/or ongoing investigations, 
being reported for an offence and/or pending prosecutions may affect the 
grant of a licence or may lead to the revocation of a licence. 

Page 126



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 37 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences 
 
An application for a vehicle licence must be made on the specified form.   
 
Vehicle licences will only be granted subject to all application criteria being met and 
will be valid for a period of one year. 
 
The Council must be satisfied that applicants for vehicle licences are fit and proper 
persons to hold a licence, they pose no threat to the public and have no links to 
serious criminal activity.   
 
If an applicant for a vehicle licence is not already licensed as a driver, and already 
subject to DBS checks, then a basic DBS certificate will be required annually.  If the 
applicant is a limited company, then a basic DBS certificate must be provided by 
each director.  If the applicant is a partnership, then a basic DBS certificate must be 
submitted by each partner.   
Should an individual cease to hold a driver licence then a basic DBS certificate will 
be immediately required. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of the 
vehicle licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. 
Although, a reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the licence holder’s 
sole responsibility to ensure the renewal application is received prior to the expiry 
date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 
 
The following conditions will apply to all vehicles (Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire) licensed by the Council. 
 

Standard Conditions 
 

1. The vehicle shall be right-hand drive and the body must be a fixed head type 
(hard top).  

 
2. Notwithstanding condition 1.5 (below) the vehicle will only be licensed to carry 

the number of passengers specified on the V5 registration document. 
 
3. The design condition or appearance of a licensed vehicle must not be 

changed without first obtaining written consent from the Council any changes 
may require an additional vehicle inspection to be carried out. 

 
4. Where the seats are placed facing each other there must be a clear space of 

38cm subject to a 2cm tolerance between any part of the front of a seat and 
any part of any other seat that faces it.  

 

Page 127



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 38 

5. Occasional (tip-up) seats must be arranged to rise automatically when not in 
use. 

 
6. A fully operational heating and ventilation system must be fitted and 

maintained for the driver and passengers. All vehicle body parts and 
trimmings must be fitted and maintained in good working order both internally 
and externally. 

 
7. Journeys must not be commenced using temporary tyres or tyres that have 

been subject to a temporary repair. 
 
8. Reasonable efforts should be made that in the event of mechanical failure a 

passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable manner in an 
alternative licensed vehicle. 

 
9. The vehicle licence plate must be displayed and securely attached with bolts 

or screws on the outside rear of the vehicle. Attachment by adhesive tape 
and/or magnets is not acceptable. Licence plates must not be altered or 
defaced in any way. The condition of the plate remains the responsibility of 
the licence holder. 
 
The plate remains the property of the Council and must be returned upon 
expiry, surrender or suspension of the vehicle licence. 

 
10. The vehicle must prominently display the following: 

 

 internal licence plate / complaint sticker on each window so it is clearly 
visible in all passenger areas 

 driver I.D.  

 door crests as supplied and required by the Council which shall be 
permanently fixed to the front nearside and offside doors of the vehicle 
in a central position (attachment by magnets is not acceptable) 

 No-smoking signs as required by law 
 

11. Smoking cigarettes, cigars, pipes etc and the use of electronic cigarettes 
(vaping) and similar shall be prohibited in all licensed vehicles all the time.  

 
12. Any material displayed on the vehicle other than self-promotional information 

must be approved by the Licensing Manager or Licensing Team Leader. 
Examples of the material and its proposed placement must be forwarded to 
the Licensing Manager and Licensing Team Leader for their consideration 
and approval.  
 

13. Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be displayed on 
the front doors or in such a manner which may detract from or obscure the 
Council signage or vehicle top sign. NOTE: such material may be applied 
to the lower door or sill if it does not obscure or detract from the 
Council livery. 

Page 128



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 39 

 
14. All vehicles shall undergo an inspection by the Council’s appointed testing 

station(s) as required, subject to the requirements of this policy. See section 
16.0 above. 

 
15. Vehicle proprietors must inform the Council at the earliest opportunity, and in 

writing within 72 hours, if any licensed vehicle has been involved in an 
accident or sustained damage.   

 
16. No fittings, devices or lights may be attached or carried inside or outside the 

vehicle that could injure or harm any passenger or other person either inside 
or outside of the vehicle.  No lights or other fittings shall be permitted on the 
vehicle that would obscure any licence plates or obscure the driver’s or 
passengers’ view out of the vehicle. 

 
17. Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council in writing within seven days of any 

change of address. 
   
18. CCTV shall be permitted in vehicles.  Where such devices are fitted within the 

vehicle conditions at Appendix 8 shall apply 
 
19. No animals other than those owned by fare paying passengers shall be 

carried in any licensed vehicle whilst the vehicle is so engaged under the 
terms of its licence. 

 
20. Window tints shall comply with the following: 
 

a) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted through 
b) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 

transmitted through them 
c) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 

through them. Rear windows must be of manufacturers standard for 
the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will not be accepted 

 
The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that is 
darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed in this 
policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated with 
changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of vehicles 
manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  

 
21.  If carrying a child, the driver MUST ask a responsible adult if they would like 

the child locks activated. The child locks must not be activated in any other 
circumstances 
 
NB Under no circumstances must any passenger be locked in a licensed 
vehicle against their will. 
 

Page 129



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 40 

22. The vehicle may carry a suitable fire extinguisher sited in a readily accessible 
place known to the driver. This is not a requirement but is optional. If carried 
it is recommended that the appliance should have a minimum content of 1 
kilogram, conform to BSEN3 1996 and be of the dry powder or foam type, be 
kept in good condition and be fitted with a gauge which indicates the 
condition of its contents together with an unexpired tested until or use before 
date. If a fire extinguisher is carried, the driver should have received suitable 
and sufficient training to use it.  
 

23. The vehicle may carry a “first aid” kit. This is not a requirement but is optional. 
If carried it is recommended that any items contained in the first aid kit which 
are not sealed are deemed to be unsterile and should be replaced 
immediately. The first aid kit should be permanently marked with the vehicle’s 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence number. As a minimum it 
should contain: 

 

 A leaflet with general guidance on first aid (for example, HSE’s leaflet 
Basic advice on first aid at work) 

 Individually wrapped sterile plasters of assorted sizes 

 Sterile eye pads 

 Individually wrapped triangular bandages, preferably sterile 

 Safety pins 

 Large and medium-sized sterile, individually wrapped, unmedicated 
wound dressings 

 Disposable gloves  
 

24. The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage which 
must be able to be stored securely. Luggage compartment or any attached 
roof rack/box must be free from the proprietors or driver’s personal property, 
so it is available to store passenger’s luggage. Luggage should be stored 
securely and not stored in such a way as to hinder access to a door. 
 

25. There must be at least four doors. All doors must be capable of being opened 
from the inside (subject to activation of a child lock) and outside. 

 
26. The interior of the passenger compartment must be maintained in a clean 

condition and in good repair and where fitted, any parcel shelf shall always 
remain in place. 

 
27. The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-slip 

material. 
 
28. If a trailer is to be used a trailer plate, issued by the Council, must be 

displayed on the trailer. 
 
29. If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods it must be of a type fitted to 

the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the manufacturer and must not 
obscure any top sign. 

Page 130



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 41 

 
30. Before commencing work each day, the driver of the vehicle must take 

reasonable steps to ensure that the vehicle they are driving is roadworthy and 
complies with this policy. This should include checks on lights, tyre pressure 
and tread as a minimum.  
 

31. These checks may be recorded electronically, for example via an app or 
manually using a check book. If the checks are recorded electronically the 
record must be made available upon request. If checks are recorded 
manually, the check book must be carried within the vehicle and be readily 
available for inspection. All records must be dated, signed if possible, by the 
driver and record the mileage at the time the check is carried out.  
 

32. Drivers must not deliver alcohol or tobacco products to any person who is 
under the age of 18. 
 

33 Any screens used must be installed in accordance with the provisions of any 
applicable national guidance. For example, In response to the Coronavirus 
(Covid-19) pandemic, the Department for Transport developed ‘Coronavirus 
(COVID-19): safety screens for taxis and PHVs Guidance’ for the safe and 
appropriate fitting of separating screens between the front and rear of a taxi or 
private hire vehicle.  The installation of screens is one mitigation to prevent 
the transmission of the Covid-19 virus from driver to passenger and vice-
versa. The guidance forms part of the Department for Transport’s Vehicle 
Safety Standards Information Sheets series.  

 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle licencing authorities are asked to be mindful of 
this guidance when they receive requests for approval for the installation of 
screens and/or panels. 

 
The devices installed e.g. screens should not be significantly changed or 
modified from the original manufactured design. In cases where it is 
necessary to modify the original design of the device (for example, to facilitate 
installation of the device in the vehicle), assurances should be sought from 
the supplier/installer that the modification does not raise any concerns in 
relation to safety of the device and complies with the relevant UK safety 
legislation. 
 

34 The installation of screens on a temporary basis - If any vehicle licence 
holder wishes to fit a protective screen in their vehicle, they must first:  

 

 Notify Licensing Services of their intention to fit a protective screen by 
emailing licensing@durham.gov.uk together with.  

 Proof from their insurer that fitting the protective screen will not result in 
their insurer refusing to cover the vehicle; and  

 An agreement to remove the protective screen within a maximum of 21 
days after any social distancing restrictions have been removed by 
Government 

Page 131



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 42 

 
35  The installation of screens on a permanent basis – if you wish to install a 

safety or infection control screen between the driver and passenger 
compartment of a licensed vehicle, the following criteria must be met:  

 

 Any fittings and equipment must comply with the Road Vehicle 
(Construction and Use) Regulations  

 Any screen must be tested to the relevant EU standard for an original 
equipment type approval test covering interior fittings  

 The screen must be approved by MIRA or other comparable 
independent product engineering, testing, consultancy and certification 
organisation  

 Screens must be professionally and securely fitted in accordance with 
the manufacturer’s instructions  

 Confirmation from the vehicle’s manufacturer should be sought to 
confirm that the screen does not compromise the integrity of the 
vehicle structure 

 Screens should be constructed of Polyethylene terephthalate glycol 
(PETG) or polycarbonate  

 The screen should not impede the driver’s vision, movement, or 
communication with passengers 

 The screen should not impede driver or passenger access or egress to 
the vehicle  

 Your insurer should be notified of any modifications you make to your 
vehicle  

 
The vehicle licence holder must notify Licensing services via email 
licensing@durham.gov.uk to confirm any fitting of a screen complies with the 
information above and provide the certification as requested. 

 

Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to Hackney 
Carriage vehicles. 
 
1. Only white vehicles will be licensed as Hackney Carriage Vehicles. (Vehicles 

licensed before 1 April 2011 are exempt from this colour condition, however 
such vehicles may only be replaced by white vehicles) 
 

2. An illuminated taximeter must be fitted in a position where it is not obstructed 
by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place where it is clearly 
visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3. The taximeter shall be securely fitted, maintained in full working order, sealed 

and calibrated by an approved agent within the Council’s approved hackney 
carriage fare scale and shall not be tampered with. (Licensing services hold a 
list of approved agents) 

 

Page 132



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 43 

4. A current fare table must be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in the 
passenger compartment. 

 
5. Display a roof sign. This sign must prominently display the word TAXI 

(minimum font size of 5cm per letter) and must always be illuminated when 
the vehicle is available for hire. It must be used and maintained in accordance 
with the manufacturers design, construction and use specifications.  
 

6. Display a “for hire” sign in the front passenger side of the windscreen that is 
illuminated when the vehicle is available for hire. Exceptions will be made for 
purpose-built vehicles where the “for hire” sign is fitted as standard. 

 

Private Hire Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to Private 
Hire vehicles. 
 
1. Private hire vehicles may be any colour other than white or a colour that could 

be mistaken for white, for example cream or ivory. 
 
2. Any taximeter fitted in a private hire vehicle must be fitted in a position where 

it is not obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place 
where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3. Any taximeter fitted to a private hire vehicle shall be securely fitted, 

maintained in full working order and a table detailing the fares applied must be 
displayed in a position that is clearly visible in the passenger compartment.  

 
4. The words “taxi”, “cab”, “for hire” or anything that may suggest that the vehicle 

is a Hackney Carriage must not be displayed on any part of any private hire 
vehicle. 

 
5. An operator consent form must be completed by the vehicle proprietor and 

operator on grant or renewal of the vehicle licence. An operator consent form 
must also be completed when there is a change in operator during the life of 
the licence. 
 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles  
In addition to the standard conditions and those applying to hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, further conditions apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles as 
set out in this section. Where the conditions for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conflict with the standard conditions; the wheelchair accessible vehicles conditions 
will apply.  
 
1. The vehicle must have a designated space to accommodate at least one 

wheelchair user. This space will be included in the total number of persons 
permitted to be carried. 
 

Page 133



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 44 

2. Either the rear or a nearside door must be used for wheelchair access.  The 
door and doorway must be so constructed as to permit an unrestricted 
opening across the doorway of at least 780mm (30¾”).  The minimum angle 
of the door when opened must be 90 degrees (the minimum angle will not be 
relevant in the case of a sliding door).  

 
3. The floor to ceiling height where the disabled passenger will sit must be a 

minimum of 1350mm (54¾”). 
 
4. All wheelchairs must be carried facing forwards or rearwards.  Where a 

wheelchair is carried facing the rear of the vehicle, the wheelchair, in addition 
to standard restraints must be positioned such that it is reversed against a 
bulkhead to provide further stability. 

 
5. Facilities for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must always be 

available for use at the nearside or rear passenger doors. This ramp must 
comply with all Equality Act recommendations as to design and installation. 

 
6. An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp does not 

slip or tilt when in use.  Provision must be made for the ramp to be stowed 
and secured safely when not in use.  The storage of the ramp when not in use 
must not impede access or egress of passengers.  Ramps must be rigid when 
in use. There must be a slip resistant surface on the ramp with outer edges 
coloured. 
 

7. The gradient of the ramp for an unassisted wheelchair user should be 4.76 
degrees and 10 degrees for assisted wheelchair users. 

 
8. Suitable anchorages must be provided for the wheelchair.  Restraints for the 

wheelchair and occupant must be independent of each other.  Belts attached 
to a wheelchair, in order to assist a person to remain in it whilst travelling, will 
not be acceptable. 

 
9. Vehicles must be capable of transporting a folded wheelchair as luggage.  

Anchorages must also be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair when 
not in use, whether folded or otherwise, if carried within the passenger 
compartment. 

 
10. All anchorages and restraints must not cause danger to any passenger. 
 
11. If a step is required for assisted entry, then the step must be covered with a 

slip resistant surface.  
 

 

Page 134



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 45 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions 
 

Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following extra conditions apply to special 
vehicles. Where the conditions for special vehicles conflict with the standard 
conditions, the conditions for special vehicles will apply  
 
1. Forward and rear facing seats must be fitted with a 3-point, inertia reel 

seatbelt. 
 

2. Efforts must be in place to ensure that:  in the event of mechanical failure, the 
passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable manner. 

 
3. The Council will require the vehicle to undertake a MOT test twice yearly. 

 

Conditions for Stretch Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions and conditions for special vehicles, the 
following extra conditions apply to stretch vehicles.  Where the conditions for stretch 
vehicles conflict with the standard conditions or conditions for special vehicles, the 
conditions for stretch vehicles will apply: 
 
1. The maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” must not exceed 3048mm.  Each 

passenger seating area must be at least 400mm wide with a flat area in front 
of each seat of 300mm x 300mm.  

 
2. The tyres must be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer, 

meet legal requirements, and have a minimum tread depth of 2mm and must 
include and one full sized spare wheel. 

 
3. The vehicle is not used in any contract or provision for carrying school 

children or any unaccompanied children under the age of 18 years (the driver 
may not act as an accompanying adult). 

 
4. The Council’s exemption disc will always be displayed on the front 

windscreen. 
 
5. The private hire vehicle licence plate must be securely fixed in a visible 

position inside the luggage compartment. 
 
6. The vehicle’s Exemption Certificate/Notice must always be carried in the 

vehicle and produced on request to any Police Officer or Authorised Officer of 
the Council. 

 

Page 135



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 46 

Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles 
 

In addition to the standard conditions for special vehicles, extra conditions apply to 
horse-drawn vehicles as set out in this section.  Where the conditions for horse-
drawn vehicles conflict with the standard conditions, the following extra conditions 
will apply:  
 
1. The driver must ensure every part of the harness of the animal or animals 

drawing the carriage is kept in order, so that the animal or animals are 
properly and securely attached to the carriage and under control. 

 
2. The driver must not feed or allow any animal harnessed or otherwise attached 

to a carriage to be fed, except with food contained in a proper bag or other 
receptacle.  

 
3. Proprietors must arrange for animals to be checked at least annually, and at 

any other time at the request of the Council, by an approved veterinary 
surgeon. The licensee shall meet any costs involved.  Where an animal is 
found to be unfit, its use in the operation of a hackney carriage shall be 
discontinued until such time as a certificate of fitness signed by the veterinary 
surgeon is produced to the Council’s authorised officer. 

 
4. Proprietors must arrange for testing of the carriage on an annual basis and at 

the request of the Council.   
 

Other Vehicles 
 

1. Consideration may be given to alternative forms of transport being licensed; 
however, the Council will expect applications to be accompanied by 
information regarding the safety of the proposed operation, any proposed 
routes and pick up points, times and area of operation, details of the 
vehicle(s) and public liability insurance. 

 
2. Vehicles must be fitted with seatbelts that meet BSI standards. 

 
3. The Council will undertake consultation with anybody it considers appropriate 

with such an application and may attach such conditions as it thinks 
reasonable and proportionate. These may include conditions not applied to 
conventional hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. 

      

Page 136



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 47 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator 
 

An application for a private hire operator licence must be made on the specified 
form. Private hire operator licences will be issued subject to proof of eligibility. 
 
The Council must be satisfied that applicants for private hire operator licences are fit 
and proper to hold a licence.  To do so, a basic DBS check must be provided 
annually.  If the applicant is a limited company, then a basic DBS certificate must be 
provided by each director.  If the applicant is a partnership, then a DBS certificate 
must be submitted by each partner.  If the applicant is currently licensed as a driver, 
they will be exempt from this requirement as they are already subject to DBS checks. 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be fit 
and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
A licence will be valid for a period up to five years (or less as the Council may decide 
is necessary in certain circumstances) subject to continuing suitability. It may be 
renewed following approval of a valid renewal application. 
 
Operators will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their licence 
and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. Although, a reminder 
is sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the operator’s sole responsibility to ensure their 
renewal application is received prior to the expiry date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 
 

Standard Conditions 
 
The operator’s licence will be subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Operators must keep legible, handwritten or electronic records of each 

booking for a period of no less than six months. Records must include: 
 
a) The date and time of the booking and if different the time and date of 

the proposed journey 
b) The name and address or telephone number of the hirer  
c) The agreed time and place of the proposed pick up 
d) The destination including address or street name 
e) The name and licence number of the driver 
f) The licence number and registration of the vehicle allocated for the 

booking 
g) Any agreed fare 

Page 137



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 48 

h) The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle 
i) The name of any individual that responded to the booking request 

 
2. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all private hire vehicles operated by them which shall include: 
 

a) Vehicles make, model and colour  
b) Vehicle registration mark  
c) Number of passenger seats  
d) The vehicle licence number  
e) The company call-sign for the vehicle 
f) The vehicle proprietor’s name and address  
g) Insurance particulars of all vehicles working on behalf of the operator 
h) The date the vehicle was added to the operator’s fleet  
i) The date the vehicle was withdrawn from the operator’s fleet  
j) Name and address of the owner  
k) Name, address and the licence number of drivers of such vehicles 

 
3. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all drivers employed or otherwise engaged by them which shall 
include: 

 
a) The name and address of the driver and any change of address of a 

driver during their service with the operator 
b) The name, address and company call-sign assigned to the driver 
c) The date the driver commences working for the operator 
d) The date the driver ceases working for the operator 

 
4. The operator shall permit an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 

officer access to records required by their licence at all reasonable times. 
 
5. The operator shall retain from every licensed driver employed or otherwise 

engaged by them, a copy of that driver's licence, and shall retain it for the 
period of such employment or engagement.  The operator shall record the 
overall period or periods, during which, such employment or engagement 
continues.  

 
6. The operator shall retain a copy of all vehicle licences in respect of vehicles 

used in their business. 
 
7. The operator shall ensure that the vehicle fulfils bookings at the appointed 

time and place unless delayed or prevented by some justifiable cause. 
 
8. If provision is made by the operator for the reception of members of the public 

proposing to hire a vehicle, adequate arrangements shall be made for the 
seating of customers and it is recommended that toilet facilities within the 
premises be provided for public use.  

 

Page 138



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 49 

9. Where the premises are open to the public the operator shall provide a copy 
of the public liability insurance to the Licensing Authority.  

 
10. The Council expects operators and their employees to behave in a civil and 

professional manner. They should be polite, helpful and respectful to 
members of the public, the Police, Council employees, other public officials 
and licensed drivers, this includes on social media platforms. Failure to 
behave in such a manner may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing 
Sub Committee. 

 
11. Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within seven 

days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars including 
but not limited to: 

 
a) Change of address 
b) Change of name  
c) Change of office from which they operate 
d) Being arrested/bailed/charged with/convicted of or otherwise 

investigated in connection with any criminal offence 
e) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving an Antisocial 

Behaviour Order (ASBO) 
f) Any change in directors or partners 
 

12. A register of all staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles must be 
maintained and available for inspection. The register should be a ‘living 
document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for a period of no 
less than six months. 
 

13. Operators must require a basic DBS check from all individuals listed on the 
register of booking and dispatch staff upon commencing appointment and 
then once every 3 years. DBS certificates provided by the individual should be 
no more than 28 days old when submitted and this should be evidenced. A 
record that the operator has had sight of a basic DBS certificate (although the 
certificate itself should not be retained) should be retained for the duration that 
the individual remains on the register. Should an employee cease to be on the 
register and later re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate shall be requested 
and sight of this recorded. Alternatively, a ‘responsible organisation’ can 
request the check on an operator’s behalf. A link to a list of responsible 
organisations is provided in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards. 

 
14. Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot 

pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators 
shall be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the 
company to which they outsource these functions. 
 

Page 139



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 50 

15. When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an 
operator they shall be required, as part of their employment contract, to 
advise the operator of any convictions while they are employed in this role. 

 
16. Operators or applicants for an operator licence will be required to provide a 

policy on employing ex-offenders in a role that involves taking bookings or 
dispatching vehicles. Operators shall ensure any staff employed are 
compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. Operators shall have 
regard to the assessment of previous convictions annexed to the Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards when preparing their policy on the 
employment of ex-offenders. 

 
17. Operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the 

information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides 
comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how 
to meet their obligations. 

 
18. Members of the public are entitled to expect when making a booking with a 

private hire vehicle operator that they will receive a private hire licensed 
vehicle and driver. The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence and the use 
of a public service vehicle (PSV) such as a minibus to undertake a private hire 
vehicle booking is not permitted without the informed consent of the booker. 

Page 140



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 51 

 

Appendix 6: Glossary 
 
“Applicant” and “Application” refers to applicants for new licences but for the 
purpose of this policy, will also include existing drivers, vehicle and operator licence 
holders in connection with the assessment of their ongoing suitability.  
 
“Appointed Testing Station” means an appointed garage where the vehicle tests 
are carried out. 
 
“Authorised Officer” means a person who has the power or right to enforce. 
 
"Certificate of Compliance" means a certificate confirming that a licensed vehicle 
has passed the Council's vehicle test. A certificate of compliance acts in lieu of a 
MOT certificate whilst the vehicle remains licensed, should a vehicle be suspended 
for any reason a MOT certificate must be in place before the vehicle can be used for 
social, domestic and pleasure purposes. 
 
“Certificate of Good Conduct” means a certificate of good conduct relating to a 
Police records check.  For example, if an applicant has lived abroad, on their return 
to the UK, a licensing application may need confirmation that the applicant has no 
criminal record. This certificate will suffice the requirement. 
 
“DBS” means the Disclosure and Barring Service, an executive agency of the Home 
Office that provides access to criminal record and other relevant information to 
organisations in England and Wales and who carries out checks forming a 
disclosure. 
 
“Department for Transport” means the central government ministry which provides 
leadership across the Transport Sector to achieve its objectives, working with 
regional, local and private sector partners to deliver many of the services. 
 
“Driver Proficiency Test” means drivers expert test as laid down by The Driver and 
Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) for taxi drivers. 
 
“DVLA Check” means a standard check with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 
Agency revealing penalty points or traffic related convictions. 
 
“DVSA” means Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. 
 
“Enforcement Policies” mean specific details of regulatory non-compliance and the 
action taken to deal with non-compliance. 
 
“Hackney Carriage Vehicle” means a vehicle licensed to carry passengers for hire 
or reward. It can be hailed by a prospective customer, wait on the rank and “ply for 
hire” where no other restrictions exist that would prevent them doing so. 
 

Page 141



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 52 

“Inertia Reel Seatbelt” means a reel that allows a vehicle seat belt to unwind freely 
but which locks under force of impact or rapid deceleration. 
 
“Integrated Transport System” means complete / total transport is available. 
 
“Licensing Authorities Constitution” means the body of fundamental principles or 
established precedents by which the organisation is governed. 
 
“Licensing Committee” means elected Members appointed to consider 
circumstances and make decisions in accordance with the Council’s constitution. 
 
“Licensed Vehicle” means both a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle. 
 
“Limousine” means a vehicle which has an engine capacity of 2800 c.c. or more, 
produced by a manufacturer as a luxury/high end vehicle. It will generally be obvious 
that a vehicle has been produced for this purpose and it will have a selection of 
extras that one would expect to be fitted. If doubt/contention exists, then the final 
arbiter shall be the manufacturer. Seating arrangements will consist of forward 
and/or rear facing seats only. 
 
“Livery” means a distinctive pattern or design on a vehicle providing identification, 
for instance door crests / Council signage. 
 
“LPG” means Liquefied Petroleum Gas.  
 
“MOT” means the Ministry of Transport Test which is an annual test of older vehicle 
safety and road worthiness.  MOT test certificates are currently issued by the Driver 
and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) an agency within the Department for 
Transport. 
 
“Ply for Hire” means when a vehicle is made available for immediate hire. Only 
licensed hackney carriages may ply for hire and may only do so within the district in 
which they are licensed. 
 
“Private Hire Operator” means a person licensed to make provision for the invitation 
or acceptance of bookings for private hire vehicles. 

 
“Private Hire Vehicle” means a vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer than 
nine passengers, other than a Hackney Carriage or public service vehicle, which is 
licensed to be provided for hire with the services of a driver for the purpose of 
carrying passengers. Private hire vehicles may only be pre booked through a 
licensed private hire operator. 
 
“Relevance of Convictions” means convictions that may be taken into 
consideration when assessing matters. 
 
“Relevant Offences” mean criminal matters of a nature that may be considered 
when applications are being assessed. 

Page 142



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 53 

 
“Stakeholder” means a person with an interest or concern in something. 
 
“Taximeter” means a mechanical or electronic device installed in licensed vehicles 
that calculates passenger fares based on a combination of distance travelled and 
waiting time. 
 
“The Council” means the Authority responsible for the administration and regulation 
of taxi legislation and regulation. 
 
“The Guidance” means the Department for Transport - Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance March 2010. 
 
“Vehicle Compliance Pass Certificate” means the Council’s compliance test 
confirming the vehicle meets the standards required by the Local Authority. 
 
“Vehicle Exemption Certificate Notice” means a notice granting exception from the 
liability or obligation imposed on others. 
 

 
 

 

Page 143



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 54 

 

Appendix 7: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation 
 
This appendix has been produced to provide details and guidelines on the processes 
which may be used by Licensing Services in support of the main policy when dealing 
with individuals / operators which raise concerns over whether they remain fit and 
proper to hold a licence. 
 
Enforcement Aims 
 
The aim of any sanctions and penalties is to: 
 
a) Change the behaviour of an offender 
b) Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 
c) Be proportionate to the nature of the offence, past history of the offender 
d) Act to deter future non-compliance 
 
Verbal/written advice and warnings  
 
In all cases licence holders will be interviewed by a Licensing Enforcement Officer. 
 
Licensing services can, at any time, issue warnings based on the various options 
below: 
 
Written Warnings – This option may be considered for breaches of conditions or 
isolated or non- serious incidents of questionable conduct observed by officers, the 
Police or by the public. A copy of the warning will be recorded and held on the 
licence holder’s record; the warning may be referred to in any future enforcement 
actions including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Committee Referral and Officer Revocations – Committee referrals will be 
considered for repeated breaches of conditions and in relation to questionable 
conduct. Both options will also be considered for the most serious breaches of 
conditions and misconduct that raises significant concern affecting matters of public 
safety and protection. Previous warnings may be taken into consideration by the 
Licensing Committee.  
 

Committee Referrals and Officer Revocations 
 
The review of a licence by the Councils Licensing Committee will be sought following 
persistent breaches of conditions or poor conduct, similarly a review will be sought in 
response to the most serious breaches and misconduct that raises significant 
concern affecting matters of public safety and protection.  
 
Officer revocation may take place if it appears that the interests of public safety 
require the immediate revocation of the licence. This approach is appropriate where 
the licensing authority believes that, based on the information available at that time, 
on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a risk to public 

Page 144



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 55 

safety. Factors including the immediacy and significance of the risk to public safety 
will be important matters for consideration.  
 
New evidence may, of course, become available later. If, for example, the allegations 
against a licence holder were now, on the balance of probability, considered to be 
unfounded, or their fitness to drive was proven satisfactory an expedited re-licensing 
process will be used. We will operate a Fast-Track application process for licence 
reinstatement (if appropriate) following an officer revocation in such cases.  
 
On referral to the Licensing Committee elected members will have the following 
options: 
 
a) To take no further action 
b) To issue a written warning 
c) To suspend a licence for example: 

 

 to require a driver to sit/re-sit the Councils knowledge and locality 
test(s) 

 to require a driver to undertake training in a subject appropriate to the 
reason(s) for their referral 
 

d) To revoke any of the following licences: 
 

 hackney carriage and private hire driver  

 private hire operator  

 hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
 
We will exercise our regulatory activities in a way which is: 

 
Proportionate – our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence. 
 
Accountable – our activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures. 
 
Consistent – our advice to those we regulate will be robust and reliable and we will 
respect advice provided by others. Where circumstances are similar, we will 
endeavour to act in similar ways to other local authorities. 
 
Transparent – we will ensure that those we regulate are able to understand what is 
expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 
  
Targeted – we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and activities, 
reflecting local need and national priorities. 
 

Page 145



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 56 

Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle 
 

Where a CCTV system is installed in any vehicle the following conditions will apply. 
 
1. Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed inside the vehicle in a 

prominent position where it can be easily read by persons both inside and 
outside of the vehicle. These notices shall be maintained in a clean and 
legible condition. 

 
2. The licence holder shall ensure that the system is properly maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 
 
3. On request of an officer of the council or a police officer the licence holder 

shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available within a reasonable time 
and in any event within 7 days of the request. 

 
4. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver of 

the vehicle is aware of the conditions relating to CCTV and that adequate 
instruction has been given in both the operation of the system and retrieving 
images.  

 
5. The licence holder as the data controller shall ensure that notification is 

lodged with the Information Commissioner’s Office to cover the purposes for 
which the CCTV system is used. 

 
6. The licence holder as the data controller shall take all reasonable steps to 

ensure that no other person keeps, uses or attempts to use any equipment to 
access the data and images stored on the system. 
 

Please note: Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed in a prominent 
position where it can be easily read by persons wishing to enter the vehicle. These 
notices shall be maintained in a clean and legible condition. 

Page 146



Consumer Protection 
Durham County Council, Annand House, PO Box 617, Durham DH1 9HZ 
 
 

 

   
www.durham.gov.uk 
 

Contact: Licensing Services 
email: licensing@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

         20th June 2022 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
Further Consultation on Important Changes to the Councils Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy (The Taxi Policy) 
 
I am writing to invite you to comment on the proposed, revised Taxi Policy produced 
after consultation which took place in 2020. This incorporates new national standards 
and was accepted by the Council’s Licensing Committee in 2021 but has not yet been 
adopted by the Council. 
 
We want to take all stakeholders views into account and the Council is particularly 
seeking further views from the public, Councillors, and taxi trade members on the 
proposed, updated Taxi Policy prior to adoption. 
 
As a result of the Covid pandemic, a further 4-week consultation has been agreed prior 
to adoption of a revised policy by the Council. This is to allow for further responses that 
may result from and reflect the effect of the pandemic on the taxi trade and the travelling 
public. We expect a final revised version of this new policy will come into operation later 
this year.  
 
You will be able to view and download the revised policy from the Council’s website by 
searching on the latest consultations.  
 
By reading through the proposed policy, you will be able to see all the Council’s 
requirements and expectations for licensed drivers, vehicles, and operators. Much of the 
policy remains the same or much like the current version however, some significant 
changes have been proposed. These include: 
 

1. Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 
New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for vehicle licences 
will only be accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or 
higher. 
 
Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

 After the 1st January 2023, we will not accept renewal applications for licensed 
vehicles meeting Euro 4 or lower 

Page 147

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


 After the 1st January 2024, we will not accept renewal applications for licensed 
vehicles meeting Euro 5 or lower 
 

2. Removal of locality (topographical) testing requirements for private hire 
drivers  
 

NOTE: Knowledge testing requirements will still apply, and prospective hackney 
carriage drives will still need to be tested on both knowledge and locality matters.  
 

3. Adoption of a new policy on offences  
 
The Council has taken into consideration the recently published Statutory Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the proposals of the Institute of Licensing (IOL). The 
new policy does not mirror the IOL standards in all respect and our policy is in-line with 
the new National Standards. 
 

4. Driver improvement scheme 
 

Introduction of a driver improvement scheme for applicants with 6 points on their driving 
licences and for existing drivers who accrue 6 points.   
 

5. Safeguarding and Disability Awareness Training 
 

Safeguarding awareness including child sexual exploitation awareness training and 
disability awareness training requirements for both new and existing drivers is included 
in the new policy.  
 

 Safeguarding including CSE Awareness - Applicants will be required to attend 
a Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) awareness training course. 
All drivers must undergo Safeguarding awareness training (including Child Sexual 
Exploitation awareness) before being licenced. 
 

We consider that this training is so important that all drivers should undergo refresher 
training periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, all existing licensed 
drivers must undergo CSE awareness refresher training before their licence is renewed, 
if they have not already received CSE awareness training (or CSE awareness refresher 
training) within the previous 3 years. 
 

 Disability Awareness Training - Applicants will be required to attend a disability 
awareness training course. 
 

All drivers must undergo disability awareness training before being licenced. We 
consider that this training is so important that all drivers should undergo refresher 
training periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, all existing licensed 
drivers must undergo disability awareness refresher training before their licence is 
renewed, if they have not already received disability awareness training within the 
previous 3 years. 
 

6. Contract exemption for displaying decals etc 
 

The rules are being relaxed and rather than applying strict rules regarding the length of 
contracts that will enable an exemption to be applied for, considerations will be made on 
a case-by-case basis by senior officers in conjunction with the Licensing Chair and Vice 
Chairs.  

Page 148



 

7. Arrangements for dealing with serious matters that may require the 

immediate revocation of a driver’s licence 

In accordance with the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards we have put in 
place a process that will allow for the immediate revocation of licences when the public 
is at serious and or imminent risk. In such cases, licences will not be suspended pending 
the outcome of a committee decision.  
 
A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the issuing of a new licence 
should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision 
previously made.  A decision to suspend or revoke is based on the evidence available at 
the time the determination was made.  New evidence may, of course, become available 
later. We will implement and operate a Fast-Track re-application process for licence 
reinstatement following an officer revocation in such cases. The right of appeal to a 
Magistrate’s court also continues.  
 
Changes to Department of Transport Guidance (DfT) 
 
The Department of Transport are carrying out a national consultation on best practice 
guidance, the results of which will be issued later this year.  The DfT have advised us to 
implement the measures covered by the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards as soon as possible in an adopted policy following this consultation. Although, 
we do not expect the results of the best practice guidance consultation to impact on the 
standards, changes to guidance may impact on our future policy. We will be in a better 
position to know if another consultation exercise is required when the best practice 
guidance is published. 
 
Important: This second consultation will take place over 4 weeks starting Monday 
20th June 2022. If you want to comment on the proposed policy, please send your 
comments by email to licensing@durham.gov.uk by midnight on Sunday 17th July 
2022.  
 
Please note: All consultation responses must be sent in writing to the above email 
address. Any correspondence or comments sent by any other means will not be 
considered. 
 
Thank you in advance of your responses and to those individuals and organisations who 
had provided comments and feedback during the previous 12-week consultation period.  
 
I am sorry that the consultation, development, reporting, final adoption, and publication 
of this new policy has taken such a long time but unfortunately there have been several 
unavoidable delays, mostly associated with the Covid pandemic. I greatly appreciate 
your patience in this respect.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Craig Rudman 
Licensing Manager  

Page 149

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4:  The email responses received together with 
comments from Licensing Services 

 

No Respondent Response Comments 

1 Cllr Mike Currah I would like to give some feedback on 
the changes proposed. In terms of the 
vehicle emissions changes, I think that 
given the current cost of living crisis, 
which is likely to worsen in the 
Autumn, that we should [not] be 
increasing costs for taxi drivers and 
taxi businesses. Therefore, I would 
propose that the changes in vehicle 
standards should be postponed for at 
least a year, to avoid any increase in 
costs at this time. 

Cllr Currah proposes 
postponement of vehicle 
emission standards in policy for 
economic reasons 

2 Respondent  Hello, in response to the proposal for 
renewal applications, I would like to 
mention that if I apply for a renewal of 
my vehicle after January 2024, I would 
Not be able to work for the final year 
which would lead to my retirement. 
This proposal would force me into 
buying a vehicle and not give me 
sufficient time to pay for it in 1 year 

Respondent concerned about 
economic effect of proposed 
emission standards i.e., having 
to change his car to meet new 
standards close to his planned 
retirement. 

3 Respondent As the authorities are stimulating 
acquisition of vehicles manufactured 
to the emissions standard “EURO 6” 
or higher, a nice incentive would be 
helping taxi drivers to buy new 
vehicles! Just to clarify it better on a 
practical example, Brazilian taxi 
drivers pay only 70% for new vehicles 
and the remaining 30% the 
government release to improve that 
kind of public fleet. Summarising: 
More financial government 
investment, more new cars on streets, 
environment pleased for less bad fuel 
emissions, more taxi drivers glad and, 
even more important, more bliss 
costumers on their comfortable and 
safe journeys! 

Respondent proposing financial 
assistance for licence holders to 
buy newer, replacement 
vehicles to meet new emission 
standards. 

4 Respondent After reading the changes to policy I 
agree with euro standards and 
removal of private hire locality test we 
need more drivers as there is a 
shortage of new ones. The driver 
improvement scheme I am not so 
much in favour of unless it applies to 
all council employees as well, while 
we carry passengers surely all drivers 
have a responsibility drive safely at all 
times. Safeguarding and disability 
training are a necessity. Everything 
else is ok. 

Respondent generally happy 
with proposals however thinks a 
driver improvement scheme 
should apply to council workers 
as well. Noted however, the 
policy would only apply to those 
licensed to own, drive and 
operate licensed vehicles. 

Page 151



5 Respondent HC/PH changes. - I have no comment 
to make other than the current service 
provided by licensing falls way below 
what it should be. 
Disabled persons Act - For the last 40 
years or so I have provided as good a 
service as possible to any disabled 
person or assistance dog user, I have 
never refused to carry any person in 
this category. However over the last 
few years there has been a sharp 
increase in the use of battery powered 
wheelchairs and mobility scooters. In 
the main these are extremely heavy 
and usually require a level of 
dismantling to get them into the 
vehicle, this is sometimes impossible 
as you are invariably alone and 
obviously the passenger is unable to 
assist. Trying to lift a 50 kilo power 
chair into a car boot is not good 
practice. Damage could be done to 
both the chair / scooter , your vehicle 
and to the driver. There is also the 
chance of a battery leakage. We 
should not be required to man handle 
this type of equipment. 

Respondent complaining about 
the heavier, more cumbersome 
wheelchairs. Points noted. 
Wheelchair access and drivers’ 
responsibilities are subject to 
guidance and legislative 
controls. 

6 Respondent Is the council going to make a one tier 
system with these new changes? 
As you know private hire cannot pick 
up or drop off in a taxi rank even with 
a booked customer. 
Where is the safety of our customers 
considered, not only disabled ones? 
Equality covers members of the 
public. 

Respondent appears to ask if 
DCC is going to remove the 
legal differentiations concerning 
hackney carriages and private 
hire. This is beyond our remit 
and legal capabilities. 

7 Respondent There is no indication the rage of 
Disabilities which are covered by the 
Disability Awareness Training.  Which 
organisation provides the training? Is 
the training restricted to Mobility, 
Visual difficulties? Have a range of 
Durham County based 
organisations/individuals been 
consulted on the content of the 
training? 

Points noted. There are several 
known providers of disability 
awareness training. We are 
developing a list of disability 
awareness training providers, 
including bespoke courses and 
training package for their 
licensed drivers. These will be 
evaluated prior to publication.  

8 Respondent Good morning Helen, many thanks for 
allowing me to attend your meeting on 
the 5th of July, I found it to be very 
constructive. Can I formally ask if the 
powers that be, take into consideration 
the drivers who are due for retirement 
in 2026 bearing in mind their vehicles 
may be Euro 5 compliment. I would 
like to stress that revocation of these 
vehicles would not give the drivers 
time to finance newer euro 6 vehicles 
and would effectively force people 
close to retirement out of a job. An 
extension would be greatly 

Respondent’s second 
submission raising his concerns 
about economic effect of 
proposed emission standards 
i.e., having to change his car to 
meet new standards close to his 
planned retirement. Noted 

Page 152



appreciated to allow drivers to retire 
gracefully and elevate the stress 
attributed from financing another 
vehicle. 

9 Respondent Durham Council seam adamant to 
make driving in our city impossible or 
unaffordable, while drivers from 
outside areas have the freedoms of 
lesser rules & regulations  
I feel DCC discriminate Durham owner 
drivers, which is really inappropriate 
The trade should be left as it is to 
carry on without any change !! 
Changing rules & regulations @ this 
time, post Covid & War & Fuel & 
Energy hike is like kicking the trade 
while its on the floor 
Where does everyone think all this 
extra money comes from ?.. 
Until Government make ALL councils 
have SAME rules on drivers & 
emissions, I feel DCC need to put their 

foot on the brakes 🤷🤷 

Outside drivers will still come into our 
city regardless & drivers will also just 
get plated & badged elsewhere & work 
in Durham as 100s do already !!! 
Therefore, DCC will lose money not 
gain 

Respondent voicing concerns 
about changes to emission 
standards for licensed vehicles 
under the current economic 
climate. 

10 Respondent I am writing this letter to comment on 
the recent policy changes, requiring 
that commercial vehicles used in 
transport operations with Euro 4 
engines are to be replaced with 
vehicles using Euro 6 engines from 
1st January 2023 onward. Please 
consider this letter on behalf of my 
business, as well as other small 
businesses within the local 
constituency.  
A direct quote in an article from MPs 
published by the Department for 
Business Innovation & Skills is that 
“Small businesses are vital to the UK 
economy” and that “The Government 
is committed to creating the right long-
term environment to help many more 
people start and grow their 
enterprise.” 
We are a small, local business with 4 
vehicles, two of them recently 
purchased as replacements for old 
vehicles – of which we will soon be 
required to replace again due to policy 
changes. As I’m sure you can 
appreciate, purchasing, maintaining 
and operating good-quality vehicles is 
not an easy feat, nor is it an 
inexpensive activity.  

Respondent voicing concerns 
about changes to emission 
standards for licensed vehicles 
under the current economic 
climate. Seeking delay in 
implementation of proposals 
regarding emission standards 
for existing vehicles   

Page 153



The policy changes set to be 
implemented in Q1 2023 will no doubt 
force us and many other small, local 
businesses to potentially needlessly 
purchase very expensive vehicles in 
finance agreements – this paired with 
the current financial squeeze that 
everybody is undergoing will 
undoubtedly lead to failure and 
foreclosure of many businesses such 
as ours.  
This letter is not a request to allow 
concessions to the policy, nor to 
prevent it, but simply to delay it – we 
need more time. A chance for local 
economies to bounce back, a chance 
for the average person to start using 
small, local businesses again. If the 
quotes are true on creating an 
environment to allow small enterprises 
to endure, a delay in policy changes 
surely cannot be so drastic.  
I hope you understand and 
acknowledge our plea. 

11 Respondent To whom this may concern Craig 
Rudman  this is Carl Bussey 
Spennymoor Taxis I’m a bit concerned 
of the struggle that we are having at 
the moment trying to find Euro 6 
vehicles to go on as a taxi and I think 
that euro 4 should come off in January 
2023 but I think euro 5 should stay on 
till January 2025 as long as they’re 
abide by the council rules and kept in 
good condition and well serviced and 
you could ask them to provide the 
service records for that extra year 
which I have no problem doing just 
that we cannot find any vehicles on 
Euro 6 at the moment for reasonable 
price specially 7 seaters and 9 seater 
taxis are very hard to get and I think 
new drivers coming on should not 
have to do a locality test and a 
knowledge test this is making it very 
hard for us to find drivers and County 
Hall are struggling covering the 
contracts at the moment they cannot 
get no 7 seater  and 9 seater to do 
their contracts as I think they should 
be left on at the moment just to help 
County Hall out if you don’t believe me 
please contact them because they are 
struggling to get people to cover their 
contracts children to go to schools I 
hope this will help all the taxi drivers in 
County Durham and new Ones to 
thanks Carl Bussey Spennymoor taxis 
contact number  

Respondent voicing concerns 
about changes to emission 
standards for licensed vehicles 
under the current economic 
climate. Seeking delay in 
implementation of proposals 
regarding emission standards 
for existing vehicles. Also, 
wanting removal of both 
knowledge and locality tests for 
new drivers to make it easier for 
him to recruit new drivers. 

Page 154



12 Cllr Richard 
Ormerod 

Can the review of the Licensing Policy 
be used to include a statement about 
drivers being expected to abide by the 
rules of the road? In addition, can it 
specifically deal with the controls and 
requirements relating to the use of 
designated taxi ranks and the picking 
up and setting down of passengers 
out with the ranks? 
It would seem to me that there is 
nothing to lose by this. It wouldn’t 
place any extra burden on the council 
and surely encouraging people to 
obey the law has got to be a good 
thing. 

Points noted however, it isn’t for 
licensing policy (or conditions of 
licence) to replicate/duplicate 
other laws that already apply. 
‘Operators need to familiarise 
themselves with the law and 
ensure they employ suitable 
work methods to comply with 
the law and avoid committing 
licensing offences.’ May be 
reasonably included. Or some 
similar wording. 

13 Respondent Hi, I think the length of time to get a 
euro 6 car should be extended as 
people just don’t have the money at 
present to buy a new vehicle. I do see 
why it is necessary but maybe extend 
by another year or see what can be 
done grants /loans etc .as of changing 
tests I think the locality should be 
made easier on hack as well as 
private hire that’s why there are no 
drivers attempting it thanks Darren 

Respondent voicing concerns 
about changes to emission 
standards for licensed vehicles 
under the current economic 
climate. Seeking delay in 
implementation of proposals 
regarding emission standards 
for existing vehicles.   

14 Respondent Regarding the further consultation on 
Durham's Taxi Policy, I am urging 
Councillors to feedback and demand 
that the 1996 Employment Act is 
attached as a condition of holding an 
Operators License with Durham 
County Council. 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1
996/18/contents 
Sadly since 2012 and notably since 
2017 with Durham County Council, 
many Private Hire drivers have been 
misclassified and deprived of various 
working rights under the 1996 
Employment Act via Operator(s) that 
they were working for. 
In February 2021 there was a 
Supreme Court Ruling confirming the 
misclassification of these drivers 
under the 1996 Employment Act.  
https://www.supremecourt.uk/watch/uk
sc-2019-0029/judgment.html 
Time has ran out for Operator(s) who 
have been exhausting the Court and 
Appeals system for the last 8 years - 
right up to the Supreme Court. The 
time has come to abide by the Law 
like everyone else, and to stop 
denying basic workers rights.  
Important point for councillors to note - 
When Operators denied basic workers 
rights it has allowed loopholes to be 
created for Operators to avoid VAT.  

“The case referred to applied to 
Uber drivers. Not all private hire 
operators will be the same so 
some drivers may be workers, 
and some may not. It is a matter 
for the particular company to 
determine the status of their 
drivers and a driver can 
complain to the employment 
tribunal if they take issue with 
this. Each operator needs to 
comply with legislation relevant 
to their business, but we do not 
consider that it should be 
included in the policy that 
conditions should be attached 
relating to caselaw which could 
continue to evolve”. Catherine 
Hazel and Stephen Buston. 
 
If a driver wishes to take a 
complaint to an employment 
tribunal and is successful, if the 
operator failed to comply with a 
ruling, there may be the 
option/possibility to take the 
operator to Licensing 
Committee in connection with 
their propriety. 
 
Like the European Working 
Hours directive, drivers would 
have the choice to opt out and 
maintain their self-employed 

Page 155



SAFETY OF THE PUBLIC Further 
element and most importantly to 
consider is that when drivers are 
exploited it can lead to the public 
being put at risk. Im sure most of us 
are aware of the sweatshop conditions 
that Uber drivers have been working 
in, via the media and/or Frank Fields 
report into it.  
https://www.politicshome.com/thehous
e/article/uber-are-subjecting-workers-
to-sweated-labour-for-poverty-pay-in-
the-gig-economy 
1. Maintenance of vehicles will reduce 
to a lower standard and service 
intervals will be increased - if drivers 
aren't even receiving basic minimum 
wage. 
2. Drivers will also work longer hours 
increasing fatigue levels and 
damaging the wellbeing of workers. 
Again putting the public at risk. 
CONCLUSION It is a 'NO BRAINER' 
that the 1996 Employment Act is 
attached as a condition of holding an 
Operators License.  I am very 
surprised it has not ALREADY been 
included in the proposed changes as 
the Department has had almost 18 
months since the ruling was handed 
down. I am not aware or have been 
supplied of a logical and/or legal 
reason why it should not be? 
The next Policy review will not be until 
2026 - can we afford another 4 years 
of a 'race to the bottom' and potentially 
putting the safety of the public at risk?  
I urge all elected members not to 
adopt this policy in its current state 
unless an acceptable reason has been 
given not to attach the 1996 
Employment Act as a condition of 
holding an Operator’s License, and for 
relevant elected members not to vote 
in favour of it. 

status, however if any 
challenges were to be made, 
this route may be appropriate 
(unless advised otherwise). 

15 Respondent Could I suggest that we are not forced 
to carry first aid kits and fire 
extinguishers within HC and private 
hire vehicles without adequate training 
given for their usage. A large part of 
this training should involve Risk 
assessment, and PPE. 

Points noted.    

16 Respondent After I failed to renew my licence on 
time some years ago, could I suggest 
that it would be, in future, any driver 
failing to renew on time, given that 
licence back and a fine issued as a 
penalty for late renewal. This would be 
a deterrent for late renewal. Drivers 

We have no powers to issue 
fines under this legislation. 

Page 156



however would Not be entitled to drive 
until that renewal is processed. 

17 Respondent Could a Mot be undertaken as the 
primary objective to the COC. 
Legistically this is possible.  New 
policy. 

Points noted. 

18 Respondent New proposal new policy. This is too 
much for taxi drivers also very hard 
time going on, Uber should not 
working in Durham with Newcastle 
plate on 

Respondent raising concerns 
about economic impact of 
proposals. Voices 
unsubstantiated opinion about 
Uber. 

19 Respondent I wish to comment on the taxi policy 
consultation. 
1. Vehicle Emission standards 
Hybrid vehicles should have they 
license renewed after 1st January 
2024. 
These vehicles are the next best to 
fully electric vehicles. They are 
already low emission and 
environmentally friendly and mostly 
Zero Road tax. There is no mention of 
these in the policy. 
2. Driver improvement Scheme 
Should be implemented at 9 points. 
3. Safeguarding and disability 
awareness course should be 
refreshed every 5 years. 

Points noted 

20 Respondent DT and PHA Response Points noted – see comments in 
connection with DT and PHA 
response below 

21 Respondent 1)   I am sure you will have been 
getting a lot of  comments on the 
announced euro 6 
proposals,particularly from minibus 
owners.  I am in the position of having 
to replace my minibus now and having 
searched about i am horrified  and 
dismayed at the prices of suitable 
second hand  Euro 6 minibuses they 
are in the region of 18k-20k minimum, 
and im sure other owners are having a 
similar experience and probably (like 
myself) wont be replacing theirs. This 
is going to cause huge logistical 
problems for Durham home to school 
transports department with even fewer 
buses available than there is now.    
  In the past the regulations allowed 
minibuses to be a euro level down 
from cars and i propose the council 
amends the proposals to make Cars 
euro 6 and minibuses euro 5 once 
again,this would make it more realistic 
for us to run. 
 
2)  why are the proposals only aimed 
at the taxi industry??  why dont they 
apply to psvs and the councils own 

Respondent raising concerns 
about economic impact of 
proposals. 
 
We can only develop and adopt 
policies that relate to vehicles 
that we licence. 
 
Request for tariff increase rests 
outside policy and is being dealt 
with via the recognised legal 
channels 
 
When a licensed vehicle fails a 
test, despite not being 
mechanically fit and potentially a 
public safety issue, the licence 
remains in place unless and 
until a suspension notice is 
issued and for this reason a 
suspension notice is issued as 
soon as possible.  
 
When a licence is due to expire 
the licence holder is written to in 
advance of the expiry of the 
licence to remind them that the 
expiry is imminent and to offer 
the licence holder the 

Page 157



transport vehicles?? the word 
"discrimination"  springs to mind 
 
3) given the recent oil company 
profiteering ,why is there no mention 
of HELP to the taxi industry by way of 
substantial meter price increases. 
 
4) When a vehicle fails its test,a letter 
is hand delivered  to the business 
address within an hour warning NOT 
TO USE THE VEHICLE AS A TAXI.  
Why then ,when a vehicle fails to be 
re-licensed ,is there not a similar letter 
sent or delivered to the owner giving a 
SIMILAR WARNING,after all we are 
not infallible??? 

opportunity to renew the licence.  
After the expiry of the licence 
they are also sent a letter 
notifying them that the vehicle 
licence has expired and must 
not be used as a licensed 
vehicle and requesting return of 
the expired licence plates. 
 
 
 
 

22 Cllr Liz Brown Dear all, I should like to put forward 
the following observations as part of 
this review. 
1.       P27, Appendix 1. Continuing 
Suitability and Renewal Process.  
In this age of computer records a 
reminder could surely be sent to all 
licence holders before their personal 
licence is due for renewal rather than 
holders “normally” receiving a 
reminder “as a matter of courtesy” 
 
2.       P37, Appendix 3, 5th 
Paragraph. Vehicle Licences. 
Again the weasel words “normally” 
and “matter of courtesy”. Vehicle 
Licences are computerised. 
Computers can be programmed to 
send out reminders automatically. 
 
3.       P40, Appendix 3, Paragraph 22. 
Vehicle Licences 
Re the carrying of a fire extinguisher. I 
have consulted with the Deputy Chief 
Fire Officer of Durham about the Fire 
Brigades advice on car fires. The 
advice is to get passengers out and as 
far away from the vehicle as possible 
and not attempt to fight the fire. My 
fear is that a “readily accessible” fire 
extinguisher could be used as a 
weapon. If a means of fire fighting is 
deemed necessary then a fire blanket 
would allow an extra few minutes to 
get passengers out. 

A letter is generally sent 99.9% 
of the time at least 8 weeks in 
advance of the expiry of licence. 
They will also get a reminder 
email from the DASH system if 
they did their initial application 
online. 
 
See point 1 above 
 
Points noted 

23 Respondent DT and PHA Response Points noted – see comments in 
connection with DT and PHA 
response below. 

24 Respondent DT and PHA Response Points noted – see comments in 
connection with DT and PHA 
response below. 

Page 158



25 Respondent DT and PHA Response Points noted – see comments in 
connection with DT and PHA 
response below. 

26 Respondent DT and PHA Response Points noted – see comments in 
connection with DT and PHA 
response below. 

27 DTPHA 
TAXIASSOCIAT
ION (DT and 
PHA Response) 

The main problems with the policy are 
as follows: 
 
4.0 Vehicle Emissions and 
Manufacture Criteria  
Tackling air pollution is one of several 
public health priorities aimed at 
safeguarding the public. To combat 
poor air quality, innovative and bold 
measures are being taken across the 
country to ensure the health and 
wellbeing in communities as well as 
road users. Adoption of the following 
proposed policy requirements will 
enable? No, it will force! Durham 
licenced vehicles to help to reduce 
traffic pollution and improve local air 
quality in our region: 
 
This policy fails on many levels. 
75% of Wheel Chair vehicles would 
need replacing @ up to £50K each 
about £4,350,000 
About 50% of all other vehicles would 
need replacing @ up to £32K each 
about £16,576,000 
About £20,926,000 austerity from 
2010, lockdown and restriction 2020-
22 some drivers earning £12 a day at 
times, for the small and sole traders 
where is that money coming from? 
We were not sat at home on pay and 
expenses, or receiving a generous 
allowance plus expenses. 
 
Retrofitting with the www.Atmos-
clear.com type system will make all 
Euro4 &Euro5 vehicles cleaner than 
Euro6  for a more reasonable cost to 
the trade of £277,695.(£459 per 
vehicle) 
Considering what has happened this 
is a more proportionate way forward 
and complies with 1.2 of the regulators 
code: 
‘minimising the costs of compliance for 
those they regulate;’. 
 
Already councillors and the public are 
complaining that there are no taxis in 
Barnard Castle, Bishop Auckland, 
Crook and the Wear Valley area, 
Chester-le-Street area, Newton 
Aycliffe and the Sedgefield area. 

Vehicle emissions and 
Manufacturing criteria – see 
options in appendix X.  
 
Retrofitting with the 
www.Atmos-clear.com type 
system – Respondent raising 
concerns about economic 
impact of proposals and offering 
alternatives for consideration 
including a delay in 
implementation and the ability to 
use pollution control equipment 
fitted retrospectively to older 
vehicles. Comments from 
specialist in this field, Colin 
Smith, Programme Manager 
Freight and Clean Vehicle 
Retrofit – The Energy Saving 
Trust: 
 
“With respect to the Atmos-
Clear system my previous 
answer still applies, I do not 
believe that these hydrogen on 
demand systems reduce 
emissions or improve fuel 
efficiency or in the 15 years at 
Energy Saving Trust I have not 
seen an independent test report 
that demonstrates the claims 
made by the suppliers of such 
systems. I suspect it would be 
quarter of a million wasted fitting 
these systems. I believe fitting 
these systems to Euro 4 and 5 
cars will not make them cleaner 
than Euro 6. 
 
Depending on what you are 
trying to address in terms of 
emissions, either air pollutants 
(PM and NO2¬) or GHG 
emissions (climate change) will 
affect the standards you put in 
place. Ideally, we should be 
addressing both and the 
passenger car solution for that 
is electric with zero tailpipe air 
pollutants and if 100% 
renewable electricity is used to 
charge the EV then you address 
the GHG aspect. However, that 
will be an expensive option for 

Page 159



With this it will get worse putting 
people in danger from people posing 
as taxis picking up lone females or 
students walking home by riverside 
paths. 
It also fails as a green policy as it 
doesn’t take those ‘dirty vehicles’ off 
the counties roads but puts them in 
the publics hands. 
 
7.6  
The Council has the option to suspend 
or revoke a licence should information 
be received that causes concern over 
whether a driver is a fit and proper 
person. A decision to revoke a licence 
does not however prevent the 
reissuing of a licence should further 
information be received that alters the 
balance of probability of a decision 
previously made. A decision to 
suspend or revoke is based on the 
evidence available at the time the 
determination was made. New 
evidence may, of course, become 
available later. If, for example, the 
allegations against a licence holder 
were, on the balance of probability, 
considered to be unfounded, or their 
fitness to drive was proven 
satisfactory, a suspension could be 
lifted or, if the licence was revoked, an 
expedited re-licensing process will be 
used. We will operate a Fast-Track 
application process for licence 
reinstatement following an officer 
revocation in such cases. 
If someone is revoked on spec by an 
officer it could take months to get 
them back on the road, the delay 
could take them out of the trade 
altogether. 
Suspension can be rescinded in a 
matter of minutes when the facts have 
been discovered. 
 
8.0 Partnership Working  
8.1  
The Council will actively engage and 
seek to work in partnership with the  
following agencies, groups, and 
individuals to promote the licensing  
objectives:  
This is not “will” but “MUST” in 
accordance with section 2.1 of the 
regulators code, this is not optional, it 
is mandatory for all “regulators” 
Failure to hold a working group 
meeting since Dec 2019 proves this to 
be a joke. 

taxi drivers and would require 
investment in charging 
infrastructure to allow for the 
range limitations of EVs 
(although having that data on 
daily miles driven by taxi drivers 
in your area would help 
understand the extent of range 
limitations). 
 
From an air quality perspective, 
it looks like your policy doesn’t 
differentiate petrol from diesel, 
charging CAZ standards are 
Euro 4 for petrol and Euro 6 for 
diesel but I guess most taxis will 
be diesel for the better fuel 
economy over petrol (although 
there is less of an advantage if 
the driving is urban stop start 
and short journeys). For 
Durham I expect would be a 
higher-than-average miles per 
job than a more city based fleet. 
 
A Euro 4 (introduced in 
2005/2006) car will be in the 
age range 13-16 years 
A Euro 5 (introduced in 
2009/2012 – there was Euro 5a 
and Euro 5b) 10 – 13 years      
Dieselnet is a great source of 
info on emission standards 
(https://dieselnet.com/standards
/eu/ld.php) 
 
The availability of taxis in 
Barnard Castle, Bishop 
Auckland, Crook and the Wear 
Valley area, Chester-le-Street 
area, Newton Aycliffe and the 
Sedgefield area. – points noted. 
 
Revocation and fast-track 
reinstatement of licences – This 
requirement stems from the UK 
National Standards for taxi and 
private hire licensing. Points and 
opinions noted however, system 
has been approved by legal 
officers. Application would still 
be required however the 
application may be fast-tracked 
through the complete 
administration process. 
 
Partnership Working – points 
noted, a question of semantics.  
 

Page 160

https://dieselnet.com/standards/eu/ld.php
https://dieselnet.com/standards/eu/ld.php


Inaction and deliberate avoidance of 
any meeting or cooperation with the 
trade despite the many modern ways 
of holding a meeting. 
The continued refusal to open the 
phone lines shows the contempt we 
are held in. 
 
  
 
Appendix 1: Drivers 
P26 Driver Knowledge and Locality 
Tests 
Locality tests are either good for both 
or no good for either. 
Pre booked customers frequently 
change route or destination and it take 
a matter of seconds to get a 
destination on a modern mobile. 
Google ‘Directions DH7 8RS’ How 
long did that take before setting off? 
Many customers do not bother with 
the address just tell you the postcode 
for ease, especially if they are drunk 
and liable to fall into a deep sleep. 
 
P28 
e) Safeguarding including CSE 
Awareness - Applicants will be 
required to attend a Safeguarding and 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 
awareness training course.  
All drivers must undergo Safeguarding 
awareness training (including Child 
Sexual Exploitation awareness) before 
being licenced. . 
f) Disability Awareness Training - 
Applicants will be required to attend a 
disability awareness training course.  
g) Suitability - The Council must be 
satisfied that an applicant is a fit and 
proper person to hold a driver licence. 
Applicants must undergo a Driver 
Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) 
check and an enhanced Disclosure & 
Barring Service  
(DBS) check which will check both 
adult and child barred lists. Applicants 
will also be required to subscribe to 
the DBS update service and ensure 
continuity.  
Everyone is kingdom building with 
different department running similar 
courses and not accepting others 
meaning drivers have to duplicate the 
same thing wasting time and money. 
DBS should be done incorporating 
with Integrated Passenger Transport 
and Licensing requirements so one 
DBS is needed and shared. This 

Knowledge and Locality Tests – 
points noted 
 
Safeguarding including CSE – 
DBS categories and rules are 
set by DBS not the Council. The 
category for taxi drivers is 
different to the category for adult 
and child contract work and 
DBS certificates are not 
interchangeable between 
categories  
 
Points on licences – in addition 
to any policies on such matters 
i.e. where a threshold is set, al 
cases are always considered on 
their individual merits. The 
safety of the traveling public is 
paramount and the propensity to 
accrue penalty points indicates 
a propensity towards poor 
driving, law breaking and 
increased risks to fare paying 
passengers.  
 
Occasional (tip-up) seats – point 
noted 
 
Display of plates and stickers – 
points noted 
 
Fire extinguishers and first aid 
kits – points noted 
 
Occasional (tip-up) seats – point 

noted. Comments from Fleet 

Manager: 

Almost every black cab has this 

type of seat, they are industry 

standard. 

Have we any data regarding the 

accident rate involving tip up 

seats? I cannot find any online 

which would suggest there are 

no real issues. 

The seats are type approved 

and safety tested and need to 

automatically tip to enable full 

access whilst carrying items into 

the cab, a passenger would 

struggle trying to negotiate past 

a seat that did not automatically 

tip up as they are usually in 

place to  offer the most seating 

in the smallest space allowed. 

Page 161



would increase the number of drivers 
available for IPT as well as comply 
with part 4 of the regulators code. 
 
Applications for Vehicle, Driver and 
Operator Licences following a 
conviction / caution and the ongoing 
suitability of Licence Holders 
P38 
Where an applicant has 7 or more 
points on their DVLA driving licence 
for minor traffic or similar offences, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 
five years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
Every case should be on its individual 
merits, not prescribed. 
An HGV or PCV driver carrying over 
44 tons or up to 73 people doesn’t 
face this type of sanction, why do 
Councillors feel the need to add to the 
already negative view of drivers by 
saying they are worthy of harsher 
punishment? 
The attitude of council and licensing 
has always been hostile to the trade 
as the constant attempts to remove 
them from Durham City, especially 
over the covid period has shown. 
 
Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences 
Standard Conditions 
P43 
5. Occasional (tip-up) seats must be 
arranged to rise automatically when 
not in use. 
This is a legal claim waiting to happen, 
while many have flip up seats in the 
past the number of times a customer 
has stood up and sat down without 
checking the seat is still there, just 
imagine an injury due to council 
policy? 
 
10. The vehicle must prominently 
display the following:  
• internal licence plate / complaint 
sticker on each window so it is clearly 
visible in all passenger areas  
My vehicle has 16 window panes. 
I suggest an amendment to read 
“must be clearly visible” and NOT to 
use the suggestive term “complaint” 
but use comments instead as this is 
far more acceptable and less 
subliminal that the only time anyone 
has anything to say is when they 
complain! 
Again this is part of the way licensing 
frame the way it deals with the trade. 

Alex Cummings 

County Fleet Manager 

Neighbourhoods and Climate 

Change 

Durham County Council 

 

Page 162



 
22.The vehicle must carry a suitable 
fire extinguisher sited in a readily 
accessible place known to the driver.  
23.The vehicle must carry a “first aid” 
kit which is suitable to the number of 
persons the vehicle is licenced to 
carry.  
Training as in new guidelines that will 
come into force after this policy has 
been approved, we are not in 
business to supply others but if the 
council wants us to carry them they 
should provide, replace and train us at 
the councils expense, on that basis we 
could even carry defibrillators. 
 
Mike Anderson 
Chair 
Durham Taxi & Private Hire 
Association 

28 Respondent I would remind you that we had nearly 
2 years were taxis and PHVs were 
hardly used. A prime example I 
purchased a EURO 5 compliant 
vehicle on a 2014 plate in February 
2020 with 63k on the clock. It was 
hardly used during the pandemic until 
the schools restarted and this new 
policy if adopted by DCC will force me 
and many others to purchase another 
vehicle by Jan 2024? I would also like 
to ask if DCC want to make all 
taxis/PHVs EURO 6 compliant by 
2024 why do they give so many 
school contracts to companies using 
bus/coaches many aged between 
12/22 years of age? 
 
I would suggest that yes maybe 
EURO 4 compliant vehicles should be 
removed by 2024 not 2023 as the 
policy suggests and EURO 5 within 1 
year of when EURO 7 has been 
introduced to the UK which if still on 
schedule should be 2025? This at 
least gives those affected an extra 12 
months to prepare for the extra 
financial restrictions put on them by 
DCC. It seems our Council may have 
missed that in the news there is a 
cost-of-living crisis hitting the UK? 

Points noted – contract work lies 
outside remit of DCC Licensing 
Services 
 
Respondent raising concerns 
about economic impact of 
proposals. 

29 Respondent 4.0 Vehicle Emissions and 
Manufacture Criteria  
Tackling air pollution is one of several 
public health priorities aimed at 
safeguarding the public. To combat 
poor air quality, innovative and bold 
measures are being taken across the 
country to ensure the health and 

Respondent raising concerns 
about economic impact of 
proposals and offering 
alternatives for consideration 
including a delay in 
implementation and the ability to 
use pollution control equipment 
fitted retrospectively to older 

Page 163



wellbeing in communities as well as 
road users. Adoption of the following 
proposed policy requirements will 
enable Durham licenced vehicles to 
help to reduce traffic pollution and 
improve local air quality in our region: 
I am led to believe that at the moment, 
75% of Wheelchair access vehicles 
licensed by DCC only meet Euro 4 or 
Euro 5 and as such will need 
replacing. 
Purchasing wheelchair access 
vehicles is proving very difficult, new 
vehicles are requiring a minimum 2 
year lead time, though that keep 
slipping due to the microchip supply 
issues, and the war in Ukraine 
impacting the supply chain for steel 
and wiring harnesses for new 
vehicles. Second hand vehicles are 
commanding a price similar to brand 
new vehicles. To get a reasonable 
priced wheelchair access vehicle you 
have to look at pre 2015, which means 
many are Euro 5. 
to Euro 6, I mean either Euro 6 or 
Electric Vehicles) 
None wheelchair accessible Vehicles. 
From 1st January 2023, only Euro 6 
vehicles will be issued with a new 
license. 
From 1st September 2023, no Euro 4 
vehicles will be permitted to renew 
their license and must be replaced 
with a Euro 6 vehicle. 
From 1st September 2023, to be able 
to renew a Euro 5 vehicle it MUST be 
retrofitted with a fully functioning 
www.atmos-clear.com which is 
capable of reducing harmful emissions 
by up to 72%, whilst delivering a 10% 
decrease in fuel usage. No Atmos-
Clear = no renewal. 
From 1st September 2025, no Euro 5 
vehicles will be permitted to renew 
their licenses and must be replaced 
with Euro 6 vehicles. 
From 1st September 2026, All Euro 6 
vehicles (not EV) over 4 years of age# 
be required to be retrofitted with the 
Atmos-Clear system. (This will ensure 
the vehicles remain as clean as 
possible as they age) 
Wheelchair accessible Vehicles. 
From 1st January 2023, only Euro 6 
vehicles will be issued with a new 
license, unless the owner is 
transferring a plate from a Euro 4 
accessible vehicle to a Euro 5 

vehicles. See also comments in 
relation to response from DT 
and PHA response in 
connection with the retro fitting 
of emission control equipment 
 
See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above.  

Page 164



accessible vehicle and is retrofitted 
with the Atmos-Clear system. 
From 1st September 2023, Euro 4 or 
Euro 5 vehicle may only have licenses 
renewed if retrofitted with a fully 
functioning Atmos-Clear System. 
From 1st September 2024, Euro 4 
accessible vehicles may not be 
renewed, and may only be replaced 
with a Euro 6 vehicle. 
From 1st September 2026, Euro 5 
vehicles may not be renewed and 
must be replaced with Euro 6 vehicles. 
From 1st September 2027, All Euro 6 
vehicles (not EV) over 4 years of age# 
be required to be retrofitted with the 
Atmos-Clear system. (This will ensure 
the vehicles remain as clean as 
possible as they age) 
If the above were adopted, it would 
allow the trade more time to upgrade 
to Euro 6 engines, whilst still allowing 
pollution produced by their vehicles to 
be reduced substantially. 
It would also reduce the average 
drivers fuel bill by 10%. If that 
reduction is accurate, my own vehicle 
would cost around £20 per week less 
to fill, so would recover the cost of 
installing the system in under 6 
months. 
# The requirement to install Atmos-
Clear to Euro 6 vehicles over 4 years 
of age is to allow for manufactures 
warranties to expire, thus avoiding any 
drivers attempting to claim against the 
council should a vehicle manufacturer 
refuse a warranty claim on the basis 
the vehicle had been modified. 
7.6 
 
Other comments same as DT and 
PHA response  

30 Respondent This policy is designed to decimate 
owner drivers and 
small taxi companies. 
It could have been written by the big 
companies as a 
way of getting rid of the competition. 
Following memorable incidents at 
previous CWWG meetings  
and recent revelations from the 
Guardian questions need asking. 
 
The policy is a dirty tick box green with 
no thought about 
the unintended environmental 
problems it will cause. 
 

Points noted 

Page 165



Why would the trade invest 10s of 
thousands of pounds with 
the proposed policy? 
This was put forward by someone with 
little practical knowledge 
of the trade and zero knowledge of 
how business works when  
looking at large financial investments.  
 
It needs to be halted and rewritten 
working with the trade not 
against it, as Craig agreed to do at the 
Dec 2019 CWWG. 

31 Respondent Please can you provide your full 
name. DT and PHA Response 

See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

32 Respondent I against your new policy this is too 
much for us Sent from my iPhone 

Point noted 

33 Respondent Q; is it your intention to overprice the 

ability for people to work 🤷🏻♂️  

No malice intended but it seems 
humanity has no importance to a 
draconian elites agenda.  
I wish you peace, prosperity and a life 

with love 🙏🏼 

Point noted 

34 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

35 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

36 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

37 Respondent 15.15 Vehicle licence holders who fail 
to present their vehicles for test or 
who reschedule their test for a date 
which is later than has been 
scheduled, will have their vehicle 
licence suspended. Where 
appointments have been rescheduled 
for an earlier date and time, no action 
will be taken. 
  
Why should the licence be suspended 
at that point – the licence has been 
paid for and should run the full 
duration of the licence period. 
Unless it is overdue then the licence 
should run until the vehicle is tested, 
regardless of rescheduling, whether 
earlier OR later. There may be 
genuine circumstances preventing the 
attendance to an appointment which 
are beyond the operators control. 
In these examples the Certificate of 
compliance expires on 31st of the 
month. 
Example A:  Operator books vehicle 
test for Friday 10th, operator is 
delayed on holiday due to 
circumstances beyond their control, eg 
illness or flight cancellation and 

Suspension of vehicles – 
vehicles licences may be 
suspended at this point and for 
that reason because of the risks 
of defective vehicles not being 
tested for mechanical fitness 
and not being presented for 
testing because the owner 
knows it will fail the mechanical 
fitness test, continuing to be 
driven on the highway as a 
licensed vehicle.  
 
Continuing Suitability and 
Renewal Process – the driver 
improvement scheme is 
designed by experts to assess 
and support drivers who have 
e.g. accrued penalty points and 
who’s driving behaviour has 
been found to be sub-standard 
and which indicates a continuing 
inability to comply with highway 
legislation and which puts 
members of the travelling public 
at risk. It is a safeguarding 
measure and may be used in 
place of or prior to licence  
revocation. If a driver is required 

Page 166



doesn’t return home in time to get to 
that appointment. Can’t possibly get 
there sooner but could reschedule by 
27th..     Vehicle is plated and 
certificate of compliance runs until 
31st .  
 That vehicle licence has been paid up 
to 31st of that month. 
Example B:  :  Operator books vehicle 
test for Friday 10th.  Operator 
experiences a close family 
bereavement within 48 hours prior to 
the appointment and is unable to get 
to that appointment.  Could 
reschedule for 27th .  Vehicle is still 
licenced until 28th. 
Example C:  Operator is an owner 
driver who contracts Covid within 36 
hours of vehicle test. 
I think there should be some 
discretion/ compassion shown in 
cases of exceptional circumstances.  It 
appears that operators are being 
penalised even when circumstances 
were beyond their control, and even 
when the licence plate is still valid and 
in force. 
 
 
Continuing Suitability and Renewal 
Process  
The ongoing suitability of a licence 
holder will be monitored. In addition, 
the following specific checks will be 
carried out upon renewal, or at any 
other time deemed necessary by the 
Council:  
a) DVLA check  
b) DBS update service (if a driver is no 
longer subscribed to the DBS update 
service at the time of making an 
application for renewal, they will be 
required to apply for a new DBS 
certificate and subscribe to the update 
service prior to a renewal application 
being processed and a licence 
granted)  
c) Notification of 
Convictions/Cautions/Arrest/Ongoing 
or Pending prosecutions or 
investigations etc. This is to include 
motoring fixed penalties and antisocial 
behaviour notices and attendance of 
any speed awareness courses  
d) Private hire licence holders must 
notify the Licensing Authority within 48 
hours of their arrest and release, 
charge or conviction for any sexual 
offence, any offence involving 
dishonesty or violence and any 

to attend such a scheme and 
does not want to, they would be 
at liberty to decline however, 
this would likely mean that they 
would be suspended or theor 
licence would be revoked until 
and unless such a scheme was 
accessed, and their driving 
abilities properly assessed.  
 
Cleanliness of vehicles – point 
noted 
 
Stickers on windows – point 
noted 

Page 167



motoring offence. (We strongly 
recommend and encourage hackney 
carriage licence holders to do the 
same). An arrest for any of the 
offences within this scope will result in 
a review by the Licensing Authority as 
to whether the licence holder is fit to 
continue to do so. Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 
- 2027 31  
e) Checks carried out because of 
information or intelligence received by 
Licensing Services.  
f) Periodic medical examination  
g) Periodic safeguarding including 
CSE awareness training  
h) Periodic disability awareness 
training  
i) Right-to-work / immigration checks  
j) Check of the National Register of 
Taxi Licence Refusals and 
Revocations (NR3)  
k) Requirement to undertake a driver 
improvement scheme 
Before drivers can agree to be bound 
by these terms – surely we should be 
advised what exactly is included 
withing the scope of a “driver 
improvement scheme”.  I note it is also 
referred to as a  “driving improvement 
scheme” under the motoring offences 
section. 
  
 
Standard Conditions of a Private Hire 
Driver Licence  
The licensed driver shall: 
a) Notify the Council as soon as 
possible, and confirm in writing within 
seven days, of any alteration to their 
circumstances or material including 
but not limited to: Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 
- 2027 33 (i) Change of address (ii) 
Change of name (iii) Change of 
private hire operator (iv) Accepting a 
fixed penalty notice or caution, or 
receiving a Criminal Behaviour Order 
(CBO), attendance at any speed 
awareness course (v) Injury sustained 
or illness including mental health 
illness that may alter their medical 
status in line with DVLA Group II 
standards or affect their driving ability 
(vi) Details of any motoring fixed 
penalty endorsements received  
b) Notify the Council within 48 hours of 
being arrested/bailed/charged 
with/convicted of, reported for an 
offence, or otherwise investigated in 

Page 168



connection with any criminal or 
motoring offence  
c) Notify the Council as soon as 
possible, and confirm in writing within 
48 hours, of any traffic accident they 
are involved in whilst driving a 
licenced vehicle.  
d) Apply for and provide a DBS 
disclosure upon request.  
e) Provide a copy of their DVLA 
driving licence or equivalent upon 
reasonable request.  
f) Produce a valid medical certificate, 
upon request (Failure to do so will 
result in the licence being suspended)  
g) When requested attend a medical 
practitioner and/or submit to any drug 
test deemed appropriate  
h) Always behave in a professional 
manner when working.  
i) Keep their vehicles always clean 
and suitable for use by members of 
the public.  
  
Whilst I understand and agree the 
need for vehicles to be kept clean it is 
unfeasable and unrealistic for anyone 
to  “Keep their vehicles always clean” . 
You could have your car washed and 
valeted and drive through a puddle on 
the way to pick up your next fare.  
Your vehicle is now not “always 
clean”. It makes no sense to include 
the word always as it is not attainable 
in reality.  
  
STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(VEHICLES) 
10. The vehicle must prominently 
display the following: • internal licence 
plate / complaint sticker on each 
window so it is clearly visible in all 
passenger areas 
I find it excessive to have these on 
each window in addition to; no 
smoking signs (legal requirement) and 
signs about no eating /drinking or face 
masks must be worn.  Exactly what 
size would these stickers be ?  Before 
long we won’t be able to see out of the 
windows, bearing in mind we also 
need tariff stickers and licence plate 
on display on windscreen. 

38 Respondent It is already difficult to get a taxi in 
Crook, Willington and Bishop 
Auckland. It makes going out difficult 
to go out, things will only get worse 
with the new policy. It needs a rethink, 
I agree with the taxi association. 

Points noted 

Page 169



39 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

40 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

41 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

42 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

43 Respondent It is already difficult to get a taxi in 
Crook, Willington and Bishop 
Auckland. It makes going out difficult 
to go out, things will only get worse 
with the new policy. It needs a rethink, 
I agree with the taxi association. 

Points noted 

44 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

45 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

46 Respondent The National Taxi Association agree 
with the sentiments in the letter from 
the DT&PHA.  
Would it be possible to organise a 
meeting with the National Taxi 
Association to discuss policy matters 
causing great concern to members. 
We note that there has not been any 
trade forum meetings where policy 
review proposals should have been 
discussed and agreed before being 
open to consultation.  
The members of the National Taxi 
Association believe in working with 
licensing authorities in the interest of 
all,licence holders, Councils and the 
travelling public.  
These interests of all cannot be fulfiled 
unless face to face meetings take 
place which is the 1st expected duty of 
a regulatory body in the Regulators 
code of practice.  

Points noted. A meeting with the 
Durham Taxi Working Group 
took place during the 4-week 
consultation period.  

47 Respondent I believe the current policy put forward 
is going to 
reduce the number of drivers 
available. 
Like my husband many are over 50 
and are starting  
to reduce the number of unsocial 
hours he does. 
Where are the new young drivers 
coming from? point noted 
 
This policy is short sighted and written 
by someone with  
no experience of the trade.  
 
I don't know if it is design or not, but 
this will put young women  
in danger which is why I believe it was 
written by a man.  
 

Points noted 

Page 170



I agree with the taxi association this 
policy is draconian and an  
attack on the trade.  

48 DT and PHA As a PH Operator people are not 
willing to wait 
months to be able to work.  
 
The current proposed policy will mean 
more drivers  
leaving and not being replaced. 
 
The new policy could almost have 
been written by 
the large firms to destroy the 
competition.  
 
We agree with the taxi association and 
believe this needs major changes; I 
have never seen such anti small 
business actions since the 70s.  

Points noted 

49 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

50 Respondent City 
of Durham 
Parish Council 

With up to 900 licensed vehicles 
permitted to operate in Durham City at 
any one time, the review  
of the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy is of real 
importance to our parish area and  
we are grateful for the opportunity to 
respond to this important consultation 
. 
The City of Durham Parish Council 
applauds the extensive work which 
has been carried out by both  
the Department for Transport and 
Durham County Council in formulating 
this revised policy; with  
the key aims of ensuring the safety 
and welfare of the public, encouraging 
environmental  
sustainability and ensuring efficient 
taxi and private hire services in 
County Durham. 
 
Primarily, there is clearly a consensus 
that common core minimum standards 
are required to better  
regulate the taxi and private hire 
vehicle sector. The Statutory Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards  
reflect the significant changes in the 
industry and lessons learned from 
experiences in local areas  
since the 2010 version of the 
Department for Transport’s Best 
Practice Guidance. It is noteworthy  
that the recommendations set out in 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards document  

Points noted 

Page 171



(and which the proposed County 
Council policy seeks to incorporate) 
are the result of extensive  
consultation with the taxi and private 
hire vehicle sector, regulators and 
safety campaign groups. 
 
Following on from the 2020 
consultation, the Parish Council 
understands that this present  
consultation is taking place to allow for 
further responses that may result from 
or reflect the effects  
of the Covid pandemic on the taxi 
trade and the travelling public. Whilst 
much of the Policy remains  
unchanged from the 2020 proposals, 
some significant amendments have 
been made and these are  
helpfully detailed on the County 
Council’s website.  
 
The Parish Council very much 
welcomes much of what is proposed 
from the 2022 amendments to 
the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 2021 – 2026 and 
would make the following  
comments. 
  
Vehicle emissions and manufacturer 
criteria 
Firstly, the Parish Council very much 
welcomes that this Policy now 
includes a requirement that all 
new applications must meet at least 
Euro 6 vehicle emissions standards. 
I.e. for a diesel vehicle, it  
cannot emit more than 80mg/km of 
NOx (nitrogen oxides) gases and a 
petrol vehicle cannot emit  
more than 60mg/km. The previous 
Policy proposed that this commence 
from 1st April 2024 and the  
Parish Council is pleased to 
understand that this will commence as 
soon as this Policy is adopted by  
the Full County Council.  
 
Furthermore, for all renewal (existing 
vehicles) applications, the Council 
now proposes that, after  
the 1 January 2023, DCC will not 
accept renewal applications for 
licensed vehicles meeting Euro 4 or  
lower. After the 1 January 2024, DCC 
will not accept renewal applications for 
licensed vehicles  

Page 172



meeting Euro 5 or lower. The Parish 
Council very much welcomes this 
amendment to the wording  
of the Policy. The Parish Council 
believes that specifying Euro 
emissions standards in the Policy is 
preferable to a specification of the age 
of the vehicle as Euro emissions 
standards must be the  
predominant factor of a vehicle not its 
age. The 2023 standard is new and 
acceptable to the Parish  
Council. However, the Parish Council 
requests that the original proposal 
from 2020 that all renewal  
applications from 1st April 2024 must 
meet Euro 6 emissions standards – as 
opposed to the newly  
proposed Euro 5 or lower standard – 
be reintroduced to the Policy.  
 
The revised Policy has also removed 
the 2020 proposal for wheelchair 
accessible vehicles (WAV), i.e.  
that existing licensed WAV's will have 
an extra two years added to the age 
restriction, meaning that  
WAV's that are more than 10 years old 
will not be re-licensed after 1 April 
2024. The Parish Council’s  
understanding from the new Policy is 
that there are no vehicle emissions 
standards for WAVs at all.  
This should be clarified in the new 
Policy.  
 
The Parish Council very much 
applauds the commitments made by 
the North East Combined  
Authority (NECA) at the North East 
Joint Transport Committee on 17th 
November 2020 to expand  
the EV charging network in the region 
and to invest in enabling infrastructure 
for this to happen. As  
such, the Parish Council very much 
welcomes the clear and unambiguous 
statement in the 2022  
Policy that “zero emission vehicles - 
fully electric and zero emission (at 
source) vehicles are welcomed  
by the Council” with no specification of 
age restriction etc. The Parish Council 
would equally  
welcome any and all new initiatives by 
the County Council to support the roll 
out of Electric Vehicles  
as part of its existing fleet and thereby 
include an incentive to drivers e.g. a 
reduced application fee  

Page 173



or similar in order to demonstrate this 
support.  
The Parish Council fully supports the 
additional amendments made to this 
Policy. 

51 Respondent DT and PHA Response See comments in relation to DT 
and PHA response above. 

52  Durham Green 
Party  

Comments expressed represent the 
views  of County Durham Green Party 
(CDGP)  members. We are surprised  
by the delay to this policy update, but 
appreciate the chance to comment on 
the draft document. Whilst welcoming 
the inclusion of national  guidance that 
should  ensure better safety for 
passengers, we  are concerned to  
see the watering down of the 
emissions/age standards for both 
new/replacement  licensed vehicles 
and  renewal  licenses since  the 2020 
draft.  The "proposed changes"  listed  
on the consultation summary page  
are confusing regarding the vehicle 
emissions standards as they do not 
explain WHY the 
standards have  been weakened since  
the last draft.   Why,  given  DCC's 
commitment to  reduce emissions and  
to lead the way on addressing climate 
change, is County Durham destined to 
potentially have  the weakest 
emissions standards for  taxi  licensing 
across  all of the North East Local 
Authorities (LAs)? !      How is this 
policy going to  improve the AQMAs  
in  Durham City and  Chester-le-
Street?  There is also confusion on 
when the policy is intended to  run  
until, as the consultation states 2026 
but the draft document runs through to  
2027. 
 
Vehicle Emissions and  Manufacture 
Criteria (Para 4.0) 
The Dept for Transport's 'Statutory 
Taxi  & Private  Hire  Vehicle 
Standards (July 2020)' refers (at Para 
4.21) to the 
LGA's 'Taxi  and  PHV Licensing 
Councillors handbook (July 2021)', 
where one  criterion on the main  
checklist asks:  "Do your taxi licensing 
officers have a regular dialogue  with 
neighbouring councils,  with a view to 
adopting consistent standards,  
developing a common approach and 
to share relevant information?"  Given 
that 
there was  originally an aim to 
standardise the taxi  emissions license 

Points noted 

Page 174

mailto:secretary@durham.greenparty.org.uk
mailto:secretary@durham.greenparty.org.uk


standards across all 12 of the North  
East LAs (as taxis do  not stay within 
council  boundaries), we  would  
question why the Council  has been  
unable to achieve this.  It's also 
confusing why some  LAs are setting 
vehicle age limits and  others are 
using  the EURO emissions standard,  
as this does  not seem  to  account for  
any  retrofitting of vehicles. Perhaps 
an emissions test would  be better? 
We welcome that all new  applications 
will  need to meet the EURO 6 
standard  but it means that from this 
year  newly licensed vehicles could  
be 7+ years  old,  which lags  behind 
the previous aim  of new licenses only 
for vehicles  less than 4 years  old  
(which  Newcastle,  Hartlepool,  
Darlington,  and  Gateshead have). 
Newer vehicles generally have  better 
fuel  efficiency.   The proposal for 
vehicle license  renewals has also  
drifted slightly from the original  aim  
(and  the phrasing at Para 4.2 is a tad 
confusing)  but we  can  understand 
the need to phase in the EURO 5 
standard  (2023, vehicles 9-12 years  
old) then EURO 6 standard  (2024, 
vehicles  up to  9 years  old),  but 
again, many other LAs have more 
stringent age limits for renewals.   At  
Para 4.3 we feel there should  be 
more of a statement on  how DCC  will  
be encouraging licensees to switch to 
LEVs,  eg via grants or by the 
introduction of CAZ/LEZs in the 
towns/city. 
 
Promotion of taxi  licensing objectives 
(Para 6.0) 
We feel  that there is little in this 
section on  the aim  (5.1c) of 
"encouraging environmental  
sustainability".   There should  be a 
recognition that emissions (and  noise 
pollution) from  taxis could be further 
reduced  by better maintenance  of 
vehicles, eco-driving practices and  by 
drivers switching off engines when 
stationary or idling, both at taxi  ranks  
and  when picking up from private 
addresses.  Other LAs have a 
statement on this in their policies (eg  
Darlington, Stockton and  Newcastle).   
Under para  6.2 there is reference to  
a "current Community Protection 
Enforcement Policy", but our  
members were unable to find  this on 
the DCC  website.   A clear  policy is 

Page 175



needed on  what any  enforcement 
should  be  regarding excessive 
engine idling or poorly maintained 
vehicles. 
 
 
Appendix 1:  Drivers 
We feel  that, in  addition to the 
safeguarding and  disability 
awareness training, drivers should 
attend emissions awareness training 
(smarter driving/no  idling etc) and  
vehicle maintenance training (for 
better road  efficiency). 
 
Additional 
The draft policy does not include  a 
'code of conduct'  for  
drivers/passengers or 'taxi  rank  
etiquette'  which are included  in the 
policies of other LAs,  eg Newcastle's.  
This could  include  a requirement for 
private  hire taxis  to turn off their 
engines when waiting (as a courtesy 
to  residents) and  no engines  idling 
at a taxi  rank,  or the use 
of start/stop technology.   Driver 
behaviour can be as much of a factor 
in reducing emissions as the 
standards. 
 
[Response compiled by Janet 
Hutchinson on behalf of COGP 
members                                                                               

53 The City of 
Durham Trust  

Dear Sir or Madam, 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 
 
The Trust is grateful for the 
opportunity to respond to these 
proposals. 
 
Vehicle emissions and manufacture 
criteria 
The Trust welcomes the phasing out 
of vehicles which do not meet the 
Euro 6 standard. For newly-registered 
vehicles the Trust would like to see 
stronger criteria. The first registrations 
for Euro 6 compliant vehicles were 
seven years ago. Requiring newly-
registered vehicles to meet the Euro 6 
standard and to be less than 4 years 
old as required by Newcastle. 
Darlington, Gateshead and Hartlepool 
would be of benefit, as newer vehicles 
will tend to be even more fuel-efficient. 
 

Points noted. Taxi rank and 
telemetry proposals lie outside 
licensing policy remit.  

Page 176



The Trust would like to see the policy 
strengthened to encourage a move to 
low emission vehicles (e.g. fully 
electric). Giving notice of a future date 
when licence renewal for fossil-fuel 
vehicles will start to be phased out 
would enable taxi companies to plan 
their replacement programmes. 
Perhaps for firms with large fleets the 
council could require a steadily-
increasing percentage of vehicles to 
be electric over the rest of the decade. 
The Council should also require higher 
emissions standards within air quality 
management areas like Durham City 
Centre. 
 
Environmental sustainability 
Although environmental sustainability 
is listed as one of the aims and 
objectives of the licensing policy at 
5.1(c) there is little, other than the 
inspection and testing of vehicles, to 
deliver this aim. The policy should 
include a requirement to turn off 
engines when waiting at taxi ranks or 
when a taxi or private hire vehicle is 
collecting a passenger. This would 
reduce both emissions and noise 
pollution. Newcastle and Darlington 
each have statements to this effect in 
their policies. Prior to the 
commencement of the bus station 
works, idling taxi engines contributed 
greatly to the localised air pollution in 
North Road. Could compulsory 
training for drivers also include fuel-
efficient driving techniques? 
 
Taxi ranks 
The more popular taxi ranks may be 
oversupplied with vehicles, and when 
a taxi rank is full, taxi drivers may be 
tempted to park their vehicles in 
loading bays and other locations 
approaching tail end of the rank. The 
Trust would also like to see stronger 
wording against this practice coupled 
with enforcement. Long taxi ranks, 
such as on North Road, occupy a lot 
of valuable street space without the 
level of demand during the daytime to 
justify the number of waiting vehicles. 
It is essentially parking provision in 
premium street space which should be 
reallocated to sustainable transport or 
features such as seating to make 
streets more liveable. Could a 
common online/telephone taxi 
hailing/booking system reduce the 

Page 177



need for taxi ranks and improve the 
taxi service by spreading vehicles 
more evenly? Reducing the distance 
travelled by taxis travelling empty 
would reduce emissions and help 
support our climate change objectives. 
 
 
 
Road safety 
Some insurers now offer motorists 
lower premiums in return for installing 
a “black box” which monitors the style 
of driving and compliance with speed 
limits. Is it possible for the council to 
require telematic monitoring through 
the licensing regime to improve road 
safety? 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
Francis Pritchard 
Hon. Secretary 
 

 

 

 

Page 178



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Licensing Services, Community Protection, 
Neighbourhood Services/ Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Lead Officer 
 

Craig Rudman 

Title 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

 

Start Date 
 

20th February 2020 

Review Date 
 

Prior to Adoption by Council by end of 2021  

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

 
The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has been produced in 
accordance with the powers conferred by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 
1985, as amended, which places on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing 
functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire licensing and also in 
accordance with relevant government guidance. In formulating this policy, the 
Licensing Authority has had regard to the provisions of the European Convention 
on Human Rights, Human Rights Act 1998, Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and the 
Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 
2000 and the Equality Act 2010. – All previous and current policy versions have 
been subject to screening following the initial full EIA. This screening assessment 
has taken into consideration the current policy and the proposed changes pre-
consultation. A further screening assessment will take place once the final draft of 
the proposed revised policy is available in December 2020 prior to reporting to 
GLRC and in February 2021 prior to reporting to full Council. The following 

Page 179



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

proposed changes/amendments have been considered and subjected to the 
screening process: 
 
SM Report Appendix 3:  Table of Pre-Consultation Proposals  
 
1 New Licences - An age restriction policy to be adopted with a 4-year vehicle 
age policy with effect from April 2020 for all newly licensed vehicles. This means 
the EURO 6 emissions standard applies from April 2020 to all new licences  
Existing Vehicles - From April 2023, to adopt an 8-year age policy so vehicles 
older than 8 years will not be licensed.   From April 2023 all diesel and petrol 
engine vehicles must be Euro 6.   The taxi trade therefore has 4 years to comply (3 
years from April 2020).   
Wheelchair accessible vehicles - Existing vehicles will have an extra 2 years 
added to the age restriction meaning that April 2025 is the compliance date.   
Therefore, it is possible that a relatively low number of wheelchair accessible 
vehicles will be Euro 5 between April 2023 to April 2025.   
‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at source’ vehicles would be exempt 
2 Reference that the licence plate cannot be altered or defaced in any way 
3 Reference to post-accident testing requirements 
4 Reference 'reported for an offence' in addition to ‘charged with’ 
5 Addition of wording associated with the section of guidance that states: "We 
recommend that licensing authority rules for drivers are updated to make clear 
when a meter can and cannot be left running" 
6 Terrorism and hate crime offences to be added to appendix 2 
7 Possibility that we would also propose the use of an agreed formula to 
enable an annual tariff review to be implemented, this formula would be based on 
industry costs from across the county. Taking into consideration the cost of fuel, 
tyres, wages, licensing fees, insurance premiums Garage costs etc. 
8 Vehicle defect book – addition of minimum timescale for keeping records 
and maximum time periods for vehicle checking i.e. once a week, daily or other 
specific period 
9 Consideration of acceptance of weekly insurance cover 
10 Amendment of the wording on the advertising condition regarding location 
of advertising to be restricted to rear doors, rear panels and boot 
11 Amendment and clarification of ‘fit and proper’ and ‘safe and suitable’ tests 
12 Addition of other offences to Appendix 2 including local authority enforced 
statutes and regulations  
13 Consideration of inclusion of a Drivers Code of Conduct 
14 Preventing the use of e-cigs and vaping in a licensed vehicle 
15 Additions to Operator Conditions re use of base (e.g. parking and 
maintenance of licensed vehicles etc) 
16 Addition to Appendix 2 of Equality Act offences 
17 Addition of changes to categories of write-off vehicles 
18 Additional information on applications to the Council for medical exemptions  
19 Clarification of prohibition on duplication of vehicle licences  
20 Additional explanatory information regarding passenger transport contracts 
e.g. home to school  
21 Consideration of time locked meters - also all meters set with maximum 
tariffs 

Page 180



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

22 Reference in ‘fitness’ to suicidal threats / attempts, not a fit state of mind as 
per DVSA or other relevant guidance  
23 Adopt the IOL suitability guidance 
24 Transfers of vehicles - specify time frame when a transfer should be 
received and explain process 
25 NAFN register needs to be referenced 
26 Need to incorporate into the policy that all tyres on the vehicle must be the 
same size and ratings etc 
27 Information and guidance on conduct and behaviour when using social 
media sites  
28 Reference electric vehicles 
29 Under appendix 1 continuing suitability need to refer under medical that 
they need to inform us of any changes to their health. Need to reference that 
drivers always need to meet Group 2 standards. Could list some of the major 
illnesses i.e. stroke, heart attack, diabetes etc 
30 Clarification on where a licence is refused / revoked, that it is 5 years from 
that date during which the council wouldn’t normally grant a licence - Make clear re 
refusals / revocations that a licence will not be granted unless 5 years has elapsed 
31 More clarification on who is required to carry out the vehicle checks 
32 Clarification on use of taxi meters in private hire vehicles 
33 Suggestion to refresher CSE training every 2 to 3 years (time to be decided 
at consultation stage) 
34 Randomised and targeted drug testing for drivers 
35 Policy to reference the need for licence holders to be respectful etc to other 
drivers 
36 Clarification on illumination of top signs  
37 Look at trailers - should we include a test? Page 471 of button book para 
9.46 
38 Clarify DBS update service needs to be live with a valid certificate - upon 
renewal 
39 Amend transfer of a vehicle application - refer to section 49 LGMPA re 14 
days 
40 Inclusion of a definition of a special vehicle 
41 Explanation of transfer of ownership - quote section 49 of LGMPA 1976 
42 Changes to the PHO to require other persons associated with the 
application to be fit and proper not just the applicant 
43 Suggestion that for new applicants having 6 points or more to go to 
committee for licensing decision  
44 Explanation in policy re why we do not allow surrender of a drivers badge 
but allow vehicle licence surrenders 
45 Greater explanation of why a proprietor may be referred to committee.  
46 Greater explanation of what we require for a medical exemption - i.e. blood 
tests, skin prick etc refer to guidance issued from guide dogs 
47 Approved tests for fitness and propriety for operator and vehicle licences - 
refer to the Ann Harris case 
48 Take 'annual' out from continuing suitability point a) DVLA check 
49 Top sign - make it clearer that HCV vehicles must always have a top sign  
50 Consideration of first aid kits – the one we currently require is for up to 10 
persons – need to state applicable to the number of persons people can carry. 
Also, if not sealed then unsterile and needs to be replaced 

Page 181



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

51 A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period of three years, (or less as 
the Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances). - make it clearer as 
there is the option of 1 2 and 3 years. Addition of the word 'up to' 3 years 
52 Additional information and clarification on the decal exemptions associated 
with executive / luxurious vehicle  
53 Additional information clarifying and explaining the policy and processes 
followed in relation to late renewal applications (application of Exeter v Sandle) 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

 
The Council has taken into account the views of the following when preparing this 
policy: 

 Service users 
 Current licence holders 
 Elected members of the Council including members  Durham 

Constabulary 
 Local businesses and their representatives (trade associations) 
 Residents and their representative bodies  
 Local transport providers 
 Disability Groups including Durham County Council Disability Partnership  
 Planning Authority 

A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available from the Licensing 
Section. 
 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
Initial screening (Reviewed) CR 
Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, drivers and operators.  
No overall impacts have been identified across the equality strands.  
The policy applies to all regardless of gender, age, disability, religious belief, race 
or ethnic minority or sexual orientation.  However, there are implications for the 
following strands, but these have been explained and addressed within the policy 
and the full impact assessment.  
• Gender 
 Gender of applicants is not considered a barrier to the issuing of taxi 
licenses and Durham County Council.  
• Age 
 Age restrictions are included in applications for taxi drivers however these 
follow  national guidelines. All members of the                    
           community can use taxis, and no one should be refused.  
• Disability 

Page 182



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles always 
have the appropriate equipment to be able to transport passengers in wheelchairs 
. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended until such time as the Council 
considers the vehicle is fit for purpose). 
• Race/Ethnicity 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct from the relevant Embassy and will be required to pass the Council’s 
knowledge and locality test. (as will all applicants) 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No,? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N N 

Disability 
 

N N 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Reminder of our legal duties: 

Page 183



 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

o Eliminating unlawful discrimination & harassment   
o Promoting equality of opportunity 
o Promoting good relations between people from different groups 
o Promoting positive attitudes towards disabled people and taking account of 
someone’s disability, even where that involves treating them more favourably than 
other people 
o Involving people, particularly disabled people, in public life and decision 
making 
Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in an 
integrated transport system. They can provide services in situations where other 
forms of public transport are not available in rural areas and for those with mobility 
difficulties.  The council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and 
private hire licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licensed 
vehicles of the council are safe, comfortable, properly insured and available where 
and when required. 
 
 
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
The legislation, guidance and policy are for the benefit of all taxi license 
applications that meet the statutory and policy criteria. The licensing authority 
holds a neutral stance in relation to all matters providing the application criteria are 
met by the applicant. The only reasons for rejecting an application stem from the 
statutory and policy requirements of the application process. The only objections 
that may be considered by the licensing authority that may lead to a decision not to 
grant a licence relate exclusively to aspects associated with the applicant being a 
fit and proper person in law. To ensure best practice it was decided to continue 
with a further full impact assessment of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy due to the complexity of the harmonisation of the seven different 
districts former processes and the impact this would have on delivery of this 
function. 
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

N 

Page 184



 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: Craig Rudman 
 
 

Date: 20th February 
2020 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Mary Gallagher 
 

Date: 
1 November 2022 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 185

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 186



 9 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 187



 10 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

 
 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 
 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 188

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

             

Council 

7 December 2022 

Creation of new  
Head of Corporate Affairs post 

 

   

Report of Chief Executive 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To inform Council of the decision of the Chief Officer Appointments 
Committee (COAC) to create a new Head of Service role – Head of 
Corporate Affairs - which will report directly to the Chief Executive.  

2 The report also sets out for information the deletion of two existing 
Head of Service posts which are directly related to the creation of this 
new post and the associated savings arising from the structural 
changes that were agreed as part of the establishment of this post.  

Executive summary 

3 At its annual meeting on 25 May 2022, the Council delegated 
responsibility for the creation of posts where the salary package is in 
excess of £100,000 to the Chief Officer Appointments Committee 
(COAC). It is a requirement that the creation of any such posts will be 
reported to the next convenient meeting of Council for information.  
 

4 On 16 June 2022, COAC considered and approved a proposal to 
create a new Head of Corporate Affairs post, as part of a review of the 
senior management structure.   

5 The postholder will lead on the council’s management of corporate 
affairs and provide support to the Chief Executive and Corporate 
Management Team to deliver the strategic priorities of the council.  
This new post includes responsibility for corporate communications 
and media as well as corporate strategy, planning and performance.   

6 The creation of the post was subject to  the deletion of the following 
roles and the associated transfer of functions: 

(a) Head of Corporate Policy, Planning and Performance (HoS 3 level) 
- salary of £84,884 (budgeted cost of £112,032 including on costs); 
and 

 

Page 189

Agenda Item 11



(b) Head of Communications and Marketing (HoS 3 level) – salary of 
£84,884 (budgeted cost of £112,032 including on costs).   

7 The new role was job evaluated at HoS 2 level - salary of £107,520 
(budgeted cost of £142,263 including on costs).    

8 The post was subsequently advertised and a recruitment exercise was 
concluded in October. 

9 The creation of the new role and deletion of the posts referred to above 
provide a net saving of £81,801 (including on costs) and a reduction of 
x 1 FTE Head of Service within the senior management structure. The 
savings arising from these changes will be factored into MTFP13.  

Recommendation(s) 

10 Council  is recommended to note the decision by COAC to create a 
new Head of Corporate Affairs post and the savings associated with 
the structural changes that have been actioned as part of the business 
case.  

Page 190



Background 

11 At its meeting on 16 June 2022, COAC considered and agreed a 
proposal to create a new role of Head of Corporate Affairs. This new 
role was created in order to provide strong strategic leadership across 
stakeholder engagement, corporate planning and performance, council 
and stakeholder communications and relationships with key external 
partners.  

12 The role is responsible for delivery of Council policy, priorities, strategy 
and performance, handling public relations and corporate affairs 
(including building relationships and networks), managing media 
services and public relations. The role will report to the Chief Executive 
and will also provide corporate support to Corporate Directors and 
directorates.  

13 The role is also responsible for the development and implementation of 
a comprehensive corporate change and improvement programme, 
aimed at bringing about sustained improvement to the way the council 
operates and ensuring the council has a voice with key stakeholders 
and partners. The role will have oversight and ensure join up of various 
Council strategies and ensure the link with the Council priorities and 
plans. 

14 The new role replaces the previous Head of Communications and 
Marketing post, which has been vacant since January 2022 and the 
Head of Policy, Planning and Performance. The Head of Policy, 
Planning and Performance was consulted in line with the Council’s HR 
procedures and will be retiring in January 2023.  

15 The new post was evaluated using the Local Government Association 
(LGA) Senior Managers Scheme, which is consistent with the process 
for grading all Heads of Service and Strategic Manager posts within 
the Council.  The role profile for the post is attached at Appendix 2. 

16 The role was job evaluated at HoS 2 level - salary of £107,520 (budgeted 
cost of £142,263 including on costs).    

17 Following the approval of the Chief Officer Appointments Committee to 
create the post, consultation was undertaken on the proposals with the 
Head of Policy, Planning and Performance. Following this consultation, 
the post was then subsequently advertised internally and externally in 
July 2022 with final interviews and assessments of shortlisted 
candidates taking place 29/ 30 September 2022. The process was 
supported by an executive recruitment company. The new post holder 
is due to start employment with the Council in January 2023. 

18 The creation of the new post and deletion of two existing posts provides 
a net ongoing saving of £81,801 (including on costs) and a reduction of 

Page 191



x 1 FTE Head of Service.  The savings arising from these changes will 
be factored into MTFP13. 

Conclusion 

19 The creation of the Head of Corporate Affairs post and the 
appointment to it, is reported to Council for information.   

 

Contact: Alison Lazazzera Tel:  03000 264473 

   

  

Page 192



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
In February 2012, the Secretary of State issued statutory guidance under 

S.40 Localism Act 2011. Under the “Openness and Accountability in Local 

Pay” guidance, elected members should be offered the opportunity to vote on 

the proposal to create a new Head of Service post with a salary above 

£100,000.  Council has delegated this responsibility to COAC. However, 

there is a requirement that the creation of such posts is reported to the next 

convenient meeting of Council for information. 

 
Finance 
The deletion of the two Head of Service Band 3 roles, and the establishment 

of a new Head of Service role at Band 2, will result in net budget saving of 

£81,801. The savings arising from these changes will be factored into 

MTFP13.  

 

The Early Retirement or Voluntary Redundancy costs associated with the 

deletion of the Head of Corporate Policy, Planning and Performance will be 

met from the corporate ERVR Reserve. 

 
Consultation 
Consultation on the proposals took place with affected employees and 

recognised Trade Unions in line with corporate HR policies and processes. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 

 
Climate Change 
None 

 
Human Rights 
None 

 
Crime and Disorder 
None 

 
Staffing 
The Head of Communications and Marketing is vacant and therefore there 

were no staffing implications associated with the deletion of that post.   

Deletion of the Head of Corporate Policy, Planning and Performance, has 

resulted in a redundancy situation and an application for early retirement and 

Page 193



voluntary redundancy was subsequently agreed in line with corporate HR 

policies and processes. 

Accommodation 
None 

 
Risk 
None 

 
Procurement 
None 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 194



Appendix 2:  Role Profile : Head of Corporate Affairs 

 
JOB TITLE Head of Corporate Affairs DIRECTORATE Chief Executive 

SERVICE Corporate Affairs GRADE HOS 2 

REPORTING TO Chief Executive 

  
PURPOSE OF JOB To lead on the council’s management of corporate affairs and to support the Chief Executive to deliver the strategic priorities of the 

council, including responsibility for corporate communications, media and corporate strategy, planning and performance 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JOB OUTLINE/KEY RESULT AREAS  

Generic Key Result Areas 
 Contribute to the strategic development and delivery of the Corporate Affairs Service to meet the Council’s policy and planning requirements.  
 Lead and manage all employees, relevant budgets, and service performance in accordance with council procedures and objectives. 
 Contribute to and manage the development and implementation of the service and council wide initiatives to deliver improvements across the council. 
 Manage relationships with internal and external partners to support the delivery of efficient and effective services. 
 Lead strategy, planning and improvements across the services in scope, participating in partnership arrangements as appropriate. 
 Operate effectively as part of the Extended Management Team of the Council and Senior Leadership Team of the directorate. 
 Lead teams to display the Council’s Values & Behaviours,  
 Ensure the principles of equality, diversity and inclusion in addition to the Council’s other corporate values and priorities are embraced and underpin all 

work for employees and service users. 
 Provide clear and visible leadership, promoting health, safety and wellbeing of the teams in scope and providing a positive working environment and 

culture. 
 
Role Specific Key Result Areas 
 Provide strategic support to the Chief Executive in relation to the corporate affairs of the council  
 Develop and implement a comprehensive corporate change and improvement programme aimed at bringing about rapid and sustained improvement to 

the way the Council operates and the way services are provided 
 To work with the Chief Executive and other Heads of Service to lead on Service Improvement initiatives  
 Lead council wide strategy and performance management  
 Lead on strategic relationships with stakeholders at local, regional and national level 

 

P
age 195



 Lead the management of council-wide public relations and media services to ensure the Council receives fair and comprehensive media coverage 
ensuring policies and achievements receive adequate publicity and that the Council image is enhanced both locally and nationally, creating a positive 
and lasting impression; 

 Lead the development and management of the corporate communications services to promote Council services and activities to the widest audience; 
 Lead the development of the council’s corporate plan, working with internal and external stakeholders to align planning with strategy 
 Lead on the council’s equalities work, setting strategy and policy and integration across the council 
 Coordinate external inspections  
 Lead the provision of advice and information to members, officers and all services of the council on all matters relating to publicity, communications and 

media relations; 
 To act as the Council’s lead officer for communications during emergency and statutory situations such as elections, ensuring that responsibilities are 

fulfilled, communications remain timely, accurate, useful and helpful and the reputation of the Council is proactively managed, working closely with 
partners  

 To actively promote and represent the interests of the Council, and where appropriate, the Service, at local, regional and national level participating in 
relevant programmes, showcasing good practice and contributing to exchange networks;  

 Carry out ‘horizon scanning’ to ensure that opportunities for Durham related areas of work are developed and potential risk is identified and managed 
 Lead the development and management of the Council’s web-site and social media platforms, working with service areas to empower front line staff to 

maximise the opportunities from these channels  
 To manage the corporate management team strategic forward work programme 
 To create a corporate stakeholder engagement plan and leading on the implementation. 
 Develop the councils approach to reputational management putting together campaigns and strategies to realise the councils profile locally and 

nationally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 196



QUALIFICATIONS, SKILLS, KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE 
REQUIRED FOR POST 

SERVICE AREA/TECHNICAL COMPETENCIES REQUIRED 
 

Education & Qualifications 

 Relevant professional qualification at degree level or equivalent – or 
significant experience that demonstrates ability to undertake the role 
to an exceptional level  
 

 

Skills  

 Leadership, delegation and team building skills. 
 High level problem solving, financial control and organisational skills. 
 Significant political, cultural and organisational awareness. 
 High level of communications skills 
 Ability to think analytical, strategically and creatively 
 Project and change management skills  
 

Knowledge 

 Local government statutory requirements 
 Social marketing techniques 
 PR, corporate communications 
 Web based and social media technologies 
 Council strategic direction, priorities and issues 

 

Experience 

 Substantial leadership experience 
 Working at a senior level. 
 Developing corporate image 
 Strategy development. 
 Senior management and budgetary experience. 
 Experience of internal and external partnership working. 
 Experience of managing diverse multi-disciplinary teams. 

Leadership 

 Analytical thinking - The mental processes of analysis and evaluation. 
 Strategic thinking - Balancing today's expectations and requirements with the 

future opportunities, issues, and concerns that may affect business results 
tomorrow. 

 Developing others - To coach or mentor others to achieve their best. 
 Business acumen - The ability to make good business judgements and 

decisions. 
Service/Technical: 

 Knowledge of relevant legislation, statutory frameworks, good practice and 
government policy initiatives. 

 Communications including theories and best practice 
 Understanding of technology that can support and enhance communication and 

marketing activity including web and social media 
 

 

 

P
age 197



 Experience of building effective working relationships. 
 Working with members 
 Leading service improvement/ transformation 
 
 
 

 

 

P
age 198



 

             

       

 County Council 

7 December 2022 

Request to Change Name of Parish 

Council – Hutton Henry 

 

Report of Legal and Democratic Services 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Blackhall  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the request submitted by Hutton Henry Parish Council 
proposing a name change of the Parish Council to Hutton Henry and 
Station Town Parish Council. 

Executive summary 

2 Under section 75 of the Local Governance Act 1972, a request from a 
Parish Council which covers only a name change for the parish can be 
undertaken without the need to conduct a community governance 
review. 

3 The justification for the request to change the name of Hutton Henry 
Parish Council to Hutton Henry and Station Town Parish Council is that 
it will better reflect the area covered by the Parish Council.  

Recommendation(s) 

4 Council is recommended to approve the request to change the name of 
Hutton Henry Parish Council to Hutton Henry and Station Town Parish 
Council 

5 Subject to the name change being approved by Council, the Head of 
Legal & Democratic Services will be requested to: 

(a) Arrange for details of the name change to be published on the 
Parish Council website and on the County Council’s website. 

(b) Notify the name change to the Secretary of State for the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, the 

 

Page 199

Agenda Item 12



Director General of the Ordinance Survey, Registrar General and 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England.  

(c) Arrange for the electoral register for the area to be updated and 
republished with the new name, which will come into effect on 1 
February 2023.  

  

Page 200



Background 

6 The proposal to change the name of Hutton Henry Parish Council to 
include Station Town was originally raised at the Hutton Henry Parish 
Council meeting held on 11 November 2019. Parish councillors agreed 
that action should be taken to enquire with Durham County Council 
regarding the necessary procedure to action this name change. The 
relevant enquiry was made to the County Council on 15 November 
2019. 

7 The purpose of the name change is to recognise Station Town as being 
an area covered by the Parish Council.  

8 Under section 75 Local Government Act 1972, if a Parish Council 
submits a proposal which requests only a change of the Parish 
Council’s name, there is no requirement for a Community Governance 
review to be undertaken. 

9 Both the County Councillors for the Blackhall electoral division have 
been consulted and have confirmed their support for the proposed 
name change.  

10 If the County Council agrees to the name change, the formal 
requirements set out in the recommendations at paragraph 5 will need 
to be completed. There is no cost to the County Council in relation to 
the proposed change other than the Officer time incurred in considering 
the change and (if the change is approved) in completing the formalities 
referred to above. There may be a cost to the Parish Council in relation 
to updated signage and stationery referring to the parish name. No 
costs or fees are accrued during the process of the name change other 
than officer time. 

11 Should Council approve the request, it is proposed that the name 
change shall be implemented from the 1st of February 2023. This is the 
next practical date which the Electoral Register can be updated and 
republished with the relevant name change. The Clerk of Hutton Henry 
Parish Council has confirmed that the Parish Council supports this 
proposed timescale. 

12 Whilst the County Council may refuse the name change request it is 
apparent that amongst those households who responded to the survey 
there is support for the name change. 

 

  

Page 201



Consultation 

13 The Parish Council undertook a consultation exercise in March 2020 to 
gain the opinion of local residents. Leaflets regarding the proposed 
name change were delivered to all houses within the parish. The 
consultation exercise had a very low response rate of only 23 residents. 
Due to the distraction of the pandemic, it was agreed that a further 
consultation exercise should be carried out when the pandemic became 
under control. 

14 Accordingly, a second consultation exercise was carried out between 30 
August 2022 to 27 September 2022. The method used to conduct the 
consultation was an electronic survey, with hardcopies being made 
available in locations across the parish.  

15 A report written by the Parish Clerk was submitted to the County 
Council on 30 September 2022 (See Appendix 2). The report titled 
‘Parish Council Name Change Consultation Review’ detailed the 
findings of the consultation survey. The figures provided within this 
consultation review have been used to inform this report. 

16 The survey received 73 responses from a possible 750 (approx.) 
households. 57 respondents (78.1%) supported the name change 
proposal. 

17 Of those responding to the survey, 46 respondents (63%) live within 
Station Town, with the remaining 27 (37%) living in Hutton Henry. 

18 Examples of comments made by respondents in support of the name 
change include: 

a) ‘As it represents two villages the name should represent this’ 

b) ‘As we pay council tax element to the Parish Council it should 
recognise this 

c) ‘It is a firm yes to the name change to include Station Town in the 
name it is the inclusion and the recognition that will spur residents on 
to take pride in the village.’ 

19 Examples of comments made by respondents opposing of the name 
change: 

a) ‘Why change something that works. A lot of paperwork and hassle 
for no reason.’ 

b) ‘Changing the name won’t make any difference to the work already 
done by the Parish Council which is what counts.’  

Page 202



20 Overall, the responses gathered within the consultation were in favour 
of the name change. 

 

Conclusion 

21 The Council is required to consider the request made by Henry Hutton 
Parish Council to change the name of the Parish Council to Hutton 
Henry and Station Town Parish Council. 

 

Background papers 

Appendix 2 - Parish Council Name Change Consultation Review    

 

Author(s) 

Katherine Marley    Tel:  03000 265854 

  

Page 203



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The County Council as principal authority is required to consider requests 
from Parish Council’s to change their name. As set out in the report, such 
requests can be considered without the need for a community governance 
review.  

Finance 

Minimal officer time has been spent on the application for a name change and 
the publication requirements will not incur any costs on behalf of the County 
Council. 

Consultation 

The report sets out the consultation which has been undertaken by the Parish 
Council. The local County Councillors have been consulted and are supportive 
of the proposals.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No Implications 

Climate Change 

No Implications 

Human Rights 

No Implications 

Crime and Disorder 

No Implications 

Staffing 

No Implications 

Accommodation 

No Implications 

Risk 

No Implications 

Procurement 

No Implications 

Page 204



Appendix 2:  Parish Council Name Change Consultation Review    

 

Hutton Henry Parish Council 
Mrs L Hall, Clerk to the Parish Council 

8 Jamieson Terrace, South Hetton, Co Durham, DH6 2SR 

Tel: 07554688217 

Email: huttonhenrypc@hotmail.co.uk 
 

Report: Parish Council Name Change Consultation Review    

  
Date of Meeting: 29th September 2022  

  
Author: L Hall, Clerk   

  

1. Purpose of the report   
The purpose of this report is for Hutton Henry Parish Council to discuss the outcome 

of a recent public consultation to change the name of the council to Hutton Henry and 

Station Town Parish Council.   

  

2. Background   
As a result of previous consultations, the council formally proposed to Durham 

County Council that Hutton Henry Parish Council change their name to Hutton Henry 

and Station Town Parish Council in August 2022. The council have previously 

established that a simple name change does not require a community governance 

review (section 75 of the LGA 1972).   

  

3. Research    
In 2020 the Council leafleted residents asking for their opinions with regards to 

changing the name of the PC – of the 25 responses 17 were for and 5 against.   

  

In 2021, Action for Station Town conducted a survey of all residents in Station Town. 

90% of those surveyed agreed that the PC should change its name to include Station 

Town.   

  

At the 2021 PC Meet and Greet, of the 17 people questioned, 6 people agreed that 

the PC should change its name.   

  

Having debated the matter on several occasions in PC meetings, the council 

resolved to change their name to include Station Town in July 2022 and made a 

formal proposal to DCC at which point they were advised to conduct a further 4-week 

consultation.   

  

The survey produced was made available electronically, via google forms and in 

hardcopy at The  

Page 205



Plough Inn, St Francis Village Hall, Station Town Cemetery, Milbank Methodist 

Church, and Gills Fish Shop. The survey was promoted on the Parish noticeboards, 

website, and Facebook page as well as being shared to several local Facebook 

groups e.g., Hutton Henry Hub, Action for Station Town etc and information was 

posted in the local free newspaper, East Durham News. Councillors also attended 

the local bingo, church, and coffee morning to speak to residents and encourage 

completion of the survey.   

  

The survey received 73 responses from a possible 750 (approx.) households, with 

78.1% agreeing that the council should change their name (see appendix A).   

  

4. Resources and Cost Implications   
The Clerk was advised that there are no fees for the name change process and having 
spoken to the Clerk of a local Parish Council who have recently undergone the 
process, this was confirmed.   

  
In terms of resources, the Clerk may require additional hours to collate information 

and make changes to bank mandates, the PC website, PC policies, stationary etc.    

  

5. Summary   
The council have previously resolved and proposed to DCC that their name should 

be changed to include Station Town. Having conducted further consultation, the 

residents have shown their support for this proposal.  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



Appendix A – Results of Name Change Consultant   

  

 

  

 
Comments for:  
- If the parish council looks after both Hutton Henry and Station Town, then the name should 

reflect this. Although they seem to be joint, we must remember though, that both villages have 

their own needs, and treated as such. Trying to assume that the two villages are one, is not 

true to reality. As long as this is remembered, I see no problem with a name change.  
- I didn’t know until recently that the parish council was for both areas.  
- More projects and funds shared equally between the 2 villages  
- Seeing as our council tax bill includes monies for the parish council, Station Town should be 

recognised as they contribute to the funding.  
- As a relatively newcomer to the area who lives halfway between the two villages (but over the 

ST border) we sometimes feel a bit out on a limb and as though we don't belong anywhere. A 

name change would help create an inclusive culture and encourage more newbies to 

contribute and get involved more in the community.  
- Should have had the option of Station Town and Hutton Henry Parish Council  
- I have lived in station town for over 52 years and the parish council was always known as 

station town and Hutton Henry parish Council I think the name is of importance to the people 

of station town as leaving station town off the name is all wrong, it’s all changed since Bob 

Lowes retired he was a stalwart of the parish Council.  
- The Pc is for Hutton Henry and station town and therefore the proposed name better 

represents the function of the pc  
- As it represents two villages the name should represent this  
- I would like it to be station town and Hutton Henry pc  
- As we pay council tax element to parish council it should recognise this  
- It is a firm yes to the name change to include Station Town in the name it is the inclusion and 

the recognition that will spur residents on to take pride in the village.  
- I think it should be HHPC with Station Town part of Wingate  
- Think theres more pressing matters to worry about other than worrying what your called, sort 

out the mess in  
people’s gardens and kids ruining the area with stolen bikes and rubbish.  

  

Page 207



Comments Against:  
- Why go to all the expenses of changing notepaper, bank accounts etc, when it not necessary. 

If it’s not broken don't replace it.  
- Why change something that works. A lot of paperwork and hassle for no reason.  
- Costs would outweigh the gain.  
- Changing the name won't make any difference to the work already done by the parish council 

which is what counts.  
- Money involved would be better spent  
- Not worth the money it would cost, rather the money was invested into the village’s facilities or 

community.  
- Waste of taxpayers’ money   
- council should be split into two standalone PCs  

 

 

Page 208


	Agenda
	1 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2022
	7 Report from the Cabinet
	8 2022/23 Treasury Management Half Year Update - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	9 Director of Public Health Annual Report - Report of Director of Public Health
	DPH Annual report - Annual report
	DPH Annual report - presentation

	10 Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Licensing Policy - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	App 2 Revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026_
	Appendix 3 Consultation to trade letter - Taxi policy - 2022
	Appendix 4 Taxi Policy Consultation responses
	Appendix 5  Equality and diversity impact screening assessment

	11 Creation of the Head of Corporate Affairs - Report of Corporate Direcor of Resources
	12 Request to Change Name of Parish Council Hutton Henry - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services

